
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Wednesday, 29 June 2022 
 
 

CABINET 
will meet on 

Thursday, 7 July 2022 
beginning at 

6:30 pm 
in the 

Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 
 
TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair) 
 Councillor Ian Corben (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Paul Bicknell 
Councillor Tonia Craig 
Councillor Tim Groves 
 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
 
 

 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Public Participation  
 
You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following email 
address: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
12pm on Wednesday 6 July 2022. 
 
Please let us know if you wish to attend the meeting in person so that we can 
manage numbers.  We are still encouraging all those in attendance to take a 
lateral flow test before attending the meeting.  PLEASE DO NOT ATTEND IF 
YOU HAVE ANY COVID-19 SYMPTOMS. 
 

4.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 May 2022. 
 

5.   Recommendations from Committees  
 

6.   Motion - Cost of Living Crisis (To Follow) 
 

7.   DEFRA 21-22 Air Quality Grant Scheme Award (Pages 13 - 26) 
 

8.   Phosphate Mitigation Strategy (Pages 27 - 38) 
 

9.   Response to Hampshire County Council consultation on Passenger Transport 
and Concessionary Travel (Pages 39 - 60) 
 

10.   Response to Hampshire County Council's Local Transport Plan 4 Consultation 
(Pages 61 - 72) 
 

11.   Corporate Complaints Policy (Pages 73 - 92) 
 

12.   Councillors Allowances 2021/22 - Actual Amounts Paid (Pages 93 - 98) 
 

13.   Corporate Performance and Financial Monitoring (Pages 99 - 182) 
 

14.   Exempt Business  
 
To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 in respect of the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it 
is/they are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
  
The Schedule 12A categories have been amended and are now subject to the 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk


 

public interest test, in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  This 
came into effect on 1 March 2006. 
  
It is considered that the following items are exempt from disclosure and that the 
public interest in not disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

 EXEMPT ITEM(S)  
 

15.   Post Office Redevelopment (Pages 183 - 192) 
 

16.   Property Transactions (Pages 193 - 212) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 15 September 2022 at 6:30 pm 

In the Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

CABINET 
 

Tuesday, 24 May 2022  (6:00 pm – 6:49 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Corben, Bicknell, Craig, Groves, 
Kyrle and Pretty 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Gomer, Bourne and Duguid (Hiltingbury) 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION) 
 

101. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEE 
 
There were no recommendations from Committees. 
 

102. SPORTS AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES STRATEGY 
 
Issue 
 
The Council has been reviewing and developing a new Sports and Active 
Lifestyles Strategy as the current strategy ran from 2016 – 2020 and is 
therefore out of date (Paper 6). 
 
Consideration 
 
The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022-2026 sets out the plan for 
sport and active lifestyles provision in Eastleigh Borough and aligns with 
other regional and national strategies, such as Sport England’s strategy 
‘Uniting the Movement’. Increasing participation levels in sport and 
physical activity, and in turn tackling health inequalities, is an absolute 
priority for Eastleigh Borough, and ensuring that the Council takes a 
targeted approach and focus efforts in these areas is essential to success. 
This strategy reflects the local and national agenda for sport and physical 
activity provision, ensuring that planning is evidence driven so that local 
issues and opportunities can be addressed and sustained. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approves the Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022 
– 2026 at Appendix 1. 
 
[NOTE: Councillor Craig thanked the staff for their hard work throughout 
the pandemic in supporting the public with exercise and their wellbeing.] 

5

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

 

 
103. JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

 
Issue 
 
The legislative and budgetary environment has changed 
significantly for all partnership authorities within Hampshire since 
the 2012 JMWMS was last refreshed.  To consolidate an agreed 
path for service consistency and best value in waste service 
delivery for the County as a whole, Project Integra (PI) has 
updated the JMWMS.  This updated JMWMS will be reviewed by 
the partnership every three years (Paper 7). 
 
Consideration 
 
The updated JMWMS is based upon the principles of the waste 
management hierarchy, which dictates that waste prevention is the most 
desirable outcome followed by reducing, reusing, and then recycling 
resources before the worst-case option of disposal. The JMWMS also 
aims to deliver engagement, education and raise awareness of waste 
management within the community to drive material up the waste 
hierarchy. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approves the revised Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy (JMWMS) and that concerns on delivery and 
finance would be fed back to Hampshire County Council. 
 

104. DISCRETIONARY HOUSING PAYMENT POLICY 2022/23 
 
Issue 
 
Each year the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) makes grants 
available to local authorities for Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) 
purposes and a report is taken to Cabinet with an updated DHP policy to 
reflect the new funding allocation (Paper 8).  
 
Consideration 
 
The main objective of the DHP policy is the prevention of homelessness 
and to sustain tenancies.  Local authorities have the discretion to 
completely disregard war-pension related incomes when calculating 
entitlement to Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

6



3 
 

 

(1) Approves the attached Discretionary Housing Payment policy 
at Appendix 1; and 
 

(2) Continues to disregard all income related to War Pensions 
when calculating entitlement to Housing Benefit/Council Tax 
Support. 

 
105. WALKING AND CYCLING STRATEGY 2022-2030 

 
Issue 
 
The draft Walking and Cycling Strategy for Eastleigh Borough Council is 
presented for public consultation following comments received from the 
Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel on 15 July 2021 (Paper 8a). 
 
Consideration 
 
The strategy highlights the key issues for walking and cycling and 
identifies a range of actions that the Council is taking to address these and 
to encourage higher levels of active travel in the Borough.  The outcomes 
of the public consultation and an updated Walking and Cycling Strategy 
document will be reported to Cabinet at a future meeting for adoption. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approves the draft Walking and Cycling Strategy to go 
out to public consultation for six weeks, with the amended final 
document to be brought back to Cabinet for adoption after the 
consultation period. 
 

106. GREEN ENERGY DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 
 
Issue 
 
This report seeks approval to deliver an ambitious programme of green 
energy projects on Council-owned land in support of the Council’s Climate 
and Environmental Emergency Action Plan and the One Horton Heath 
Development Brief (Paper 9).  
 
Consideration 
 
The purpose of this programme of activity is to address Green Borough 
objectives whilst futureproofing the energy infrastructure required in 
support of planned housing growth and employment space. Specifically, 
the Council’s Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan states 
that the Council will investigate business cases for additional solar PV 
(photovoltaic) installation on its estate including large-scale solar farms. 
 
RESOLVED –  

7



4 
 

 

 
That Cabinet: 
 
(1) Approves an additional budget of development at a cost of 

£20,336,110, to a full capital cost of £22,490,110, financed by 
borrowing funded by ongoing revenue income, to enable the 
construction, installation, and ongoing management of ground 
mounted solar panels on land owned by the Council;   
 

(2) Approves the allocation of 5% income (approximately £80,000 
pa) from the Solar Farm business case to be earmarked for 
green community initiatives funded from the income generated 
by the sale of power; 
 

(3) Approves additional budget of £4,585,734 financed by 
borrowing funded by the ongoing revenue, to enable the 
installation, operation, and ongoing management (required 
over the life of the asset) at a full capital cost of £11,695,734 of 
a private wire power network to distribute green power from 
Council-owned solar parks to the One Horton Heath 
development; 

(4) Approves additional budget of £11,544,641 financed by grant 
(recommendation 6), to enable the installation, operation, and 
ongoing management at a full capital cost of £29,434,641 of a 
Green Heat Network to distribute Heat to the One Horton Heath 
Development;  

(5) Approves submission of a grant funding bid for Green Heat 
Network Funding to support delivery of the Green Heat 
Network (recommendation 5) including approving funding of 
£30,000 funded from the Housing Reserve, for specialist input 
to support the bid and delegate approval of the final bid to the 
Leader and Chief Financial Officer; 

(6) Approves £50,000 funded from the Housing Reserve for the 

continued investigation of other sources of renewable ‘green’ 

heat to charge the ambient temperature water loops for future 

phases of the private heat network at One Horton Heath; and 

(7) Delegates authority to complete the terms of the actions 
recommended above within the approved business case and 
subject to due diligence to the Chief Financial Officer in 
conjunction with the Leader. 

 
[NOTE: Councillor Parker-Jones submitted written questions on this item 
which had received a written response and would be circulated to Cabinet 
Members following the meeting.] 

8



5 
 

 

 
107. APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 

 
Issue 
 
In addition to attending Council meetings and other constituency work, 
Councillors and some staff are required to sit as representatives of the 
Council on other organisations and agencies known as Outside Bodies. An 
Outside Body is an organisation that has a separate governance structure 
to that of the Council. (Paper 10) 
 
Consideration 
 
The Council appoints elected members, and in some instances staff, to 
represent it on a range of Outside Bodies at a national and local level. 
Such appointments ensure that the Council’s and residents’ interests are 
represented within key agencies. The Council recognises the value 
outside organisations bring to the wider community and in the 
achievement of Council’s corporate priorities. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(1) The Cabinet Member with the relevant portfolio (in brackets) be  
appointed to the following organisations: 

 
a.   Age Concern Hampshire (Social Policy) 
b.   Citizens Advice Bureau (Social Policy) 
c.   Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership Steering Group 

(with the Chair of the Licensing Committee) (Health) 
d.   Police and Crime Panel (Health) (Deputy: Cllr Garton) 
e.   Project Integra Strategic Board (Environment) 
f.    Relate Solent (Social Policy) 
g.   Relate Winchester and District (Social Policy) 
h.   Eastleigh Business Improvement District (Economy) 

 
(2) The Leader be appointed to the following organisations: 

 

a) Hampshire and Isle of Wight Local Government 
Association (with the Deputy Leader; Deputies: any of the 
other Cabinet Members) 

b) Local Government Association 
c) South East Employers (Deputy: Deputy Leader) 
d) Partnership for South Hampshire Joint Committee (Deputy: 
Deputy Leader) 

 
(3) The Chairs of both Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel and 

Audit and Resources Committee be appointed to the following 
organisation: 

9



6 
 

 

 
a. South East Employers Local Democracy and Accountability 
Network; 

 
(4) Appointments be made to the following organisations, details 

of which are contained in Appendix 1 to the report: 

 
a. Fairtrade in Eastleigh Borough Campaign 
b. Partnership for South Hampshire Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 
c. Queen Elizabeth ll Silver Jubilee Activities Centre 
d. Road Safety Council 
e. Eastleigh College 
 

(5) That appointments to organisations owned either wholly or in 
part by the Council be made as set-out in Appendix 1 to the 
report; and 
 

(6) That the Leader of the Council be authorised to make any 
changes to the above appointments should any representative 
request a change to their appointment. 
 

 
 

108. APPOINTMENTS TO THE PROCUREMENT EXECUTIVE GROUP (PEG) 
FOR 2022/23 
 
Issue 
 
To make an appointment to the Procurement Executive Group for the 
2022/23 year. 
 
Considerations 
 
Cabinet is asked to make an appointment to the Procurement Executive 
Group for 2022/23.  
 
RESOLVED – 
 
That Councillors Pretty and Corben be appointed to the Procurement 
Executive Group for 2022/23. 
 

109. APPOINTMENTS TO THE STRATEGIC RISK MANAGEMENT GROUP 
(SRMG) FOR 2022/23 
 
Issue 
 

10



7 
 

 

To make an appointment to the Strategic Risk Management Group for the 
2022/23 year. 
 
Considerations 
 
Cabinet is asked to make an appointment to the Strategic Risk 
Management Group for 2022/23.  
 
RESOLVED – 
 
That Cllr Pretty be appointed to the Strategic Risk Management 
Group for 2022/23. 
 

110. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME SCHEME(S) APPROVAL 
 
Issue 
 
To consider a CIP Scheme (paper 13).  
 
Consideration 
 
The report set out matters relating to a CIP scheme (paper 13).  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approves: 
 
(1) Expenditure of £35,000 on improvements at Hiltingbury Lakes, 

to be financed through New Homes Bonus; and 

(2) Expenditure of £75,000 on improvements at Flexford Nature 
Reserve, to be financed through New Homes Bonus. 

 
111. EXEMPT BUSINESS 

 
RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That, in pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 

Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items of business on the grounds that they 
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act; and 

 
(2) That, in pursuance of the public interest test, the public 

interest in disclosing the information contained in the following 
item of business was outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption. 

11



8 
 

 

 
112. PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Issue 
 
To consider a property transaction (Paper 15)  
 
Consideration 
 
The report sets out a number of matters relating to a property transaction. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

113. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

114. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 April 2022 be agreed as a 
correct record. 
 
Councillor Craig wished to thank David Airey, who stepped down at the 
last election, for his contribution as a Cabinet Member. 
 

115. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 

12



CABINET  

Thursday, 7 July 2022  

DEFRA 21-22 AIR QUALITY GRANT SCHEME AWARD 

Report of the Senior Pollution Control Officer (Environment) 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet approve the use of the DEFRA Air Quality Grant 
fund of £132,932 
 

Summary 
 
Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) has a statutory duty to monitor air quality and 
produce an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) for the four declared Air Quality Management 
Areas (AQMAs) across the Borough. The Council’s AQAP 2020-2025 was adopted in 
February 2020. 

This grant funded project will help deliver the AQAPs aspiration to reduce the exposure of 
people in the Borough to poor air quality 

Statutory Powers 
 
Environment Act 1995 Part IV Section 83  

EU Directive 2008/50/EC, transposed into The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 in 
the UK 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Delivery of the DEFRA air quality grant funded project will have positive 
implications for many of the Council’s Corporate objectives across Health and 
Wellbeing and the Environment including ‘Excellent environment for all’ and 
‘Enabling healthier lifestyles’ 

Introduction 

2. Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) must be declared where pollutant 
concentrations are found to be at risk of exceeding national objective levels 
set by the Government. Once declared, AQMAs must have an associated Air 
Quality Action Plan (AQAP) which contains measures aiming to bring levels of 
air pollution under the objective values. 

13

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

3. There are currently four AQMAs within Eastleigh Borough which, following 
Cabinet approval in February 2020, were incorporated into a single, 
consolidated Borough wide AQAP. 

4. The AQAP is aimed at improving air quality in the time period 2020 – 2025 
and outlines how the Council plans to tackle air quality issues within its 
control. To achieve this, the document contains a range of actions which 
include a mixture of funded projects, longer term aspirations and schemes 
that require commitment and joint working with other public and private sector 
organisations. 

DEFRA Air Quality Grant Project 

5. In March 2022 the Council was awarded £132,932 from DEFRA towards a 
project aimed at improving knowledge and information on air quality issues to 
influence behaviour changes that will result in a reduced exposure to air 
pollution. 

6. This grant funded project will help deliver the AQAP aspiration to reduce the 
exposure of people in the Borough to poor air quality. 

7. Specifically, the project will aim to increase the number of people making 
everyday choices which reduce their personal exposure to air pollution and 
ultimately reduce the number of private vehicles on the road by encouraging 
and facilitating active travel options. This will result in:  

 Improved public health and reduced health burdens from NO2 
exposure;  

 Reduced emissions from private car use; and 

 Contribution towards reducing NO2 concentrations to levels below the 
national objective. 

8. The project will be delivered in conjunction with an external partner and will 
combine direct engagement with six local schools and two wider 
communications campaigns in three phases: 

(a) A communications campaign at project launch aiming to provide 
information on how people can reduce their personal exposure. This 
will deliver key messages in a ‘myth-busting’ format using social media 
content and targeted advertising. 

(b) Air quality projects run in six schools for ten months over the 2022-23 
academic year, to include focussed lessons linked to the national 
curriculum; pupil-led campaigns and events; use of monitoring and 
mapping clean air routes and promotion of active travel. 

(c) A follow-up campaign towards the scheme end will build on the original 
launch and the subsequent school projects. Based around active 
travel, it will use the materials and messages developed throughout the 

14



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

school’s engagement programme and include a targeted leaflet 
mailout, advertising in public spaces and a novel communication 
technique such as ‘reverse graffiti’ to attract attention. 

 

Financial Implications 

9. The project will be delivered with the support of the grant fund award of 
£132,932 from DEFRA and further match funding of £15,540 which will be 
contributed by the Council through existing officer time and provision of 
required match funding from existing budgets. 

10. A breakdown of the project budget is provided in Appendix 1. 

Risk Assessment 

11. The grant funded project will help achieve the AQAPs aspiration to reduce the 
exposure of people in the Borough to poor air quality. Whilst this is a long-
term aspiration, should this funding not be approved, such action would not be 
able to be undertaken within current resources at this time. 

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

12. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as it relates to 
addressing an issue that, although it has an impact on all residents, can 
disproportionately affect the most vulnerable in society such as children, 
people with health issues or those living in closer proximity to pollution 
sources.  

13. The Equality Impact Assessment undertaken for the approval of the AQMP in 
February 2020 remains relevant for this decision as the funded project will 
help to deliver the AQAPs aspiration to reduce the exposure of people in the 
Borough to poor air quality. The Equality Impact Assessment is provided in 
Appendix 2. 

14. In summary the aim of the AQAP, and this funded project, is to improve air 
quality across the Borough. This will benefit everyone but particularly those 
groups which air pollution has the biggest impact on, for example children, 
which this funded project will accelerate work with. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

15. The AQAP, and this funded project, in most instances supports the work in the 
Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Action Plan and many 
actions are relevant to both areas of work. Poor air quality also has significant 
impact on the local environment and public health and in many cases air 
quality improvements are positive for climate change. 

15



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

16. The AQAP and this funded project aim to improve air quality across the 
Borough.  
 

Conclusion 

17. The grant funded project aligns with the Councils AQAP aspiration to reduce 
the exposure of people in the Borough, specifically children, to poor air quality. 

18. Approval of the funding will allow for project to proceed which will further the 
Council’s aspirations in relation to improving air quality. 

NEIL SCOTT 
SENIOR POLLUTION CONTROL OFFICER 

 
Date: 31 May 2022 
Contact Officer: Neil Scott  
Tel No: Ext 8302 
e-mail: neil.scott@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: Appendix One – Project Budget Breakdown 

Appendix Two – Equality Impact Assessment 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 Background Papers - Air Quality Action Plan, Report to Cabinet, 18 February 
2020. 

 

16



Appendix 1 – Project Budget Breakdown 

Activity Cost Notes Number 
Total Cost – DEFRA Grant Total Cost – EBC Match Funding 

Capital Revenue Capital Revenue 

EBC COMMUNICATIONS TEAM  

Leaflet Mailout 5300 6500 addresses  1 - 5300 - - 

Targeted Social Media Advertising 1000  1 - 1000 - - 

Bus Shelter Advertising 2300 4 weeks at 3 sites 1 - 2300 - - 

Borough News Article 400 Per half page advert 2 - 800 - - 

Reverse Graffiti Stencil 50 Per stencil 2 - 100 - - 

Graffiti Machine & Operative 37.5 Per hour, 4 hour minimum 8 - 300 - - 

Communications Officer 31 10 days at grade 8 hourly rate 70 - - - 2170 

Design Work 23 10 days at grade 5 hourly rate 70 - - - 1610 

EBC POLLUTION CONTROL TEAM  

DEFRA Quarterly Reports 28 1 day per quarter at grade 7 hourly rate 28 - - - 784 

DEFRA Final Report 28 2 days at grade 7 hourly rate 14 - - - 392 

Project Co-ordination / Progress 
Meetings 

28 
4 hours per month at grade 7 hourly rate 

48 - - - 1344 

 35 2 hours per month at grade 10 hourly rate 24 - - - 840 

SCHOOLS ENGAGEMENT PROGRAMME  

External Officer 280 Per day 67 - 22512 - - 

Project Monitoring 
3020 

Includes hands up surveys, summary of 
findings and report 

1 - 3624 - - 

Monitoring Equipment: Diffusion Tubes 20 Per diffusion tube, including analysis 18 432 - - - 

Monitoring Equipment: Hand Held 200 Per monitor 6 1440    

Event Delivery 
1050 

Includes competition prizes and 
engagement incentives 

1 - 1260 - - 

Printing 
300 

Leaflets, letters & other ad hoc printing 
costs 

1 - 300 - - 

Electric Bike 1400 Sustrans officer travel 1 1680 - - - 

SUPPORTING INFRASTRUCTURE & FACILITIES  

Cycle Storage Facility 30000 Capacity approx.. 120 cycles 1 36000 - - - 

Small Bike Shelter 5000 Capacity approx. 10 cycles 9 48000 - 6000 - 

Individual Bike Stand 80  25 - - 2400 - 

Active Travel Route Marking 163 Per pre-formed road marking 40 7824 - - - 

   TOTALS 95476 37456 8400 7140 

   GRANT 
TOTAL 

132932 15540 

   PROJECT 
TOTAL 

148472 

17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)  
 

Title of EqIA: DEFRA 21-22 Air Quality Grant Scheme Award 

 

Brief description 

of the Proposal: 

Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) has a statutory duty to 

produce an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) and monitor air quality 

within the four declared Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs).  

Cabinet approved the AQAP in February 2020 which aims to improve 

air quality across the Borough from 2020 to 2025. 

As part of the AQAP, this funded project will help to improve knowledge 

and information across certain groups on air quality issues to influence 

behaviour changes that will result in a reduced exposure to air 

pollution. 

 

Assessment: 

The aim of the funded project, as is also the case for the AQAP, is to improve air quality 

across the Borough.  

This will benefit everyone but particularly those groups which air pollution has the biggest 

impact on, for example children, which this funded project will accelerate work with. 

For all of categories below please consider: 
 

1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination? 
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?  
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 
 

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people 

with protected characteristics.  

19



 

Age: Children and older people are both particularly susceptible to 

the effects of air pollution.  

In early life exposure can affect lung function and growth; for 

older people it can increase the risk of heart problems and 

stroke.  

The AQAP, and this funded project, aim to improve air quality 

across the Borough, with a focus on AQMAs which have been 

declared on the basis of public exposure.  

Improvements will reduce exposure for everyone, but the 

positive effects will be particularly significant for age groups 

vulnerable to air pollution, contributing to reducing inequality. 

 

Disability: People with existing health conditions are particularly 

susceptible to the effects of air pollution.  

Exposure to poor air quality can exacerbate symptoms of 

asthma and cardiovascular disease. It also increases the risk of 

heart problems and stroke for those with existing 

cardiovascular and respiratory conditions.  

The AQAP, and this funded project, aim to improve air quality 

across the Borough, with a focus on AQMAs which have been 

declared on the basis of public exposure.  

Improvements will reduce exposure for everyone, but the 

positive effects will be particularly significant for those with 

health conditions which make them vulnerable to air pollution, 

contributing to reducing inequality. 

 

Gender: The Strategy is unlikely to have a specific impact on this 

characteristic group.  

 

20



Gender reassignment: The Strategy is unlikely to have a specific impact on this 

characteristic group.  

 

  

21



Pregnancy and 

Maternity: 

Exposure to poor air quality can affect a foetus within the first 

few weeks, with evidence emerging for resulting low birth 

weights and premature birth.  

Therefore, pregnant women are also particularly susceptible to 

air pollution.  

As with other vulnerable groups, the aim of the AQAP, and this 

funded project, is to improve air quality will have positive 

effects particularly significant for them, contributing to reducing 

inequality. 

 

Race: The Strategy is unlikely to have a specific impact on this 

characteristic group. 

 

Religion or belief: The Strategy is unlikely to have a specific impact on this 

characteristic group.  

 

Sexual Orientation: The Strategy is unlikely to have a specific impact on this 

characteristic group.  

 

Marriage and civil 

partnership: 

The Strategy is unlikely to have a specific impact on this 

characteristic group.  

 

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on 

people experiencing social deprivation. 

 

Social deprivation: Although air pollution can be harmful to everyone, people who 

live in more polluted areas are more affected.  

This tends to include low-income communities as they are 

22



more likely to live in areas with poorer air quality due to lower 

value properties often being located in more congested areas.  

They are also more likely to fit other criteria which indicate 

poorer health in general, making them more susceptible. 

 

What engagement or 

consultation has been 

carried out? 

Extensive consolation was undertaken during the development 

of the AQAP which can be seen here. 

This remains relevant for the air quality grant scheme award as 

it also aims to improve air quality across the Borough from 

2020 to 2025, aligning with the AQAP. 

Internal consultation was also undertaken in the submission of 

a bid with Council colleagues in Finance, Legal, Pollution 

Control and Sustainable Transport. 

What could reduce 

any adverse impact on 

these groups? 

Although poor air quality has an effect on everyone, at all 

stages of life, the scale of this depends on factors such as the 

level of exposure and susceptibility to the health effects.  

The aim of the AQAP, and this funded project, is to improve air 

quality across the Borough, this will benefit everyone but 

particularly those groups who are most affected by poor air 

quality.  

In this way, the AQAP, and this funded project, will work to 

reduce inequality and adverse impacts on vulnerable groups 

but to achieve this as effectively as possible the AQAP also 

contains actions targeted at these vulnerable groups.  

 

 

Action Plan  
 
The EQiA Action Plan developed for the AQAP is identified below.  
 
Relevant areas have been highlighted for which this funded project will help to address. 
 

23

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50027457/Air%20Quality%20-%20Appendix3EqIA.pdf


Activity  Outcome Timeframe Person responsible 

Engagement and 

targeted awareness 

raising with 

vulnerable age 

groups 

Projects and 

campaigns in 

schools raise 

awareness and 

result in behaviour 

changes to benefit 

children. Integration 

of air quality 

messages into 

Health & Wellbeing 

engagement 

campaigns raises 

awareness in older 

people 

Annual targets for 

schools’ projects are 

held within the 

AQAP 

Campaigns 

scheduled 

throughout AQAP 

period 2020 – 2025 

Pollution Control 

Officer  

Health and 

Wellbeing Team  

Hampshire County 

Council Travel 

Planners 

Engagement and 

targeted awareness 

raising with people 

with existing health 

conditions 

Integration of air 

quality messages 

into Health & 

Wellbeing 

engagement 

campaigns raises 

awareness in people 

with existing health 

conditions. Work 

with local health 

professionals and 

health awareness 

groups to raise 

awareness and 

encourage 

behaviour changes 

to benefit people 

with existing health 

conditions 

Throughout AQAP 

implementation 2020 

– 2025. 

Pollution Control 

Officer 

Health and 

Wellbeing Team 

Target actions to 

benefit those 

experiencing social 

deprivation 

Actions targeted at 

areas with poorest 

air quality and most 

congestion, which 

provides maximum 

Throughout AQAP 

implementation 2020 

– 2025 

Community 

Pollution Control 

Officer 

24



benefit to those 

people living in 

these areas. 

Monitoring is 

focussed on these 

areas and additional 

monitoring carried 

out at locations of 

community concern. 

Achieved through 

AQAP measures as 

a whole, which are 

focussed on 

designated Air 

Quality Management 

Areas 

monitoring projects 

scheduled for 2020 

and 2021 

Where appropriate, 

carry out further 

consultation and 

EqIAs for individual 

actions to inform 

best practice for 

their implementation 

Ensuring continuing 

consideration for 

vulnerable groups 

throughout the 

AQAP period 

As required during 

the implementation 

of the AQAP 2020 – 

2025 

The Environment 

Team 

 

Lead Officer: Mike Culver, Senior Strategy Development Specialist 

(Environment) 

Manager: Diccon Bright, Strategic Planning Manager 

 

Corporate Director: Natalie Wigman [sign-off tbc] 

 

Date completed: 02/03/22 

 

 

 

25



 

26



CABINET  

Thursday, 7 July 2022  

PHOSPHATE MITIGATION STRATEGY 

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that Cabinet approves:  
 
(1) an Interim Phosphate Mitigation Strategy allowing developers to purchase 

credits at a cost of £4,500 + VAT per dwelling to address the environmental 
impacts of phosphates arising from new development within, and draining 
into Wastewater Treatment Works in, the River Itchen Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) catchment area.  
 

(2) Capital Expenditure of up to £200,000 for a feasibility study, to be funded from 
revenue income from the sale of Phosphate Credits, for the creation of new 
wetlands on Council-owned land as a longer-term strategy, subject to 
undertaking monitoring, detailed design and the development of a business 
case. 

 

Summary 
 
The Council has an established nutrient neutrality mitigation scheme to address the impact 
of nitrates generated from the wastewater from new housing development and 
development that generates overnight accommodation in the Solent catchment. Following 
a review of the evidence, Natural England launched new guidance in March 2022 advising 
that mitigation is now also required to address the impact of phosphates in the River Itchen 
catchment area. The Habitats Regulations place the responsibility on the Council as 
Competent Authority to ensure when permitting new residential development and 
development that provides for overnight accommodation, that there is no net increase in 
phosphates reaching the internationally designated River Itchen ensuring phosphate 
neutrality is maintained. If the Council as the Competent Body cannot ensure phosphate 
(and nitrate) neutrality, the proposed development should not be permitted as it would be a 
breach of Regulation 63 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) 2019 (as amended). Broadly, qualifying development is within the 
catchment that extends approximately from West End / Hedge End north to include the 
northern part of the borough.     

A proposed Interim Phosphate Mitigation Strategy has been developed to avoid “loading” 
additional phosphates into the river and to enable planning permissions to be granted. The 

27

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

interim strategy will be reviewed in 6 months and will be in place until a longer term 
solution is developed. The Interim Strategy has three main strands: 

• on-site mitigation using Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS); 

• sale of phosphate credits currently available from taking land out of agricultural use, 

using the Council’s strategic land acquisitions; 

• future sale of credits from wetland creation. A feasibility study is proposed to 

consider the creation of new wetlands to inform a longer term solution.  

 

Statutory Powers 
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 as amended by the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The decision reported in this agenda item supports the objectives relating to a 
Green Borough and Prosperous Place (including Housing) in the Corporate 
Plan 2015-2025 and the delivery of housing in the Adopted Local Plan 2016-
2036. It also supports the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency 
Action Plan and will have a significant positive impact on the environment. 

Introduction 

2. Since 2020 the Council has had a strategy in place to address the impacts of 
nitrates arising from new development on the waterways and coastlines of the 
Solent, which are protected for their internationally important ecology - 
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-building/nutrient-neutrality-offset-
scheme. On 16 March 2022 Natural England contacted local authorities 
across the country to provide updated guidance following further work 
evaluating the condition of protected waterways. This work identified more 
waterways in unfavourable condition that are adversely impacted by excess 
nutrients and raised the additional issue of phosphates for some waterways. 

3. The updated advice from Natural England identified excessive levels of 
phosphates in the River Itchen Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The River 
Itchen is a chalk river that supports a diverse ecology and is designated as a 
SAC for its aquatic flora and associated fauna species under the EU Habitats 
Directive (now transposed to UK law as The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019). 

4. Increased nutrients can cause eutrophication leading to algal blooms. This 
can disrupt the function of the ecosystem and cause major changes in the 
aquatic community. 

28

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-building/nutrient-neutrality-offset-scheme
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-building/nutrient-neutrality-offset-scheme


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

5. The main sources of phosphates in rivers are sewage and losses from 
agricultural land (animal waste, fertilisers). This is likely to be exacerbated by 
climate change with lower summer river flows and increased run off from 
agricultural land during wetter winters. Furthermore, wastewater associated 
with new development also results in “phosphate loading” increasing the level 
of phosphates within the River Itchen. As the River Itchen is classified in an 
‘unfavourable’ condition with excess phosphates, any increase in phosphates 
is considered to have a significant effect. 

Impact on development in Eastleigh 

6. As a result of the updated guidance, new residential development, and other 
development involving overnight accommodation such as care homes and 
hotels, proposed in the Itchen catchment area are required to ensure 
phosphate neutrality which will generally require some degree of mitigation for 
phosphates generated. This applies to new “qualifying” development within 
the catchment area itself which includes parts of Eastleigh, Bishopstoke and 
Fair Oak and extends out to Horton Heath and West End, see map in 
Appendix A. It also applies to development in Chandler’s Ford and Eastleigh 
served by the Chickenhall Wastewater Treatment Works which discharges 
into the River Itchen. 

7. Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2019 (as 
amended), where there is a potential for development proposals to have a 
significant effect on SAC sites, an Appropriate Assessment is required. 
Planning permission may only be given where the Appropriate Assessment 
demonstrates no adverse impacts on the integrity of SAC sites with regards to 
phosphates with no reasonable scientific doubt remaining. This takes into 
account mitigation measures to avoid or reduce any harmful effects.  

8. Natural England has updated the nutrient neutrality calculator tool, adding a 
phosphate calculator, which enables developers to assess the amount of 
nutrients produced from their specific development and therefore the 
mitigation required to achieve phosphate, as well as nitrate, neutrality. The 
latest version of the calculator is more complicated and requires more detailed 
technical information. This may lead to delays as developers work through the 
updated calculator. (Small and self-builders in particular will find such 
technical calculations extremely challenging.) Planning permissions cannot be 
issued until the Council (as Competent Authority) is satisfied that schemes are 
phosphate neutral. Natural England is already maintaining objections to 
development of any scale that is not demonstrating phosphate neutrality. 

Impact on other Local Authorities  

9. The need for phosphate neutrality will also apply to development in parts of 
Winchester, East Hampshire and Basingstoke and Deane within the River 
Itchen SAC catchment., as shown in Appendix A. The affected authorities are 
working together with the Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) Strategic 
Environmental Planning Officer to co-ordinate work and determine the extent 
of the issue and mitigation required. Although parts of Southampton are within 
the River Itchen SAC catchment area, phosphate neutrality does not impact 

29



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

development there as it is a tidal river estuary along most of its course within 
the city. 

10. Phosphate credits are more difficult to create and the criteria for phosphate 
mitigation are more onerous than nitrates. Unlike the mitigation required for 
nitrates, Natural England has confirmed that phosphate mitigation must be 
delivered at or above the point of impact on the Itchen. This would exclude the 
sale of phosphate credits to offset the impact of development in the 
Winchester, East Hampshire and Basingstoke and Deane local authority 
areas.  

Phosphate mitigation 

11. Development should be designed to utilise all the opportunities for on-site 
mitigation of phosphates through the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) before off-site measures are considered. This may require schemes 
already submitted to be redesigned to ensure SuDS schemes are designed to 
maximise the removal of phosphates.   

12. If a development cannot demonstrate appropriate mitigation for all the impact 
on-site, the Interim Strategy will provide an option to purchase phosphate 
credits generated from land that the Council owns and has already set aside 
for nitrate mitigation in perpetuity. Phosphate and nitrate credits arise from this 
land due to taking it out of agricultural use, thereby creating a net reduction in 
nutrients arising from the land. The principal of layering of offsetting different 
ecological impacts from the same land is acceptable to Natural England.  

13. The principle of using credits to provide mitigation is well established and the 
process of purchasing phosphate credits will follow the same approach as 
Council’s nitrate mitigation scheme.  

14. Table 1 below identifies Phosphate credits immediately available across the 
Council’s strategic land holding. These sites (labelled in the Map column in 
the table: 21, 22. 28 etc) are marked on map 1 overleaf. 

Table 1 Amount of phosphate credits available on Council land holdings   

 

30



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Map 1 – Sites with phosphates credits (refer to table above for specific sites)  

31



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(Sites coloured green indicate EBC ownership. The blue area indicates the One 
Horton Heath site.) 

15. Evidence reviewed so far about the levels of Phosphate mitigation required 
show a range of 0.07 - 0.14kg/TP/yr per dwelling. This indicates that the 147 
net credits (kg of Phosphate per year) available in Table 1 equates to c.1,500 
dwellings of mitigation, which is estimated to be 2-2.5 years of Housing Land 
Supply (if all development was located within the River Itchen catchment). 

16. To avoid delays in bringing forward the Interim Strategy, the Council has 
derived the credits outlined above from detailed calculations using Natural 
England’s own methodology. This will be subject to review by Natural England 
therefore the exact number of phosphate credits available may change slightly 
once reviewed with Natural England. If any significant issues are raised as a 
result of further discussions with Natural England, the Council will review the 
approach in the Interim Strategy. 

17. The Council is in active dialogue with Natural England concerning the raft of 
environmental mitigation measures now being required of developers in 
Eastleigh borough: nitrates, phosphates and impacts on the New Forest. The 
Council is providing feedback to Natural England and helping to develop 
workable policy approaches, and how to strike the best balance of 
development and environmental protection. The Council will continue to take 
its own view as to how best to strike this balance and bring forward 
reasonable and proportionate approaches. 

Creation of wetlands  

18. Mitigating Phosphates on-site (using SuDS) or creating credits by taking land 
out of agricultural use will not satisfy the projected need over the longer term. 
Wetland creation is known to be a very effective and efficient way to mitigate 
phosphate impacts. Approval is therefore sought for a feasibility study to 
consider the creation of wetlands on Council-owned land within the catchment 
area. Wetlands are complex systems and remove nutrients through natural 
occurring processes as water flows through the wetland. They can be created 
within catchment areas to remove phosphates from surface water or stream 
flow. Alternatively, they can be created next to Wastewater Treatment Works 
(WwTWs) to filter and treat water pollutants discharged from the WwTWs.    

19. Wetlands would be created and maintained in perpetuity. They need to be 
managed and maintained (including replacement of materials from time to 
time) in order to ensure that they continue to work effectively but have the 
potential to be a long term solution to mitigate development within the 
borough.  

20. Proposals to create new wetlands are being considered on three Council 
owned sites including sites next to Chickenhall WwTW and within the One 
Horton Heath site. Before these can be brought forward as potential 
mitigation, further work is required including water quality monitoring, detailed 
design and the development of a business case.  

32



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

21. As the credits currently available meet demand for c.2 years of Housing 
Supply, it is essential that projects to create additional phosphate mitigation 
are progressed as soon as possible so that necessary data collection, detailed 
design, planning permission, procurement and construction work can be 
carried out in a timeframe to allow continuous supply of housing across the 
Borough, including at One Horton Heath. A subregional coordinated 
partnership approach brought forward by PfSH is not expected in the near 
future, as such to avoid housing development stalling in the northern part of 
the borough, an interim Phosphate mitigation strategy is necessary.  

22. Cabinet is asked to approve capital expenditure of up to £200,000 funded 
from the additional revenue generated by the Interim Phosphate Mitigation 
Strategy in order to progress design, feasibility and a business case for 
creation of three wetland projects on Council owned land which deliver further 
nutrient mitigation benefits. This will be informed by the imminent release of 
Natural England wetland design guidance.  

Wastewater Treatment Works 

23. Phosphate impacts can be reduced with improved waste water treatment. 
However this involves expensive and complex improvements at wastewater 
treatment works (e.g. Chickenhall Lane) operated by a private company. 
There are plans for such improvements in phosphorous filtration in 
Chickenhall Lane WwTW in 2025. The reduced impact of development after 
this time is allowed for within the calculations but will not meet the need for 
mitigation. A longer term Strategy will take account of any further 
improvements in Wastewater treatment.  

Financial Implications 

24. The Interim Phosphate credit charging scheme is estimated to generate 
additional gross revenue of £6.75M. This is based on the assumption that 150 
credits delivered on strategic land will provide mitigation for 1,500 dwellings at 
a cost of £4,500 per dwelling. The cost is the same as the interim nitrate 
strategy and also reflects the estimated cost of new Phosphate credits via the 
creation of wetland. This improves the strategic land business case approved 
by Cabinet previously. 

25. The income will be used to fund the ongoing management and maintenance 
of the land and to fund the ongoing borrowing costs of the £200,000 for 
feasibility works.  Any additional revenue income will be reserved.  

26. Proposals for wetland creation will be brought back to Cabinet for a decision 
and will be accompanied by detailed design and a business case. 

Risk Assessment 

27. There is no initial risk with bringing forward credits as this uses land already in 
the Council’s control. This land is already being taken out of agricultural use 
and managed by the Council. 

33



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

28. The risk of not introducing this scheme is that housing delivery could stall 
within parts of the borough as planning application decisions would not be 
issued for developments that are not able to mitigate the impact entirely on-
site.  

29. A longer term risk could arise if the supply of credits is exhausted however the 
creation of new wetlands would have the potential to deliver a large number of 
credits. It would be expected that new development would be designed to 
ensure proposed layouts address the issue on-site where possible through 
SuDS. 

30. The Council is unable to grant planning permission for new developments 
within the River Itchen catchment unless it can be clearly demonstrated that 
they will not increase nutrient loading to the protected area. By granting 
permissions without this Interim Strategy, and with objection from Natural 
England, the Council would run the risk of Judicial Review from third parties. 

31. There is a risk that Natural England will not approve the overall approach of 
the Interim Strategy; this is considered a very low risk given that it is based on 
their methodology and calculations, and will only give rise to a small change in 
the level of credits arising from Council land, rather than a need to change the 
overall approach in the Interim Strategy. Natural England will comment on this 
Interim Strategy by the autumn. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

32. There are no Equalities implications arising from the decision in this report as 
there are no opportunities to address the aims of the Equality Act. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

33. The decision outlined within this report will have a positive impact on the 
environment and climate resilience. It will address the potential impact of 
phosphates on high-quality conservation sites within the region. It provides an 
opportunity for securing further benefits including Biodiversity Net Gain 
schemes incorporating the wetland creation projects with land set aside in 
perpetuity. 

Conclusion 

34. It is recommended that Cabinet approve the introduction of a phosphate credit 
charging scheme. These credits will be available to developers who cannot 
address the full impact of their development on site. The charges will be 
reviewed in 6 months to ensure that they remain appropriate and if Natural 
England raise issues with this approach. If necessary, a further report will 
come back to Cabinet to consider changes in the proposed approach or the 
amount or cost of credits.  

35. It is also recommended that Cabinet approve work to progress a longer term 
strategy to create wetland. This will be put in place before the credits available 
from the interim mitigation strategy are used up. This is subject to further work 

34



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

on the effectiveness of the scheme, detailed design and developing the 
business case during 22/23 and 23/24..     

 

DICCON BRIGHT 
STRATEGIC PLANNING MANAGER 

 
Date: 16 June 2022 
Contact Officer: Dawn Heppell 
Tel No: 02380 683840 
e-mail: dawn.heppell@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: Appendix A – Map of River Itchen SAC catchment area 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 

35



This page is intentionally left blank



Produced by Defra Spatial Data Science
© Defra 2021, reproduced with the permission of Natural England, http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/copyright.
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey licence number 100022021.

European protected sites requiring nutrient neutrality strategic solutions

Southampton

Basingstoke
and Deane

East
Hampshire

Eastleigh

Fareham

Hart

HavantNew Forest

Test Valley

Winchester

Chichester

Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2020

Scale: 1:140,000

Local Authorities

SSSI subject to nutrient neutrality strategy

Nutrient neutrality SSSI catchment

National Parks

Component SSSIs of
River Itchen SAC

37



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Thursday, 7 July 2022  

RESPONSE TO HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S PASSENGER 
TRANSPORT SERVICES AND CONCESSIONARY TRAVEL SCHEME 

CONSULTATION 

Report of the Sustainable Transport Planner  

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that Cabinet agrees the Council’s response to Hampshire 
County Council’s ‘Supported Passenger Transport and Concessionary Travel 
Consultation’ attached at Appendix 1.  

 

Summary 
 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) is consulting residents and other stakeholders on 
options for finding £800,000 of savings to supported passenger transport services and the 
concessionary travel scheme by: 

 making operational changes to supported passenger transport services (including 
supported bus services, Dial-a-Ride, Call & Go, Taxishare and Minibus Group hire 
services); 

 removing some enhancements to the Concessionary Travel Scheme currently 
funded by the County Council; 

 increasing the contributions users pay for some services; and 

 changes to back-office functions (which are not covered by the consultation). 

Statutory Powers 
 
Localism Act 2011 

 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Transport is a cross-cutting issue that underpins all areas of the Corporate 
Plan. Most actions fall within the Tackling Congestion (Green Borough) 
objective, but the actions also deliver against the Council’s Economic 
(Prosperous Place), and Health and Wellbeing (Healthy Communities) 
Corporate objectives. 

39

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Introduction 

2. Currently HCC invests the following into Passenger Transport services: 

 £3.5 million per year on supporting passenger transport services made up of: 

o £2,077,145 for local bus services; 

o £416,952 for Dial a Ride, Call & Go and shopper services; 

o £205,428 for Taxishare Services; 

o £212,174 towards Minibus Group Hire Schemes; 

o with the balance being spent on publications, passenger information, 
infrastructure, maintenance and training. 

 £329,000 per year on discretionary enhancements to the Concessionary 
Travel scheme for Hampshire residents. 

3. In addition to HCC funding, Eastleigh Borough Council invests £203,873 into 
public and community transport services made up of:  

o £67,632 for local bus services; 

o £99,428 for Dial a Ride and shopper services; 

o £25,688 for Taxishare Services; 

o £11,125 towards Minibus Group Hire Schemes. 

4. Some contracts are funded jointly with HCC whilst others are held 
independently with operators. Many of the services that are supported by EBC 
supplement the services funded by HCC, by providing additional journey 
times, in the early morning or evening, or weekend and bank holiday services. 
A summary of the services provided by EBC can be found in appendix 2. A 
map showing all bus services operating within the Borough can be found in 
appendix 3, this map shows both supported and commercial services.   

5. Following the publication of the National Bus Back Better Strategy in 2021 all 
Local Transport Authorities were required to produce a Bus Service 
Improvement Plan (BSIP) setting out a high-level vision for improving local 
bus services and key interventions to deliver it, and to establish an Enhanced 
Partnership, with an Enhanced Partnership Plan containing the detail of how 
these key interventions will be delivered. 

6. In 2021 HCC established the Enhanced Partnership and adopted a new 
Hampshire Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), which set out a plan for 
improving services and infrastructure countywide. The BSIP and associated 
funding bid was submitted to the Department for Transport in late 2021.  

40



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

7. Hampshire’s BSIP was not awarded funding through the Bus Recovery Grant, 
the Department for Transport feedback indicated that the BSIP application 
was not ambitious enough. Therefore the BSIP cannot be delivered as initially 
envisaged. The County Council states that they remain committed to the 
Plan’s aim to develop bus services that provide affordable, attractive, easy to 
use and safe alternatives to the use of private vehicles. 

8. In summer 2021 HCC held a consultation on a proposed plan to achieve 
£80m saving target, of which the Economy, Transport and Environment 
Service is required to find £10.3m of savings. 

9. The HCC passenger transport service has been asked to identify £800,000 of 
savings. To meet this target the County Council has identified back-office 
savings of £150,000 which do not form part of this consultation, and a 
package of measures to achieve the remaining £650,000 saving, which are 
set out below:   

 Deliver services within a reduced budget: 

o To make operational changes to supported passenger transport 
services (including supported bus services, Dial-a-Ride, Call & 
Go, Taxishare and Minibus Group Hire services), which would 
deliver around £455,000 in savings through reduced County 
Council subsidy for these services. 

 Removing some enhancements to the Concessionary Travel Scheme 
currently funded by the County Council, including: 

o To stop providing travel vouchers to disabled people who are 
unable to use a bus service as an alternative to a Disabled 
Person’s Bus Pass, delivering £95,000 in savings; and 

o To remove the use of the Older Person’s Bus Pass and Disabled 
Person’s Bus Pass on Taxishare, Dial-a-Ride and Call & Go 
Services, delivering £44,000 in savings. 

 Increasing the contributions users pay for some services: 

o To introduce a £1 fare for all single Taxishare journeys 
delivering a contribution of between £16,000 and £23,000; 

o To Implement a common fare structure across Dial-a-Ride and 
Call & Go schemes in Hampshire while reducing the subsidy of 
these services, delivering a contribution of between £14,600 and 
£19,950; and  

o To increase the fees charged for replacement of lost and 
damaged bus passes to cover the administration costs from £14 
to £20, delivering a contribution of £16,500.          

41



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

10. HCC are holding a public consultation on these proposed measures which is 
open from Monday 30 May 2022 and closes at 11:59pm on Sunday 24 July 
2022. Further information about the consultation can be found at: 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/consultation/Passenger-transport-
consultation-2022.pdf   HCC will analyse the findings from the consultation 
and will report this data, along with recommended actions to the HCC 
Executive Lead Member for Transport and Environment Strategy in November 
2022. 

Summary of consultation response 

11. The Council’s full proposed consultation response can be found in Appendix 
1, this highlights a number of concerning issues including: 

(a) The impact on the environment  

(b) The impact on air quality 

(c) The impact on health and wellbeing of our residents 

(d) The impact on the local economy 

(e) The impact on older and disabled people and people of an ethic 
minority background. 

Financial Implications 

12. There are no direct financial implications to the Council in relation to this 
report, as the Council will not accept liabilities or costs arising out of HCC 
budget reductions.  

13. The Council has a long history of supporting passenger transport schemes, 
and currently funds a number of services jointly commissioned with HCC in 
addition to contracts held independently. Many of the services that the Council 
commissions directly with operators add value to services supported by HCC 
by providing support outside the core hours that HCC fund.  

14. However, if HCC proceeds with reductions in discretionary service budgets, 
there is a high likelihood that services currently funded by the Council would 
be impacted resulting in cost implications e.g. in providing for a higher volume 
of medical taxi share passengers or service withdrawals leading to 
retendering and contract costs increasing.  

15. Therefore, staff will work with the Cabinet Member for Transport and HCC to 
assess the impact of service changes and identify possible solutions within 
the current public transport budget.  

Risk Assessment 

16. The proposed vision and associated outcomes for travel and transport will 
have an impact on all residents of the Borough and may disproportionately 

42

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/consultation/Passenger-transport-consultation-2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/consultation/Passenger-transport-consultation-2022.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

affect low income household and vulnerable road users if not considered by 
HCC at an early stage in the development of travel and transport policy. 

17. By not submitting a response to the consultation there is a risk that Hampshire 
County Council may decide on a course of action without appreciating the 
risks and local implications for communities. By providing a response to the 
consultation the Council seeks to minimise any harmful impact of HCC budget 
reductions on quality of life of Eastleigh Borough residents. 

18. There is a risk that the Borough Council could be expected to bridge funding 
gaps of transport schemes. 

19. The success of some the Council’s own activities may be reduced in areas 
where they rely on joint working with HCC services. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

20. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
response to a consultation by an external organisation. Therefore, it is 
considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

21. The Council recommends that HCC should undertake a detailed EqIA to 
ensure any impacts on people with protected characteristics are identified, 
minimised, mitigated and managed. Many of the proposed services changes 
will most affect people with protected characteristics, in particular older 
people, people with disabilities and younger people.  

22. The EqIA should also consider the likely impacts on people living in poverty 
and in rural areas of Hampshire. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

23. Proposed reductions in public and community transport services or increased 
costs are likely to result in journeys being replaced by more private travel in 
petrol and diesel cars, leading to increased transport-related carbon 
emissions. 

24. Very significant shifts in travel behaviour are required to achieve the proposed 
outcome of the revised HCC Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) to reduce 
transport-related carbon emissions to net zero (neutrality) by 2050. A 
developing approach to identify savings to supported passenger transport 
services and the concessionary travel scheme are at odds with this policy. 

 

Conclusion 

25. Cabinet is asked to agree the consultation response at Appendix 1. 

43



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

CALI SPARKS 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT PLANNER 

 
Date: 07 July 2022 
Contact Officer: Cali Sparks  
Tel No: 023 8068 8069  
e-mail: cali.sparks@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 – Draft Consultation Response 
 2 – Summary of supported services 
 3 – Eastleigh Borough Bus Route Map 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Background papers - None. 
 

44



2022 Supported Passenger Transport and Concessionary Travel 
Consultation 
 

About your response 
 
Is this a personal response, or are you responding on behalf of an organisation, 

group or business or as a democratically Elected Representative? (Please select one 
option) 

 
 

I am responding as an individual 

X 
I am providing the official response of an organisation, group or business 
 

 
 

I am responding as a democratically Elected Representative of a constituency 
(e.g. as a county, district, borough, parish or town council Member or MP) 

 

Please provide details about the organisation, group or business that you represent: 
The name of the organisation, group or business: 

Eastleigh Borough Council 
 

The postcode of the organisation, group or business: 

SO509YN 

 

Your name: 

Cali Sparks 
 

Your position in the organisation, group or business: 

Sustainable Transport Planner  
 

 
Which of these best describes the function of your organisation, group or business? 
(Please select one option) 

 
 

Charity, voluntary or local community group 

 
 

Local business or business representative (e.g. BID) 

X Local authority (e.g. county, district, parish, town or borough council) 

 
 

Nursery, school, college or place of education 

 
 

Other public sector organisation (e.g. Police, Fire, Health Authority) 

 
 

Other 

For 'other' please specify in the box below: 

 

 
Does your organisation provide or regularly use any of the following services in 

Hampshire? (Please select all that apply) 

 We provide this 

service 

We regularly use 

this service  

No 

 

Call & Go    

Dial-a-Ride X – Funded 
jointly with HCC 

  

Local bus services X – Both funded 
jointly with HCC 

and 

  

45



independently 

Minibus Group Hire X – Funded 
jointly with HCC 

  

Taxishare X – Both funded 
jointly with HCC 

and 
independently 

  

 
If you provide local bus services, are any of these supported by Hampshire County 
Council? (Please select one option) 

X – Some 
jointly 

funded 

Yes  

 

 
No  

 

 
Not applicable 

  

How often does your organisation use the services below in Hampshire? (Please 
select one option per row) 

 Every day 
 

At least 
once per 
week 

 

At least 
once per 
month 

 

Less than 
once per 
month  

 

Never 
 

Call & Go     n/a 

Dial-a-Ride     n/a 

Local bus services     n/a 

Minibus Group Hire     n/a 

Taxishare     n/a 

 
In which areas of Hampshire does your organisation operate? (Please select all that 

apply) 

 Basingstoke and Deane 

 

 Gosport 

 

 Rushmoor 

 

 East Hampshire 

 

 Hart 

 

 Test Valley 

 

X Eastleigh 

 

 Havant 

 

 Winchester 

 

 Fareham 

 

 New Forest 

 

 None of these 

 

 

How we propose funding passenger transport services 
 

This consultation's proposals have been developed with the aim of limiting service reductions 
by introducing and increasing charges to support the transport services that the County 

Council does not need to provide by law. 
 
How do you feel about this principle? (Please select one option) 

X- only at an 
affordable level  

The County Council should charge service users more 
where it is allowed to do so, to help fund passenger 

transport services 
46



 

 
 

The County Council should not charge service users more 

where it is allowed to do so, which may mean more 
reductions to passenger transport services 

 
 
 

Don't know 

 
The County Council is proposing to reduce funding for: 

- supported bus services, and 
- community transport services (such as Call & Go, Dial-a-Ride, Minibus Group Hire, and 

Taxishare services). 
 
This would mean reduced availability, or withdrawal, of some services. As mentioned, costs of 

using these services could also increase. 
 

The County Council is also proposing to reduce discretionary funding for concessionary local 
bus travel, which is explained later in this Response Form. 
 

The County Council is looking at ways to reduce its budget for transport services. 
Where do you think that the County Council should prioritise spending? (Please select 

one option) 

 

 

Prioritise spending on supported bus services 

 

 

Prioritise spending on community transport services 

X 

 

Don't prioritise either of these services over each other 

 

 

Don't know 

 

Possible changes to supported bus and community transport 
services 
 
There are different ways that supported bus services, and community transport services 

(such as Dial-a-Ride, Call & Go, and Taxishares) could be run at a lower cost: 
- They could make fewer stops by only visiting busier areas 

- They could make fewer journeys on the days that they operate 
- They could run on fewer days of the week 

 
This proposal is explained on pages 10-11 of the consultation Information Pack. 
 

Thinking about where supported bus and community transport service routes visit, 
which of these options would you prefer? (Please select one option) 

 
 

To reduce the number of destinations that services visit 

X 
 

To reduce the number of trips that services make 

 
 

Don't know 

 
Thinking about the days and times when supported bus and community transport 
services operate, which of these options would you prefer?(Please select one 

option) 

X 

 

To reduce the number of times per day that a service operates 

 To reduce the number of days per week a service operates 
47



 

 
 

Don’t know 

 
If you would like to explain the reasons for your views, or tell us about the impact 

these possible changes to supported bus and community transport services could 
have on you, then please do so below. (Please do not include any personal details in your 
response) 

 
Possible changes to supported bus and community transport services 

 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) have adopted a target to achieve the reductions in 

carbon emissions required to be carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of climate 
change by 2050. At a time of environmental and climate emergency, Eastleigh Borough 
Council (EBC) considers this target to be unambitious and would support a faster pace of 

change, however, to achieve this target significant changes in travel behaviour are 
required in addition to a shift to zero emission vehicles.  

 
Reductions in bus and community transport services levels, by limiting the number of daily 
trips, the number of trips per week or the number of locations served will make public and 

community transport services less attractive to passengers, which will undoubtedly lead to 
an increased reliance on the private car and in turn increased levels of air pollution and 

congestion on the road network. 
 
In 2020 the average trip length of a bus journey is just over 5 miles and journey time was 

39 mins1, making it less likely that many trips currently made by public transport would 
transfer to an alternative active travel method. There has been little change in these 

figures over last 3 years despite the impact of the pandemic.  
 
A number of routes within the Borough already operate on limited timetables such as the 

X15 operated by Xelabus; this service which operates on a commercial basis between 
Eastleigh and Hedge End, is supported by both HCC and EBC between Hedge End via 

Bursledon and Netley to Hamble. This is the only bus service that provides a north / south 
link between the peninsula and Hedge End. EBC is aware of additional demand for services 
particularly to provide links to local schools within the Botley and Boorley area, proposed 

savings should be considered alongside possible service improvements and services 
supported through developer contributions.  

 
The most common purpose for local bus travel in 2020 was commuting (24%) closely 
followed by shopping (23%), leisure (20%) and education (19%)2. Reducing the number 

of locations served by passenger transport services restricts people’s choice of destination. 
This may limit people’s ability to find or get to work, access education, healthcare, 

libraries, banking, post offices and other services and facilities. 
 

Limiting destinations will require people to make trips in multiple stages, connecting with 
other transport services in order to make longer journeys. Overall journey times are a 
significant factor when people are deciding how to travel, and additional inconvenience is 

likely to lead to a reduction in patronage. 
 

 
 
During a time of significant strain on services, the reduction of such supported bus and 

community transport services will impose further burdens on services and negatively 

                                                           
1
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1030718/annual-

bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2021.pdf  
2
 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-travel-survey-statistics  48

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1030718/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1030718/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-travel-survey-statistics


impact our most vulnerable groups such as older people living in areas of socio-economic 

disadvantage in rural and semi-rural areas. 
 
The pandemic has disproportionately impacted older people and our most vulnerable 

groups who have struggled to access the community since the pandemic, having a 
significant impact on their mental health and wellbeing, increasing social isolation and 

loneliness. Although it is noted that there has been a decline in service usage over the last 
few years, bookings are beginning to recover and there is a significant risk that services 
will struggle to meet demand, having a negative impact on people’s health and wellbeing. 

Recent figures from HCCs Health Places Report 2022 indicate that people living in 
Eastleigh Town, Hedge End and Botley are among the most isolated in the borough and 

who are at the highest risk of experiencing vulnerable mental health.  
 
EBC note that HCC have provided passenger journey figures from 2019/20 to 2020/21 to 

support and justify the need for a reduction in service provision to make savings. EBC feel 
this is not a fair reflection of real passenger figures as this was over the course of the 

pandemic when restrictions were in place and people were using the service significantly 
less compared to years prior to covid. EBC is concerned that using this data to support this 
decision does not present a true picture of actual usage of services and that, as confidence 

increases, passenger numbers will return to normal and people will seek to access the 
community more, without necessary transport available to them. 

 
It is essential that support that has been available does not diminish, as a reduction of 
service provision risks undoing all of the good work organisations have achieved to 

develop these support networks for people who are vulnerable. 
 

The proposed savings and subsequent reductions in passenger transport services may 
disproportionately impact on people from: 

 Households without access to a private car - Who make on average over 4 times as 
many local bus trips than those with access to a car1 

 Young people - In the age group 17-20, who make the most trips per year  

 Older people who rely on service in the borough as a primary way of accessing 
healthcare services and the community impacting on mental health, social isolation, 

and loneliness.  
 Ethnic minority backgrounds - In the five year period of 2015-2019, on average, 

black people made the most local bus trips (148 trips per person per year) and local 

bus trips accounted for 19% of all trips made by black people, the highest 
percentage out of all ethnic groups1 

 
 
Prioritising spending  

 
Savings should be balanced across passenger transport services, rather than by prioritising 

one form of service over the other. This would enable a robust methodology to be applied 
taking into account a range of factors including cost per passenger, patronage levels, 
journey time, reliability, accessibility, the level of alternative provision as well as 

demographic data.  
 

Patronage levels are still significantly lower than pre covid – with commuters and students 
returning at a faster rate than leisure travel. Therefore, retaining a regular service in the 
morning peak and evenings to support journeys to work and education should be a high 

priority.  
 

Where possible regular bus services should be retained, however if savings are required 
then consideration should be to reduce the number of timetabled journeys rather than 
reduce the number of locations served or the days of the week on which services are 

available.  
49



 

 
Please indicate below if any impacts you have mentioned above relate to any of the 

following characteristics or issues: (Please select all that apply) 

X Age X Race X Rurality 

X Disability  Religion or belief X Environmental 

impact 

 Gender reassignment  Sex  Don't know 

 Marriage and/or civil 

partnership 

 Sexual orientation  None of these 

 Pregnancy and/or 

maternity 

X Poverty   

 

Proposed changes to concessionary bus travel 
 
As part of the English National Concessionary Travel Scheme, the County Council issues 

eligible people with an Older Person’s Pass, or a Disabled Person’s Pass. The County Council 
does not propose changing how these bus passes work on buses, but does propose reducing 
funding for some of the other benefits that these bus passes provide. 

 
These proposed changes are to discretionary services and would not affect services that the 

County Council has to provide by law. 
 

Proposed changes to concessionary travel 
 

The Dial-a-Ride, Call & Go, and Taxishare services are funded by the County Council and, 
where applicable, their funding partners. In addition to this support, holders of an Older 
Person’s Pass or a Disabled Person’s Pass also get an extra discount, paid for by the County 

Council, when using these services. 
 

It is proposed that these extra discounts are removed, which would mean that fewer service 
reductions would be needed to deliver a balanced budget. Keeping these discounts may result 
in much larger reductions to these services. This proposal is explained on pages 15-16 of the 

consultation Information Pack. 
 

What is your preference for each of the following? (Please select one option per row) 

 Removing this 

extra discount 
and seeing fewer 
service 

reductions 
 

Keeping this extra 

discount, which 
may result in 
additional service 

reductions  
 

Don't know 

 

25% discount on Dial-a-Ride and Call 
& Go services for holders of an Older 

Person’s Bus Pass or a Disabled 
Person’s Bus Pass 
 

X – older 
persons bus pass 

X – disabled 
persons bus pass 

 

Free travel on Taxishare services for 
holders of an Older Person’s Bus Pass 

or a Disabled Person’s Bus Pass 
 

X – older 
persons bus pass 

X – disabled 
persons bus pass 

 

 
The County Council also offers the option for those eligible for a Disabled Person’s Bus Pass to 

claim £36 of travel vouchers per year, which can be used for taxis, instead of a bus pass. 

50



 
It is proposed that these travel vouchers would no longer be available as an alternative to a 

Disabled Person’s Bus Pass. However, eligible service users would still be able to apply for a 
Disabled Person’s Bus Pass. This proposal is explained on page 14 of the consultation 

Information Pack. 
 
If you have ever claimed travel vouchers as an alternative to a Disabled Person's 

Bus Pass, or you know somebody else who has, how do you think that they/you 
would travel if the travel vouchers were no longer available? (Please select all that 

apply) 

 Not applicable - have never claimed these 

travel vouchers, and know nobody who has done so 
X Private vehicle (car, motorcycle, etc) 

X 
Taxi, self-funded X 

Active means (wheelchair, mobility 

scooter, walking, etc) 

X 
Bus X 

Lifts from family, friends, or other 

acquaintances 

 Another mode of public transport besides 
taxi or bus (please describe below) 

 
Another means not listed above 
(please describe below) 

X 
Dial-a-Ride or Call & Go services X Would not make these journeys 

X 
Taxishare  Don’t know 

Please describe these other means of transport here: 

 

 
 

 
 
If you would like to explain the reasons for your views, or tell us about the impact 

that these proposed changes to concessionary travel could have on you, then please 
do so below. Please do not include any personal details in your response 

 
Removal of 25% discount on Dial-a-Ride and Call & Go services for holders of an 

Older Person’s Bus Pass or a Disabled Person’s Bus Pass 
 
EBC is concerned that at a time when households are struggling with rising inflation, driven 

by the cost of living crisis, that HCC are proposing savings that will impact on those in most 
need. 

 
The removal of the disabled persons bus pass discount should be reconsidered - The 

disabled persons bus pass is means tested rather than universal provision. People with 
disabilities are more likely to live in a low-income household, less likely to be in 
employment and more likely to be lonely or isolated. The use of the disabled persons bus 

pass discount provides an important link for people who may otherwise not be able to afford 
to travel, particularly for individuals with additional or complex needs. This could have a 

significant impact on peoples ability to access crucial healthcare provision and further 
exacerbate existing mental health issues. 
 

Removal of Free travel on Taxishare services for holders of an Older Person’s Bus 
Pass or a Disabled Person’s Bus Pass 

 
The proposed introduction of a £1 flat fare on taxi shares is reasonable and is not 
considered to present a significant barrier to passengers.  

 
The withdrawal of travel vouchers as an alternative to the disabled persons bus 

pass 
 51



Whilst the alternative provision of travel vouchers may make a significant saving to HCC, 

EBC is concerned that people living in areas with limited or no community transport 
provision and limited or no access to public transport will be left isolated and cut off from 
key services, facilities and their communities. An alternative method of qualification should 

be developed for those that are unable to access regular community and passenger 
transport services.  

 
 

 
Please indicate below if any impacts you have mentioned above relate to any of the 
following characteristics or issues: (Please select all that apply) 

X Age  Race X Rurality 

X Disability  Religion or belief X Environmental impact 

 Gender 

reassignment 

 Sex  Don't know 

 Marriage and/or 

civil partnership 

 Sexual orientation  None of these 

 Pregnancy and/or 

maternity 

X Poverty   

 

Proposed charges for passenger and community transport 
services 
 

Charges for Dial-a-Ride and Call & Go services are different in different parts of Hampshire. 
The County Council proposes a more common approach to charging, which would mean that 

most fares would rise. This proposal is explained on pages 19-20 of the consultation 
Information Pack. 
 

In situations where current fares are already above the level set by this common approach, 
they would stay the same and would not be reduced. 

 
If a common approach to charging is agreed then passengers would make a greater 
contribution to costs than they currently do, which would limit the reductions needed to these 

services. However if the current approach continues, with different charges being applied in 
different areas, then additional service reductions may be required to balance the budget. 

 
Which of these approaches to charging for Dial-a-Ride and Call & Go services do you 
think is better? (Please select one option) 

 

X For passengers to make a greater contribution to costs through a more consistent fare 

structure, which would limit the need for reductions to these services 

 For the County Council to continue making its existing contribution to costs through 
the current, less consistent, fare structure, which may mean that there would be 

greater reductions to these services 

 

The County Council proposes the following charges which would make a tangible contribution 
towards service costs and thereby help to avoid additional service reductions. These proposed 
charges are explained on pages 17-20 of the consultation Information Pack. 

 
Please indicate how you feel about the following proposed charges (Please select one 

option per row) 

52



 It should be 

lower than 
this amount 

 

It is about 

right 
 

It should be 

higher 
 

Don’t know 

 

A new £1 charge for all 
Taxishare journeys 

 X   

A standard return fare of £6 
for local journeys on all Dial-
a-Ride and Call & Go services 

 X   

A standard return fare of £8 

for longer journeys on all 
Dial-a-Ride and Call & Go 
services 

 X   

 

It is proposed that the charge for replacing lost or damaged bus passes would rise from £14 
to £20 in order to better cover costs. There would be no charge for replacing stolen bus 
passes. This proposed charge is explained on page 21 of the consultation Information Pack. 

 
How do you feel about this proposed £20 charge? (Please select one option) 

 
 

It should be lower than £20 

X It is about right 

 It should be higher than £20  

 Don’t know 

 
Where you feel that the charges proposed should be higher or lower, what do you 

think would be a reasonable charge (£) for… 

…a Taxishare journey? (£1 proposed)  

…a local Dial-a-Ride and Call & Go journey? (£6 proposed)  

…a longer Dial-a-Ride and Call & Go journey? (£8 proposed)  

…replacing a lost or damaged bus pass? (£20 proposed)  

 
If you would like to explain the reasons for your views, or tell us about the impact 

that these proposed charges for passenger and community transport services could 
have on you, then please do so below. Please do not include any personal details in your 
response 

 
EBC has been working with HCC over recent years to move towards a new ticketing structure 

that would increase the contribution that is paid by community transport users, however, this 
was to be achieved over a number of years rather than all at once. Consideration should be 

given as to how fare increases could be introduced over time to minimise the impact of the 
proposal.  
 

The definition of both ‘local journey’ and ‘longer journey’ should be provided as the way in 
which this is applied is likely to disproportionally impact on people living in more rural areas 

will be required to travel greater distances to access their nearest town or village centre.   
 
The introduction of a standard fare is simple and easy for users to understand. Whilst some 

passengers travelling short distances may pay a higher rate it is felt that overall, a standard 
fare is beneficial.  

53



 

The introduction of a £1 standard fare for taxi share services is considered reasonable. 
However, this cost may increase significantly in future years if index linked to inflation. In real 
terms passenger transport costs have been increasing in recent years at a much faster rate 

than private motoring. Keeping passenger transport costs at a reasonable level, especially 
when compared to the cost of motoring, is critical in order to retain and grow patronage 

levels, particularly following the pandemic.  
 
It should be noted that community transport providers are also facing increased fuel costs as 

they are not sheltered from the cost increases seen in recent months. It may be possible to 
adopt alternative methods of fuel or to provide them with access to bulk fuel purchase 

arrangements that would benefit the operator.  
 

 
Please indicate below if any impacts you have mentioned above relate to any of the 
following characteristics or issues: (Please select all that apply) 

X Age  Race X Rurality 

X Disability  Religion or belief  Environmental impact 

 Gender 

reassignment 

 Sex  Don't know 

 Marriage and/or 

civil partnership 

 Sexual orientation  None of these 

 Pregnancy and/or 

maternity 

X Poverty   

 

 

Making operational changes to Minibus Group Hire schemes 
 
Minibus Group Hire schemes provide affordable long- and short-term accessible minibus hire 

for local community groups in Hampshire, including voluntary or charitable organisations, 
with support from the County Council. Use of these Minibus Group Hire schemes is reducing 

and the County Council wishes to improve the value for money offered by these services that 
it supports. This proposal is explained on pages 12-13 of the consultation Information Pack. 
 

If you have any suggestions as to how the Minibus Group Hire schemes in 
Hampshire could be run more efficiently, then please summarise these in the box 

below.  
 
Please write your suggestions in the box below. Please do not include any personal 

information in your response 

 

EBC works with HCC and the local community transport provider, One Community, to 
continually review and assess the efficiency of group hire activities. Over the pandemic 

One Community refocused efforts to provide a valuable service to people who have been 
sheltering, or in need of additional support. Where possible savings have been made for 
example taking vehicles off the road, however some costs cannot be mitigated such as 

vehicle maintenance.  
 

Patronage levels are still low, particularly for group hire, with many groups and clubs not 
yet back to full capacity and with covid levels still high within the population. However, 
bookings are increasing and in time may recover to pre pandemic levels. It would be 

disappointing to see services withdrawn or reduced at this stage as future demand may 
not be able to be met.  

 

54



It may be possible for operators to secure sponsorship funding from businesses however 

these options have been explored in the past.  
 
Investment into back-office systems such as booking platforms may help to achieve 

greater savings over the coming years, this would also provide a better customer 
experience and reduce the amount of staff time taken to manage bookings, changes and 

cancellations.  
 
One Community holds a fleet of vehicles, which are used for both dial-a-ride and group 

hire services, many of which are beginning to incur high maintenance costs due to the 
age of the vehicles. Both HCC and EBC invest in a vehicle replacement fund which could 

be utilised to replace older vehicles and minimise maintenance costs to the operator and 
help to reduce the impact of the proposed HCC savings.  
 

 

Impacts, suggestions, and further comments 
 

If you would like to tell us more about the impacts of the changes outlined in this 
consultation, have any further comments, or would like to make any alternative 
suggestions as to how the County Council could achieve a saving of £10.3 million to 

its Economy, Transport and Environment budget, then please summarise these in 
the box below.  

 
Please write your suggestions in the box below. Please do not include any personal 
information in your response. 

 
The recently adopted Hampshire Enhanced Partnership Plan states that the County and 

operators shared vision for bus service is: 
 

‘Within Hampshire, the County Council and bus operators recognise that the bus has 
huge untapped potential to cater for a larger share of everyday journeys. Through a 
programme of co-ordinated and sustained investment, over the next decade we will 

deliver a renaissance in bus passenger travel, which will see the number of journeys 
made by bus increase year-on-year.’ 3 

 
Clearly, the failure to secure central government funding is going to considerably impact 
on HCC’s ability to realise this ambition and to meet the 10 commitments made within 

the plan, particularly: 
 Commitment 5 - To extend the reach of current services;  

 Commitment 8 - To meet and exceed the needs and expectations of bus 
passengers; and  

 Commitment 9 - To support operators as they respond to the challenges of short 
term inflationary pressures and the need to increase revenues by attracting back 
customers who have stopped travelling by bus during the pandemic. 

 
It may be appropriate for HCC to review the plan in light of the proposed changes.  

 
HCC should continue to lobby the Department for Transport for additional funding to 
support passenger transport services and take advantage of all funding opportunities that 

come forward.  
 

EBC wishes to continue to work closely with HCC to plan service changes, in order to 
minimise the impact on our communities and to add value to the network through EBC 
investments in services and infrastructure.  

 

                                                           
3
 https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s91773/Appendix%201.pdf  55

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s91773/Appendix%201.pdf


 

 

And finally... 
 
Finally, to help us improve access to future consultations, please tell us where you 

first heard about this survey/consultation: (Please choose one option) 

 On social media (e.g. Facebook, 

Twitter, etc) 
 

In a resident's newsletter (e.g. 

printed or e-newsletter) 

 
Online  Through my employer 

 In a public space (e.g. library, civic 
centre) 

 By word of mouth 

X 
Via an email or letter sent to you  

Reported in the press (e.g. radio, 
newspaper) 

 
On a consultation poster or leaflet  Other 

 
This consultation will close at 11:59pm on Sunday 24 July 2022. Any responses received after 

this date will not be included in the findings of the consultation. 
 
Please click 'submit' below to complete your response. You will then be taken to a webpage 

where you can sign up to take part in future engagement and consultations by Hampshire 
County Council. 

 
 

56



Supported Services in Eastleigh  

Service Route Operator Funding 

X4 Hedge End to Eastleigh (supported 
Sundays and Bank Holidays) 

Xelabus EBC funded 

X6/X7 Eastleigh to Hiltingbury (supported 

Chandlers Ford to Hiltingbury) 

Xelabus HCC and 

EBC funded  

X8  Eastleigh to Boyatt Wood circular 

(Supported Sundays and Bank 
Holidays) 

Xelabus EBC funded  

X9 Eastleigh to Bishops Waltham 
(supported Allbrook to Waltham 

Chase) 

Xelabus HCC funded 

X10 Bishops Waltham to Southampton 

(supported Bishops Waltham to 
Moorgreen) 

Xelabus HCC funded 

X15 Eastleigh to Hamble (supported 
Hedge End to Hamble) 

Xelabus HCC and 
EBC funded 

X17 Eastleigh to Petersfield (supported 

Bishops Waltham to Petersfield) 

Xelabus  HCC funded 

E1/E2  

 

Eastleigh to Winchester Stagecoach HCC funded 

Eastleigh 

Dial-a-Ride 
(including the 

Parish Link) 

Within the Eastleigh Borough Council 

area, with various trips to 
Southampton City Centre 

One 

Community 

HCC and 

EBC funded 

Eastleigh 

Group Hire 

Eastleigh Borough Council area. One 

Community  

HCC and 

EBC funded 

44 Taxishare Campbell Road Area Shopper SCA Travel HCC and 
EBC funded 

Hospital 
Taxishare  

Hamble-le-Rice, medical centres or 
GP surgeries 

Grainger  HCC and 
EBC funded 

43 Taxishare Flexford/ Valley Park to Chandlers 
Ford/ Eastleigh 

HCT HCC funded 

42 Taxishare Stoke Common to Eastleigh HCT HCC funded 

 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



to Bishops Waltham 
The Meons | Petersfield

to Bishops Waltham | Swanmore 
Waltham Chase | Fareham

Xelabus

Xelabus

Xelabus

Xelabus

Xelabus

to Romsey
via North Baddesley

Xelabus

Moorgreen Rd

Se
dg

wi
ck

 R
d

Netley

Royal Victoria
Country Park

Gran
ge R

d

Ingleside

Hound Rd

Victoria Rd Station Rd St 
Mary

s R
d

X15

Ha
m

bl
e 

La
ne

Hamble-Le-Rice
Hamble 
Square

Ha
m

bl
e 

La
ne

Itchen BridgeBernard St

Hi
gh

 S
t

Portsmouth Rd

Newtown Rd

Woolston Rd

Woolston Rd

Portsmouth Rd

X7X6

Bo
ur

ne
m

ou
th

 R
d

X6

X6

X7

X7

X7

Sutherlands Way
Hursley Rd

Baddesley Rd

Hocombe Rd

Merdon Ave

Oakmount Rd

Hillcrest Ave

Winchest
er 

Rd

X6

Winc
he

ste
r R

d

X7

X6

Leigh Rd

Leigh Rd

Castle Lane

Ot
te

rb
ou

rn
e H

ill

Barton Peveril 
& Eastleigh College
served by

Fleming Park

X4 X6 5

Pitm
ore Rd

X6

X7

X7

Hedge End superstores served by:

3 8 X4 X9 X15

46

X8

X9

Shakespeare Rd

Highbridge Rd

Tw
yford Rd

X9

B3354

Fair Oak Rd

Sa
nd

y 
La

ne

Spring Lane

Church Lane

Te
es

 F
ar

m
 R

d

Riverside

Underw
ood Rd

Alan Drayton Way

Bub
b L

an
e

Snakemoor Lane

Maunsell Way

High Street

Botley Rd

Ba
ss

et
t A

ve
nu

e
Ba

ss
et

t A
ve

nu
e

Th
e 

Av
en

ue

W
inc

he
ste

r R
d

Thornhill Park Rd

Church Hill

Bitterne Rd West

Hamilton Rd

Stoke Pk Rd

Derby Rd

Chestnut Ave
Chestnut Ave

Nig
htin

gale AveChestnut Ave Fair Oak Rd

Broadlands

Burgess Rd

Un
iv

er
si

ty
 R

d

X8

X15 X17

X17

69

to Twyford | Winchester69

69

Xelabus

Xelabus X15

X9

Xelabus X10

Xelabus X4

to Durley & Bishops Waltham

Xelabus

X10

Xelabus X15

X15

Ho
bb

 L
n

Ki
ng

s C
op

se
 A

ve

Bu
rs

le
do

n 
Rd

Upper 
St 

Hele
ns R

d

Do
dw

el
l L

n

Barnfield Way

Heath House Ln

Heath House Ln

E1

E2

E2
to Winchester 
via Otterbourne

E1 to Twyford | Winchester

Xelabus X9

to Bishops Waltham

Xelabus X9

X4

E1

Xelabus

E1

Xelabus X10

XelabusX9

E2

to Fareham 
& Portsmouth

to Fareham 
& Gosport

X4

Tu
rn

pik
e 

Wa

y Lower Northam Rd

Botley Rd

To
llb

ar
 W

ay
Xelabus X15

Xelab
us

Xelab
us

Xelab
us

6

6

X15 Xelabus

6

Lodge Rd

Po
rts

woo
d R

d

W
id

e 
La

ne

No
rth

am
 B

rid
ge

So
ut

ha
m

pt
on

 R
d

W
es

t E
nd

 R
d

West End Rd

Allington Lane

Mansbridge Rd

M
ansbridge Rd

St
on

eh
am

 W
ay

Portsmouth Rd

Allbrook Way

X15Xelabus

W
es

se
x 

Ln

8

To
w

nh
ill 

W
ay

6

X4

X5

X4

X5

Tow
nhill W

ay

8

6

6

Welbeck Ave

Sh
af

te
sb

ur
y 

Av
e

Po
rts

w
oo

d 
Rd

Southampton 
Science Park

Chilworth Rd

X21

X21

Xelabus X21

Xelabus X21

U1

5

3

3

3

3

3

5

to Winchester 

to Winchester 

46
to Baddesley

Xelabus

X15 Xelabus

X4 52

5
X21

5
X4

3

X17

X15

2

Boyatt Wood

Bishopstoke

Colden 
CommonChandlers

Ford

Horton 
Heath

Highfield

Northam

Bitterne

Harefield

West End

Moorgreen

Butlocks Heath

Lowford

Bursledon

Mansbridge

Midanbury

Fishers 
Pond

Allbrook

Crowdhill

West End 
Crematorium

North Millers Dale

South Millers Dale

Stoneham

Velmore

Lakeside

M27

M27

M3

M3

ASDA

Eastleigh FC

Fair Oak
Eastleigh

Chandlers Ford 

Hedge End

Southampton 
Airport 
Parkway

Southampton
Central

Swaythling

Bitterne

St Denys

Eastleigh

Woolston

Sholing

Netley
Hamble

Boorley 
Green

Thornhill

Chartwell 
Green

Botley

Hiltingbury

Newtown

Lower Swanwick

Sarisbury
Green

M27

A334

A334

B3036

Bursledon

Southampton
City Centre

X6

X6

X6

X4

X5
X4

X5
6

6

Hedge 
End

3

X17U1

U1

U1 1 2 X21

U1

Your Travel Information
for the Borough of Eastleigh
List of services

Which bus stand to use Who to contact

www.eastleigh.gov.uk

1   Winchester | Chandlers Ford | Southampton
E1   Eastleigh | Colden Common | Winchester
U1   Eastleigh | University | Southampton
2   Fair Oak | Eastleigh | Southampton
E2   Eastleigh | Otterbourne | Winchester
3   Eastleigh | Hedge End | Southampton
X4   Eastleigh | West End | Hedge End
X4   Southampton | Bursledon | Portsmouth
5   Eastleigh | Boyatt Wood
5   Eastleigh | Romsey
X5   Southampton | Bursledon | Gosport
6   Southampton | Netley | Hamble
X6   Eastleigh | Chandlers Ford | Hiltingbury
X7   Eastleigh | Chandlers Ford | Hiltingbury
X7   Eastleigh | Chandlers Ford
8   Hedge End Station | West End | Southampton
X8   Eastleigh | Boyatt Wood
X9   Eastleigh | Colden Common | Bishops Waltham
X10  Bishops Waltham | West End | Southampton
X15  Eastleigh | Hedge End | Hamble
X17  Eastleigh | Bishops Waltham | Petersfield
46   Winchester | Hiltingbury | Baddesley
69   Winchester | Colden Common | Fareham

Every 15 minutes
Six Journeys

Six early departures
Every 15 mins

Three Journeys
Every 60 mins
Every 60 mins
Every 30 mins
Every 30 mins
Every 60 mins
Every 30 mins
Every 30 mins
Every 60 mins
Every 60 mins
Every 60 mins
Every 30 mins
NO SERVICE

Every 60 mins
Every 60 mins
Two Journeys

1 Journey (Weds)
2 Journeys

Every 60 mins

Every 15 minutes
Four Journeys

One early departure
Every 15 mins

Three Journeys
Every 60 mins
Every 120 mins
Every 60 mins
Every 30 mins
Every 120 mins
Every 60 mins
Every 60 mins
NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE

Every 60 mins
Every 60 mins
NO SERVICE

Every 120 mins
Every 120 mins

NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE

Every 60 mins

Every 30 mins
NO SERVICE

Four early departures
Every 30 mins
NO SERVICE
Six Journeys

Every 120 mins
Every 60 mins
NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE

Every 60 mins
Every 60 mins
NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE

Four Journeys
Every 60 mins
Every 120 mins

NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE
NO SERVICE
Six Journeys

Bus No. Monday to Friday Saturdays Sundays
& Public Holidays

web: www.bluestarbus.co.uk
Email: talk2us@bluestarbus.co.uk
Tel: 023 8023 1950
Twitter: @buestarhq
Facebook: www.facebook.com/bluestarbus

web: www.cityredbus.co.uk or www.firstbus.co.uk/portsmouth
Tel: 0345 646 0707
Twitter: @FirstShampton @FirstPortsmouth
Facebook: www.facebook.com/FirstSouthampton or FirstSolent

web: www.xelabus.info
Email: admin@xelabus.info
Tel: 023 8064 4715

web: www.stagecoachbus.com
Email: south.enquiries@stagecoachbus.com
Tel: 0345 121 0190
Twitter: @StagecoachWinch

web: www.unilinkbus.co.uk
Email: talk2us@unilinkbus.co.uk
Tel: 023 8059 5974
Twitter: @unilinkbus

My Journey is a campaign which aims to help Hampshire 
& Southampton residents find new healthier and 
cheaper ways of travelling.  For more information, 
visit: www.myjourneyhampshire.com

For timetables, journey planning and enquiries:
web: www.travelinesw.com
Tel: 0871 200 22 33

web: www.hants.gov.uk/transport/publictransport
Email: ptgenquiries@hants.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 555 1375 

Bus Route

Xelabus

Stand A

Stand B

to Southampton

to Boyatt Wood

to Fair Oak

Stand C

Stand D

Stand E

Stand F

3U1

E1

X6

X9

2

5

X4

E2

X7

2

X15

X8 5

X17

Welcome to
Eastleigh Bus Station

Southampton

Canute Rd

Central Bridge
Bernard St

Marsh Ln

Hi
gh

 S
t

Castle W
ay

Kingsw
ay

Lo
nd

on
 R

d

Do
rs

et
 St

East Park Terr

Civic Centre RdWestern 
Esplanade

Portland Terrace

Commercial Rd

Above Barr St Nort
ha

m Rd

Havelock Rd

PoundTree Rd

Bargate

Southampton FC
St Marys Stadium

Eastleigh
Bishopstoke Rd

Tw
yf

or
d 

Rd
So

ut
ha

m
pt

on
 R

d

Leigh Rd
Eastleigh

Bus Station

Shorts Rd

B3037

Fair Oak

Fair Oak Rd

Mortimers Ln

Botley Rd

W
inchester Rd

Wyvern College

pb Bus
Marketing
Limited

Designed & produced by

PB Bus Marketing Ltd
Designed & produced

September 2021

see insert

see insert

see 
insert

59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Thursday, 7 July 2022  

RESPONSE TO HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S LOCAL 
TRANSPORT PLAN 4 CONSULTATION 

Report of the Sustainable Transport Planner  

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that  Cabinet notes the response to Hampshire County Council’s 
‘Local Transport Plan 4 Consultation’ attached at Appendix 1. 
 

Summary 
 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) has consulted residents and other stakeholders on the 
proposed Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4), which will replace the existing LTP3 to provide a 
framework to guide all future transport planning and investment. 

The Council’s response has been agreed by the Leader of the Council and Portfolio holder 
for Transport under delegated powers due to the consultation deadline falling before this 
Cabinet meeting date. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications  

2. Transport is a cross-cutting issue that underpins all areas of the Corporate 
Plan. Most actions fall within the Tackling Congestion objective, but the 
actions also deliver against the Council’s Economic (Prosperous Place), and 
Health and Wellbeing (Healthy Communities) corporate objectives. 

Introduction 

3. Hampshire County Council (HCC) has a statutory requirement to have a Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) which sets out its vision for future transport and travel 
infrastructure. LTP4 will replace the current Local Transport Plan (LTP3) 
which was developed in 2011, which is considered no longer relevant to meet 
modern challenges and opportunities. 

4. LTP4 describes the HCC transport vision for the period 2022 to 2050, sets out 
key outcomes and transport polices covering all aspects of transport planning, 

61

Agenda Item 10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

delivery, and operation and prioritises how interventions will be funded, 
delivered and monitored. 

5. It proposes changes in transport policy covering all aspects of transport 
planning, delivery, and operation which: 

 shift away from planning for vehicles, towards planning for people and 
places; 

 reduce reliance on private car travel; 

 support sustainable economic development and regeneration; 

 meet national priorities to decarbonise the transport system; 

 promote active lifestyles. 
 
6. The biggest differences between LTP4 and previous LTPs are: 

 the creation of a road user utility framework; 

 a movement and place framework to help us decide how best to change 
our streets and spaces and balance competing needs; 

 a new approach to integrating land use and transport planning by clearly 
defining what sustainable transport looks like; 

 an approach to adapting our infrastructure to respond to climate change; 

 policies that support decarbonisation and electrification of the vehicle 
fleet; 

 policies that set out how HCC will make use of new technology to solve 
transport challenges; and 

 policies that set the ambition to deliver a transformational change in public 
transport, walking and cycling networks and systems. 
 

7. Between 7 January and 28 February 2021, HCC consulted on the proposed 
key transport outcomes, vision, core design principles, a range of potential 
measures and the principles that will guide future investment and decision 
making in relation to transport and travel. The feedback from this consultation 
is available here: https://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport/LTP4-
Summaryofinitialfeedback.pdf  

8. HCC has recently undertaken a public consultation on the draft LTP4 which, if 
adopted, would affect how people travel in Hampshire in the future. The 12-
week consultation opened on 4 April 2022 closed on 26 June 2022. Further 
information about the consultation can be found at: 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/localtransportplan/haveyoursay  

9. The Council’s response to the consultation is attached at Appendix 1. Due to 
the timescales of this consultation, the response was agreed by the Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder for Transport and the Leader of the Council. 

10. In addition to addressing the specific consultation questions including the 
general principles and policies in the Plan, the -response also draws particular 
attention to the HCC 2050 carbon neutrality target, the need to consider a 
well-maintained public transport network as one of the desired outcomes, the 
challenges and opportunities posed by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 

62

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport/LTP4-Summaryofinitialfeedback.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport/LTP4-Summaryofinitialfeedback.pdf
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/localtransportplan/haveyoursay


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

on public transport and the need to identify defined and prioritised areas and 
schemes at this stage to begin to deliver against the objectives of the Plan. 

Financial Implications 

11. Transport initiatives are delivered through local funding (Developer 
Contributions, Council Tax, national funding (Grants) and the Council has a 
long history of supporting schemes. Whilst there are no direct financial 
implications to the Council in relation to this report, LTP4 will likely have a 
significant impact on the availability of funding for projects delivered in 
Eastleigh over the period of the plan. 

12. The LTP4 sets the policy framework against which HCC will develop area 
transport strategies and area action plans. The LTP4 identifies that new or 
refreshed (transport) strategies will be brought forwards over the next 5 years, 
including for the Eastleigh area. Detailed schemes will be reported as 
appropriate with any suggested financial implications bought back to Cabinet.  

Risk Assessment 

13. The proposed vision and associated outcomes for travel and transport will 
impact on all residents of the Borough and may disproportionately affect low-
income household and vulnerable road users if not considered by HCC at an 
early stage in the development of travel and transport policy. 

14. By not submitting a response to the consultation there is a risk that HCC may 
decide on a course of action without appreciating the risks and local 
implications for communities. 

15. Through the development of the Plan, HCC may identify infrastructure and 
service requirements that cannot be delivered without additional funding or 
investment. There is a risk that the Borough Council could be expected to 
bridge funding gaps of future schemes. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

16. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
response to a consultation by an external organisation. Therefore, it is 
considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

17. It is a statutory requirement that LTPs should be supported by an EqIA, which 
addresses Protected Characteristics. The EqIA has been included within the 
supporting documents and will be updated following the public consultation 
and submitted alongside the final document when it is presented for approval.  

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

 

63



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

18. Very significant shifts in travel behaviour are required to achieve the proposed 
outcome of LTP4 to reduce transport-related carbon emissions to net zero 
(neutrality) by 2050. 

19. HCC developed a carbon calculation tool to inform the LTP. The tool 
demonstrates the scale of the emissions gap that needs to be closed in order 
for Hampshire to meet its carbon reduction commitments. It also assesses 
how effective different types of transport policies might be in helping to close 
this gap. The tool can be found at: 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/localtransportplan/supportingdocumentatio
n 

 

Conclusion 

20. Cabinet is asked to note and ratify the consultation response at Appendix 1. 

 

CALI SPARKS 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT PLANNER 

 
Date: 07 July 2022 
Contact Officer: Cali Sparks  
Tel No: 023 8068 8069  
e-mail: cali.sparks@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 – EBC Consultation Response – LTP4 
 

 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Background Paper -  Response to Hampshire County Council’s Local 
Transport 4 Consultation, February 2021 
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50030406/
HCC%20Consultation%20Response%20Report.pdf  

 

64

https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/localtransportplan/supportingdocumentation
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/localtransportplan/supportingdocumentation
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50030406/HCC%20Consultation%20Response%20Report.pdf
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50030406/HCC%20Consultation%20Response%20Report.pdf


EBC consultation response – LTP4 

Page 1 of 7 
 

 

To what extent do you agree, or disagree, that the proposed vision reflects how 

Hampshire’s transport system should look in 2050 (taking into account its role in delivering 

a better environment, economy and society)? 

Strongly disagree  

Disagree  

Neither agree nor disagree  

Agree X 

Strongly agree  

 

 

What changes to the proposed vision would you recommend? 

The proposed outcome of ‘A carbon neutral, resilient Hampshire’ includes a target to ‘reduce transport-

related carbon emissions to net zero (neutrality) by 2050’. At a time of environmental and climate 

emergency Eastleigh Borough Council considers this to be unambitious and would support a faster pace of 

change.  

 

To what extent do you agree, or disagree, that that we have identified the correct outcomes 

for Hampshire? 

Strongly disagree  

Disagree  

Neither agree nor disagree  

Agree X 

Strongly agree  

 

What do you feel should be changed? 

Another outcome which should be considered is ‘An improved transport network that is well maintained’. A 

high quality and well-maintained public highway will support the achievement of the overall objectives and 

is an important factor in road safety. 

 

To what extent do you agree, or disagree, that the following two principles should help to 

guide decisions about Hampshire’s transport system? 

 Strongly 
disagree 

Disagree Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Agree Strongly agree 

Significantly reduce 
dependency on the 
private car 

   X  

Provide a transport 
system that promotes 
high quality places and 
puts people first 

   X  

65



Page 2 of 7 
 

 

Assuming sufficient funding, how confident do you feel that the policies within the 

proposed Local Transport Plan 4 will: 

 Not at all confident Fairly confident Very confident Don’t know 

Reduce transport-related 
carbon emissions to net zero 
(neutrality) by 2050 

X    

Help create a transport 
network that is resilient to 
climate change, extreme 
weather, incidents and major 
disruptive events 

 X   

Protect and enhance 
Hampshire’s natural and 
historic environments, 
resulting in an overall net 
environmental gain 

 X   

Improve air quality and 
reduce noise disturbance 
from transport 

 X   

Support a connected 
economy, create successful 
places, and ensure 
Hampshire continues to 
prosper whilst reducing its 
emissions 

 X   

Support sustainable housing 
and employment growth and 
regeneration that positively 
supports the LTP4 vision 

   X 

Promote active travel and 
active lifestyles to improve 
our health and wellbeing 

   X 

Provide more equitable 
access to services, 
opportunities and life 
chances, delivering improved 
quality of life for all in 
Hampshire 

X    

 

Why don’t you feel confident that a reduction in transport-related carbon emissions to net 

zero (neutrality) by 2050 could be achieved through the proposed policies? 

 
EBC do not believe the 10% reduction in the distance travelled by cars in Hampshire by 2030 (p36) will 
be sufficient to reduce transport emissions by the amount indicated in the graphs on p26 and 27 (noting 
that a rapid uptake of EVs will also be required, which is also not within the County Councils direct 
control). 
 
Policy C4a outlines that in order to achieve the reductions in carbon emissions required to be carbon 
neutral and resilient to the impacts of climate change by 2050, travel behaviour change and an 
acceleration in the shift to zero emission vehicles will be required. It is not clear if the County Council 
have included the embedded lifecycle carbon emissions in an assumed increased EV uptake (for both 
the disposal of combustion vehicles and the manufacture of new EVs). 
 
 

66



Page 3 of 7 
 

Why don’t you feel confident that a transport network that is resilient to climate change? 

 
Policy C4 outlines that ‘designing for climate change’ will be included for new transport schemes and 
existing infrastructure, which will involve assessing schemes to understand their carbon impact and 
resilience to the effects of climate change, seeking to identify mitigation measures to offset any net 
increase in carbon, using materials and assets with a lower carbon footprint and resilient to the effects of 
climate change and retrofitting existing infrastructure to make it more resilient where there is a good case 
for doing so.  
 
EBC support the assessment of climate change and resilience impact as part of our overall transport 
investment prioritisation approach. This should however be a fundamental element of prioritisation 
schemes moving forward, and the Council offers it support in developing these schemes. 
Extreme weather, incidents and major disruptive events are likely to become continually worse and so 
this should also be factored in. 

 

Why don’t you feel confident that the policies within the proposed Local Transport Plan 4 

will protect and enhance Hampshire’s natural and historic environments, resulting in an 

overall net environmental gain? 

 
Policy C9 indicates a net gain in biodiversity (with a target of 10% or greater across the whole 
programme).  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) will be mandatory for development (likely from Spring 2023) and so this 
should be strengthened in the Policy. BNG should also be delivered on site as much as possible, rather 
than solely stating ’across the whole programme’. 
 
The supporting text to the policy outlines that ‘In the past, transport schemes have often adversely 
impacted the environment’ and so, in addition to future work, how will the County Council seek to recover 
the previous (as is recognised) loss of biodiversity and natural environment? 
 
In the section on the implementation of the policy, there are few practical steps that HCC will take to 
achieve environmental net gain – for example, clear targets for protecting plants, animals and 
ecosystems are not given.  
 
The implementation also states that ensuring all LTP4 schemes are assessed from the early stages of 
development to understand any potential environmental impacts, and where possible, avoid or mitigate 
any negative impacts identified and enhance any positive impacts. In order to achieve the policy to 
protect and enhance, this statement should be strengthened (and solely be based up ‘where possible’). 
 

 

Why don’t you feel confident that improved air quality and reduced noise disturbance from 

transport could be achieved through the proposed policies? 

 
As part of the implementation of Policy C8, EBC would welcome the County Councils ‘support (with) 
district (and unitary) councils to carry out air quality reviews, identify and monitor Air Quality Management 
Areas (AQMAs), and prepare and implement Air Quality Action Plans in locations where AQMAs have 
been declared, in line with our statutory duties’. Reporting AQMAs is however the responsibility and 
expertise of the LPAs and so this aspiration may also perhaps reflect a lack of detailed understanding of 
the role of Districts at the County. 
 
No mechanism for this supporting role is given however, nor clarity on how HCC will prioritise and 
balance County and local level priorities. For example, there is reference to prioritising locations with the 
highest proportion of vulnerable people, however vulnerable people are not defined. Furthermore, the 
LAQM guidance that Districts follow in their Air Quality work does not make such a distinction either. 

67



Page 4 of 7 
 

Working towards no AQMAs is also supported however this does not consider a previous statement that 
there are no safe concentrations of air pollutants. 
 
The Policy notes adherence to the statutory requirements however does not directly reference the 
Environment Act 2021 which will set a more stringent target for PM 2.5 and require greater partnership 
working with Local Air Quality Partners. 
 
The implementation text also identifies the need to ‘accelerate the shift to low emission vehicles, for 
example, through the provision of electric vehicle charging infrastructure and seeking funding and other 
opportunities to work towards the replacement of the existing diesel fleet of buses with zero emission 
buses’ – however it may also be prudent, as EBC have already done with its RCV fleet to introduce HVO 
fuel immediately to reduce impacts.   
 
Finally with regards to air quality, within the implementation text, ‘exploring the use of new demand 
management and enforcement measures in locations where poor air quality adversely impacts on the 
health of residents and visitors, including emissions based charging or Clean Air Zones’ is supported but 
it is understood that the legislation is such that a CAZ would be a voluntary action on the part of the 
District, albeit with close cooperation with County. 
 
Reducing the number of residents in the County exposed to noise above 55 night and 65 day decibels is 
given as a target, however it is not clear how these figures have been arrived at, and what acoustic 
metric they represent.  
 
Under the Environmental Noise Directive, the government carries out modelling of noise levels from 
transport sources, and Important Areas defined as those areas where the population fall within the top 
1% noisiest locations. There are numerous such areas within Eastleigh that fall to the County to deal 
with, either singly or in conjunction with National Highways, and even more across Hampshire. It would 
help if HCC shared how they have arrived at their stated aim, and how they intend to show progress 
towards meeting it.  
 
The sections where noise is discussed also mention rail and air alongside road noise, but do not clearly 
explain that; road noise is by a large margin the most significant source of high noise exposure, or how 
they will reduce noise from rail or air when they have no powers for such.  
 

 

Why don’t you feel confident that the policies within the proposed Local Transport Plan 4 

will support a connected economy create successful places and ensure Hampshire 

continues to prosper whilst reducing its emissions? 

 
The LTP4 identifies that in order to support the local economy, transport investment will be required to 
connect people, goods and places, encourage regeneration in disadvantaged areas and to support 
sustainable housing growth. 
 
The strategic transport routes including the Ports of Southampton and Portsmouth, Southampton Airport, 
and Heathrow Airport are noted however the LTP4 lacks an assessment of the where the current and 
future local Hampshire economic centres are now, and what infrastructure needs to be planned for the 
future. 
 
There is reference to residents in rural areas often being more reliant on the private car – however the 
rural economy should not be overlooked, especially as Covid-19 has brought about more, sustained 
working from home. 
 
In relation to the local economy, there is also no reference to the preference to use local (Hampshire or 
regional) based suppliers. 
 

 

68



Page 5 of 7 
 

Why don’t you feel confident that the policies within the proposed Local Transport Plan will 

promote active travel and active lifestyles to improve our health and wellbeing? 

The LTP4 identifies that 51% of commuting trips of less than 1.25 miles are made by car. The reasons 
for this have not been explored however EBC consider that this is likely due to a lack of good walking, 
cycling, and public transport alternatives. 
 
All journey types (commuting, leisure, school drop off / collection) should be considered and identified 
within the LTP4 – and will need to be ambitious to achieve the policy. 
 

 

Why don’t you feel confident that the policies within the proposed Local Transport Plan will 

support sustainable housing and employment growth and regeneration that positively 

supports the LTP4 vision? 

 
New development will inevitably generate more carbon emissions from that locality and so the aim 
should be to minimise these and reduce carbon emissions across the wider network. As such, the LTP4 
would benefit from identifying housing and employment growth areas, and link into LPA Local Plans. 
 
EBC would support the concept of the 20-minute neighbourhood and locating new development with 
good access to public transport services, however these services need to provide an effective alternative. 
For example, choosing locations for new development near to train stations with poor services and no 
plans for improvement, would not deliver accessible developments.  
 

 

Why don’t you feel confident that the proposed Local Transport Plan 4 will more equitable 

access to services, opportunities and life chances delivering improved quality of life for all 

in Hampshire? 

 
The LTP4 identifies a 10-point plan for equitable public transport which, together with Policy PT1b seeks 
to work with transport operators and customers to understand and address barriers to public transport 
use to achieve a more equitable service provision. 
 
HCC were unsuccessful in securing government funding to implement the recently adopted Hampshire 
Bus Service Improvement Plan, this has resulted in HCC proposed savings to public and community 
transport services, currently out to public consultation, and makes it highly unlikely that this objective will 
be achieved without signification investment in both passenger services and infrastructure. 
 
The withdrawal of high street services, such as banks, post offices, cash points and local healthcare 
provision being centralised is increasing the need for travel in some areas, particularly rural locations. 
The distances people need to travel to access these services is increasing at the time when government 
wants people to walk, cycle and use public transport more often.  
 

 

Are there any other policies or principles that you feel should be included in the Local 

Transport Plan 4? If so, please clarify which and why below. 

 
The Passenger Transport and Concessionary Travel consultation should link to the LTP4 as service cuts 
will have a direct impact on reducing public travel and adversarial impact on the guiding principle to 
significantly reduce dependency on the private car. 
 
The LTP4 identifies that ‘Local planning policies are set out in Local Plans, which are the responsibility of 
local planning authorities’ – and that ‘A coordinated, strategic approach to transport and land use 

69



Page 6 of 7 
 

integration therefore depends upon effective and pro-active partnership working with the local planning 
authorities across Hampshire’ – however the LTP4 does not suggest how this could be achieved, which 
will be fundamental to delivering well connected, sustainable housing, employment growth and 
regeneration. 
 

 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed approach to meeting our 

outcomes in the following areas? 

 Strongly 
disagree 

Disagree Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Agree Strongly 
agree 

Don’t 
know 

Healthy Places    X   

Future Mobility    X   

Balancing Travel Demand    X   

Rural Transport    X   

Asset Management    X   

Development and Master planning    X   

Strategic Infrastructure    X   

 

Are there any other measures that you feel should be included in the Local Transport Plan 

4? 

 
The LTP4 refers to a divergence from the traditional capacity increase to manage the highway however 
there is no reference as to how the current capacity can be managed down. 
 
The LTP4 recognises that the Covid-19 pandemic has had a far-reaching impact on our lifestyles, travel 
behaviour and choices however in relation to research by the Chartered Institute of Personnel and 
Development (CIPD) identifying that the proportion of people working from home on a regular basis once 
the crisis is over will increase to 37% compared to 18% before the pandemic impact, there may also be 
an impact on second (or primary) car ownership. 
 
There could be greater opportunities for people to try different modes of transport. Generally, people are 
more comfortable with what we know, and opportunities for people to try EVs and electric bikes etc, could 
remove some of the fear and uncertainty. In addition, the LTP4 could further explore the benefits of 
mobility hubs to facilitate modal shift. 
 

 
An Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) has been undertaken on the draft Local Transport Plan 4. The 

ISA evaluates the social, economic, environmental, health, community safety and equality consequences of 

the proposed LTP4 in order to ensure they are fully considered and addressed. The ISA has assessed the 

draft LTP4 as a whole; detailed assessment of specific schemes will be undertaken at a later stage as 

applicable. Details of the ISA can be found within the supporting documents 

at www.hants.gov.uk/localtransportplan. 

 

We would welcome your views on the impacts that have been identified and any impacts 

that you feel are missing. 

 
The ISA notes that ‘the LTP4 does not promote specific schemes or locations for improvements within 
the Plan Area’ however, Theme Policy SI1 does support targeted improvements to the wider strategic 
road network and major road network which are listed as specific schemes within LTP4. 
 

70

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport/LTP-ISA-interim-environmental-report-March22-revised-draft.pdf
http://www.hants.gov.uk/localtransportplan


Page 7 of 7 
 

EBC considers that these schemes should be included within the ISA as these will have tangible impacts 
for residents. 
 
EBC agrees with the ISA conclusion to formalise the requirement for 10% biodiversity net gain to be 
included as this could have a huge a positive cumulative effect across the County and is a missed 
opportunity. Enhancing vegetation maintenance along the highway also provides huge potential for 
biodiversity enhancement, with regards to habitat connectivity and increases in diversity. 
 
EBC also agree, as concluded within the ISA, that the LTP should have more specific measurable targets 
to make the plan more robust and to allow for effective meaningful monitoring. Such SMART measures 
should at least form part of process for future transport strategies and area action plans, if not as part of 
the LTP4 itself. 
 
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EQiA) has also been undertaken. The assessment considers to 
policies against the 9 protected characteristics plus an additional two protected characteristics of Poverty 
and Rurality. The definition for Poverty and Rurality are undefined however in particular for Poverty, EBC 
consider that this indicator may need to be broadened to include income levels, particularly in relation to 
the cost-of-living crisis. 
 

 

If you would like to make any further comments or suggestions regarding the draft Local 

Transport Plan 4 please do so in the box below. 

 
The “Strategic transport infrastructure priorities for Hampshire” on page 116 of the draft LTP4 in the 
“International gateways” refer to “A326 multi modal improvements to support the Solent Freeport”. 
 
Please can a further item in that table, under the section “Major Road Network” be added to read as 
follows: “Chickenhall Lane Eastleigh Link Road to support the Solent Freeport”. 
 
The LTP4 appears very light on rail and influencing the rail network. 
 

 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

Thursday, 7 July 2022 

CORPORATE COMPLIMENTS, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 
POLICY & POLICY FOR DEALING WITH UNREASONABLY 

PERSISTENT COMPLAINANTS AND UNREASONABLE 
COMPLAINANT BEHAVIOUR 

Report of the Executive Head of Customer Care 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that Cabinet approves: 

(1) the revised and updated Customer Care Compliments, Comments and 
Complaints Policy; and 

(2) the Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and Unreasonable Complainant 
Behaviour Policy 

 

Summary 
 
The Council has a corporate Compliments, Comments and Complaints Policy which 
outlines how we will deal with customer compliments and complaints, and a separate 
policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and Unreasonable 
Complainant Behaviour. Both policies have been reviewed and updated to include all 
methods of contact, clearer guidance on how the Council aims to deal with complainants in 
ways which are consistent and fair, the timescales for responding to complaints and 
clearer links to other sources of information.   

 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government Act 1972,   
Local Government and Housing Act 1989  
Human Rights Act 1998  
Equality Act 2010  
Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and Data 
Protection Act 2018 

 

73

Agenda Item 11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. The way the Council serves and responds to Customers, including how they 
are treated when giving compliments or making comments or complaints is a 
key determinant of reputation and trust. 

2. Eastleigh Borough Council’s Compliments, Comments and Complaints 
policies set out the way in which customer complaints and other feedback will 
be treated and acted upon.  The policies reflect our aim to engage with 
customers to continually improve our services, dealing with complaints 
consistently and fairly. 

3. The management of feedback and complaints should never be simply a back-
office function but one that puts customer concerns and feedback at the heart 
of what we do and ensures that this is used to learn and improve. 

4. Monitoring significant changes in levels of compliments or complaints for a 
service is one important indicator of service satisfaction levels and is 
something the Council monitors to ensure high levels of customer service.  
Monitoring complaints enables the Council to investigate possible areas of 
poor performance and take appropriate remedial action. 

Introduction 

5. Effective complaints handling should be used to seek continuous 
improvement, be open and accountable and to enable Council services to 
make amends when things go wrong.   

6. It is important that the Council’s policy for dealing with complaints and 
customer feedback is straightforward, accessible and clear and that it assists 
customers when choosing the best way to do this.  Supporting procedures 
should effectively identify and process a complaint, no matter how it is raised. 

 
Corporate Compliments, Comments and Complaints Policy 
(Appendix 1) 

1. The current procedure for dealing with compliments, comments and 
complaints was last reviewed in February 2019 and is currently published on 
the Council’s website: www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-
complaints-procedure 
   

2. This is a procedure that outlines the process and provides some information 
relating to matters considered or not considered under the procedure, 
however, no overarching policy providing a framework currently exists.  This 
has been reviewed by the Executive Head of Customer Care in conjunction 
with the Executive Head of Governance.  This policy was presented to Policy 
and Performance Scrutiny Panel on 10th March 2022 where Councillors 
provided feedback and some suggested some additional changes which have 
been included in the revisions below.  Revisions include: 

74

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-complaints-procedure
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-complaints-procedure


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 A clear policy that sets out the aims and objectives; 

 Clearer information on which matters fall under the policy and what the 
policy does not cover, with clearer information on ways to report things 
with links, about which they can also complain or comment on;  

 A section explaining that whilst we will accept anonymous complaints, 
they may take us longer to investigate and we will be unable to reply 
directly to the person making the complaint; 

 Clearer information regarding timescales for responding to complaints; 

 Levels 1 and 2 have been replaced with stages 1 and 2  

 Inclusion of a time limit of six months of the disputed occurrence or 
incident within which complaints should be made; 

 Clarification of referral to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman upon completion of an investigation into a complaint, 
once a final decision has been reached, which could be at either stage 
1 or 2 of this policy; 

 A clearer link to our Equalities Policy, inclusion under this policy of 
equality issues causing unfairness, and the option to have a 
representative act on a customer’s behalf; 

 Examples of how the Council may put things right; 

 A clearer link to the Unreasonably Persistent Complainants & 
Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour Policy; 

 Clearer information regarding the retention of documents with a link to 
this. 

Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and Unreasonable 
Complainant Behaviour Policy (Appendix 2) 
 

3. The Council will make every effort to deal with complainants consistently and 
fairly, however there are certain situations where the behaviour of a 
complainant is unreasonably persistent or demonstrates unreasonable 
behaviour. The Policy aims to ensure that staff are assisted when dealing with 
complainants who exhibit these traits.   
 

4. The Policy assists the Council in ensuring that all complainants/customers 
receive a proportional amount of staff time and certain individuals do not take 
up disproportionate amounts of time, to the extent that it inhibits a service to 
others.   
 

5. Certain complainants may be abusive, offensive and/or threatening, and the 
Council will not tolerate this type of behaviour. In addition, such complainants 

75



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

can cause undue stress to staff, which has a detrimental impact on the 
Council’s workforce. 

 
6. The Policy was last reviewed in January 2017 and is currently published on 

the Council’s website: www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2362/persistent-
complainants-policy.pdf 
 

7. It has been reviewed and updated by the Executive Head of Governance, 
Executive Head of Customer Care and Head of Case Management (Service 
Delivery). Revisions include:  

 
 Additional examples of unreasonable complainant behaviour; 
 Update to the term ‘contact’ which now includes any channel or method 

of contact and is not limited to face-to-face contact and via the 
telephone;  

 Clarity around what action can be taken for managing a complainants 
involvement with the Council.   

 
8. The Policy also helps staff to understand clearly what is expected of them, 

what options for action are available and who can authorise these actions. In 
the absence of such guidance the Council is likely to have greater problems 
with unreasonable and unreasonably persistent complainants. In addition, it 
provides a measure against which performance can be assessed for 
monitoring purposes.  
 

9. It is worth noting that there is a difference between 'persistent' complainants 
and 'unreasonably persistent' complainants and the Council needs to 
remember that anyone who is aggrieved may be persistent, but some people 
may pursue the matter in an inappropriate way.  
 

10. The decision to designate someone as unreasonably persistent can only be 
made by a member of the Executive Leadership Team, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder and any other Councillors considered appropriate (or, in 
relation to vexatious and repeated requests for information under the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000, the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 or 
Subject Access Requests under  the Data Protection Act 2018 by the Legal 
Services Manager in liaison with a member of Executive Leadership Team 
accountable for the service area, who will be guided by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office).  
 

  

76

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2362/persistent-complainants-policy.pdf
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2362/persistent-complainants-policy.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Next Steps 

11. Following adoption, work to be done to the website to ensure these policies 
and supporting information can be found in one place and will use hyperlinks 
to allow easier access to more detailed information and signpost customers to 
the correct policy/procedure. 

12. Information will also include alternative ways to raise a complaint other than 
via a My Eastleigh account; whilst we encourage use of online methods of 
feedback, we also include alternatives for those customers that prefer to use 
other methods. 

13. Work will also focus on improving management information and reporting, 
providing service managers with improved performance information. 

14. A process for monitoring and reviewing complaints and feedback received to 
inform service improvements will also be designed. 

Financial Implications 

23.  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Risk Assessment 

24.  The complaints process can be used as a barometer and early warning of 
problems that may be unseen.  Furthermore, failure to use critical feedback to 
drive a culture of learning, reflection and improvement could result in poor 
customer service and unnecessary cost. 

25.  By not having clear policies on how staff should deal with compliments, 
comments and complaints and unreasonably persistent complainants or 
unreasonable complainant behaviour, there is a risk that this behaviour can 
have a detrimental impact on staff who the Council have a duty to protect. 
Furthermore, publication of the Policies provides clear expectation on 
ensuring complaints and complainants are dealt with in a way that is 
consistent and fair.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 26.  The process is accessible to all residents and will be dealt with according to 
policy. The Policies recognise the rights of complainants under the Human 
Rights Act 1998 and the Equality Act 2010.   

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

27.  There are no significant Climate Change implications from this report, or the 
complaints process itself.  
 

77



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Conclusion 

28.  This report summarises the changes to the Council’s Compliment, Comments 
and Complaints Procedure and Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and 
Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour Policy, which as a result of an internal 
review are now more closely aligned to provide a more efficient and simpler 
process for customers to follow.   

29.  Following scrutiny by the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel, it is 
recommended that Cabinet consider any recommendations from the Panel 
and approve the Policies in Appendix 1 and 2.   

LOUISE O’DRISCOLL 
EXECUTIVE HEAD OF CUSTOMER CARE  

 
Date: 27 May 2022 
Contact Officer: Louise O’Driscoll 
Tel No:  
e-mail: Louise.ODriscoll@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 2 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* None. 
 

78



  

  

 
CUSTOMER CARE  

COMPLIMENT, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS POLICY  
  

Introduction and Aims  
 

1 Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to ensuring equality of opportunity 
and access to its services and aims to provide the best service we can.   
 

2 This policy and our procedures aim to ensure fair, proportionate resolution at 
the earliest stage, be easy to use, be understandable and easily 
followed.  They are designed to be used when customers want to let us know 
when we are doing well, to make a suggestion or comment or raise a formal 
complaint where they feel there has been some form of persistent service 
failure which they believe is the Council’s fault.   
 

3 We aim to provide the best possible service and feedback from customers 
helps us to learn and improve. We appreciate customer comments, 
compliments and complaints regarding our services and staff and we will use 
the information gained to improve the quality of service we provide.  

 
4 We recognise that sometimes things can go wrong and if they do, we would 

like to know so that we can try to put them right.  We will deal with all 
complaints fairly and impartially.    
 

5 We aim to provide high quality services at all times. Feedback from our 
customers is important in helping us maintain and, if needed, improve the 
standards of services we provide. We welcome customers comments on their 
experiences, telling us where we have done well or making suggestions about 
the services they would like to receive.  
  

Compliments and comments  
  
We understand that customers may wish to share their experiences of using 
our services, give feedback and/or want to tell us when they think we are 

doing something particularly well.  Comments of this nature are welcome.   
Give a Compliment  

  
Definition of a Complaint  
 

6 A complaint is: ‘an expression of dissatisfaction about a Council service 
(whether that service is provided directly by the Council or by a contractor or 
partner) that requires a response.’  
 

79

https://my.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/compliment


7 You can make a complaint if you’re not satisfied with our service or:  
 

 you feel you have not been treated with courtesy or fairness   

 you are unhappy about the standard of service you have received   

 you feel we have failed to provide a service to which you are entitled   

 you are unhappy about the action taken by us.  
  

What this Policy does Cover  
  

8 This policy and our procedures will cover formal complaints about any form of 
service dissatisfaction or maladministration if you consider we have failed:  

 to provide information/correct information  

 to follow procedures  

 in our standard of work  

 to provide accurate advice or information, including our website content 
or accessibility to our website  

 to deliver without necessary or reasonable delays  

 to adhere to our rules and regulations  

 to treat you fairly and promptly  

 in the behaviour of our staff  

 in other matters, such as equality issues causing unfairness, barriers or 
accessibility to services  

  
Requests for service are not covered under this policy, although it may 
become a complaint if we fail to meet our service standards after receiving the 
initial request/enquiry.  

  
Where other more appropriate arrangements apply  

 

Certain types of issues or ways to report things fall outside of our Complaints 
process because there are more appropriate and quicker procedures in place 
to deal with them. Some examples of these are listed below:  

  
 Complaints relating to the conduct of Borough, Parish, or Town 

Councillors – these follow the Members' Code of Conduct  

 Dissatisfaction with politically-determined policy such as charges 
applied to services provided, our non-collection of bin policy, our waste 
& recycling policy or our policy on Council trees – please contact your 
local Councillor to raise your concerns  

 If you have received a penalty-charge-notice (PCN) 

 Whistleblowing Anti-Fraud and Corruption  

 Request the collection of a missed bin - please wait until the end of the 
working day to report a missed bin.    

 Comments on planning applications  

 To report a noise nuisance Noise Nuisance issue 

 Grass cutting/hedge maintenance/leaf clearance concerns report an 
issue  

80

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/councillors-meetings-and-decision-making/our-constitution/code-of-conduct-for-members
http://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?fn=ward
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/parking-travel-and-roads/parking/penalty-charge-notice
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5086/anti-fraud-and-corruption-policy.pdf
https://my.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/waste-and-recycling/non-collected-bin?Prepopulate=true
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-applications
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/environment/environmental-health/nuisance
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/environment/clean-streets/road-sweeping-leaf-clearance-grass-hedges-and-shrubs
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/environment/clean-streets/road-sweeping-leaf-clearance-grass-hedges-and-shrubs


 Setting up a Direct Debit for Council Tax payments pay-your-council-
tax  

 Non-payment of Council Tax non-payment-of-council-tax  

 FOI/EIR Requests FOI/EIR Request  

 Data Protection concerns Data Protection Contact  
  

However, this doesn’t preclude a comment, compliment or complaint being 
made regarding the level of service received using the following links:     

  
Give a Compliment   
Make a comment  
Make a complaint  
 

Matters that are dealt with by another professional 
body/organisation   

  

 Any matter being investigated or having been investigated by the Local 
Government Ombudsman LGO  

 Drain and flooding issues, (Hampshire County Council) Report flooding 
or drainage issue  

 Reports of traffic lights, congestion and road/potholes and highway 
maintenance https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/roadmaintenance  

 Universal Credit advice Universal Credit  
  

Exclusions  
 

Some matters are excluded from this policy as they are matters over which 
another judicial body will decide.  Examples of exclusions are:  

 

 Matters which are subject to litigation and/or have already been before 

a court/tribunal; 

 Where a court has made, is making or about to make a determination 

on the specifics of a complaint or matters that are subject to litigation 

and/or have already been before a court/tribunal; 

 Matters for which statutory appeal bodies or tribunals have been 

established - e.g., parking fines 

 Complaints where investigation(s) into the subject matter have taken 

place and have been concluded 

 Cases where the Council has taken a decision in a proper manner, or 

for an explanation of a decision. 

  

Anonymous Complaints  
  

9 It may be more difficult for us to investigate anonymous complaints and 
responses will not be able to be sent without the contact details of the person 
making the complaint.  However, complaints relating to vulnerable groups 

81

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council-tax/pay-your-council-tax
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council-tax/pay-your-council-tax
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council-tax/non-payment-of-council-tax
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/general-public-information/freedom-of-information/foi-and-eir-complaints-procedure
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/data-protection-contacts
https://my.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/compliment
https://my.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/comment
https://my.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/customer-care
http://www.lgo.org.uk/
http://roadenquiries.hants.gov.uk/roadproblems/highwaydefect/otherdrainage.aspx
http://roadenquiries.hants.gov.uk/roadproblems/highwaydefect/otherdrainage.aspx
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/roadmaintenance
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/benefits-support-and-employment/universal-credit


such as children, the elderly and people with learning disabilities or mental ill 
health will be considered and investigated if there are safeguarding issues.  

  
  Who can complain?  
 

 Residents  

 Anyone visiting or working in the Borough  

 Anyone acting on behalf of an individual or group of individuals, 
provided they have written consent to do so, including MPs, 
Councillors, Advice Agencies and other advocacy groups  

  

Making a Complaint  
 

10 Our procedure has two Stages.    

 

 Stage One – Stage One will be investigated by the Service Manager or 
staff member from the area responsible for the service that was 
provided, and they will respond directly to the person who raised the 
complaint.    

 

 Stage Two – We will endeavour to resolve your complaint at Stage 
One, however if you remain dissatisfied with the response received or 
the resolution proposed you may request that your complaint is 
escalated to Stage Two.  Complaints escalated to this stage will be 
reviewed by an independent Senior Manager.   

  

11 All complaints will be investigated robustly and we will consider our findings 
properly. 
    

12 You may contact the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman, (LGO) if 

you are not satisfied with our explanation or suggested resolution.  The 
Ombudsman will usually expect you to have taken your complaint through 
both stages of our procedure before you contact them, however, in 
accordance with the LGO guidance, for complaints that do not fall under a 
statutory process, we may inform you at Stage One of this procedure if we 
feel we have reached our final decision, in which case we will direct you to the 
LGO in our response to you. 

 
Timescales  

  
13 A complaint made under this policy must be raised within six months of the 

issue or incident for which you feel dissatisfied having occurred.  Complaints 
received that are older than six months will need to be accompanied with an 
explanation regarding why it was not possible for the complaint to be raised 
within this timescale and any decision to investigate this or not, will be at our 
discretion.  
 

82

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 We will aim to acknowledge a complaint within three working days of 
receiving it.  
 

 We will aim to respond to complaints within 15 working days after 
acknowledgement; a total of 18 working days from the date 
received.  

 

14 Some issues may take longer to investigate. If this is the case, we will keep 
you informed of any delays that may occur and may require an extension of 
timescale.  
 

15 Some complaints may require another procedure to be started or be part of a 
process that has already started, and it may not be possible to provide a full 
response until that process has been concluded. If this is the case, we will 
advise you of this and keep you informed where possible, of the outcome.  

  

How to Make a Complaint 
 

16 You can make a comment, compliment or complaint:  

 On-line via your MyEastleigh  account  

 By Email (customerservicecentre@eastleigh.gov.uk)  

 By letter  

 By telephone   

 In person  
Our Contact Details 

 

17 If you wish to have a representative acting on your behalf, we will need 
confirmation from you that you are happy for us to contact and liaise with 
them directly to ensure we are acting in your best interests.  

 
Completed Complaints  

 

18 Where the complaint has gone through the Council’s corporate complaints 
procedure and is closed, we will not enter into further correspondence about 
the complaint, and any further correspondence on the same subject will be 
read and placed on file but will receive no acknowledgement or response.  

  
Equalities  

  
19 We are committed to positively promoting equality of opportunity and have 

due regard to our duties under the Equality Act 2010.  We seek to do this via 
our Equalities Policy and Action Plan.  
 

  

Putting Things Right  
  

20 We will endeavour to deal with any concerns fairly, fully and in a timely 
manner. We will acknowledge our mistakes and apologise for them where we 

83

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council


are at fault, and we will explain why things went wrong and what we will do to 
prevent the same problem recurring in future.    
 

21 Examples of ways in which we can resolve a problem are:  
 

 Apologise  

 Take the action that should have been taken before you had cause to 
complain  

 Reconsider a decision that was not taken properly (excluding matters 
being considered under a process other than this one)  

 Improve our procedures to prevent recurrence  

 Repay money owed if applicable  
  

22 In a small number of cases customers sometimes pursue their cases in a way 
that can impede the investigation of their complaint and their behaviour can 
become unacceptable, for example, abusive, offensive or threatening.  This 
behaviour inhibits our staffs’ ability to do their work and provide services to 
others.  In these cases, we may decide to take action to restrict the contact 
that person has with the Council.   
Any such action will be taken in compliance with the Council’s Persistent 
Complainants and Unreasonable Complainants Behaviour Policy 

  
 Equalities  

  
23 We are committed to positively promoting equality of opportunity and have 

due regard to our duties under the Equality Act 2010.  We seek to do this via 
our Equalities Policy and Action Plan.  

 

Retention of Documents   
  

24 We keep all information confidential, particularly names and addresses that 
can identify a complainant, site or complaint.  However, we may be obliged to 
disclose some information under certain statutory provisions.  Please view our 
Privacy Policy and our Retention and Disposal Schedule for more 
information.  

  
   

 

84

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2362/persistent-complainants-policy.pdf
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2362/persistent-complainants-policy.pdf
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-areas
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/retention-and-disposal-schedule


1  

 

 
 

POLICY FOR DEALING WITH 
UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINANTS AND 

UNREASONABLE COMPLAINANT BEHAVIOUR 

Introduction 

1 Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to dealing with all complaints fairly and 
impartially and to providing a high-quality service. Having a policy on unreasonably 
persistent complainants and unreasonable complainant behaviour helps the 
Council to deal with complainants in ways that are consistent and fair. 

2 The majority of complaints are dealt with through the standard complaints 
procedures without difficulty, and the Compliments, Comments and Complaints 
Policy will therefore apply to most complaints received by Eastleigh Borough 
Council.  

 

Definitions 

3 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman has defined ‘unreasonable’ 
and ‘unreasonably persistent’ complainants as those who, because of the 
frequency or nature of their contacts with the local authority, hinder the Authority’s 
consideration of their, or other people’s, complaints. The term ‘contacts’ refers to 
any channel or method of contact and is not limited to contact via the complaints 
process.  

4 It should be noted that almost all complainants see themselves as pursuing 
justified complaints. 

5 Unreasonably persistent complainants may have legitimate complaints but be 
pursuing them in inappropriate ways, or they may be intent on pursuing complaints 
which appear to have no substance, or which have already been investigated and 
determined. Their contacts with Eastleigh Borough Council may be very 
emotionally charged and distressing for all involved, or they may be agreeable but 
still place very heavy demands on staff time. 

6 Sometimes the situation between Eastleigh Borough Council and a complainant 
can escalate and the behaviour moves to that which is unacceptable and 
unreasonable, for example, abusive, offensive or threatening behaviour. Such 
complainants are in a very small minority, but sometimes Eastleigh Borough 
Council finds itself in the position of having to instigate action under this policy. 

7 In extreme situations, the Council may resort to involving the Police or taking legal 
action to address such behaviour. 

8 Raising legitimate queries or criticisms of a complaints procedure as it progresses, 
for example if agreed timescales are not met, should not in itself lead to someone 
being regarded as an unreasonably persistent complainant. 

9 Similarly, the fact that a complainant is unhappy with the outcome of a complaint 

85



2  

and seeks to challenge it once, or more than once, should not necessarily cause 
them to be considered unreasonably persistent /vexatious. 

 

10 Unreasonable complainant behaviour can come about when the situation between 
the Council and a customer escalates and the customer’s behaviour becomes 
unacceptable (e.g., abusive, offensive, or threatening). Examples of unreasonable 
complainant behaviour include: 

 

 Refusing to specify the grounds of the complaint, despite offers of assistance; 

 Refusing to accept that certain issues are not within the scope or remit of the 
complaints procedure 

 Insisting on the complaint being dealt with in ways which are incompatible 
with the adopted complaints procedure or within good practice 

 Refusal by the complainant to cooperate with the complaints process, yet still 
wanting their complaint to be resolved 

 Introduction of new, trivial or irrelevant information at a late stage and 
expecting it to be taken into account and commented on or raising large 
numbers of detailed but unimportant questions and insisting they are all fully 
answered 

 Covertly recording meetings and conversations 

 Submitting falsified documents from themselves or others 

 Adoption of a ‘scattergun’ approach – pursuing a complaint with one team 
and, at the same time, with other teams within the Council and/or with other 
parties, e.g., the MP, a Councillor, the Police, solicitors, or the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

 Making excessive demands on the time and resources of staff whilst the 
complaint is being investigated – e.g., excessive telephoning or sending e-mails 
to numerous Council staff, writing lengthy complex letters every few days and 
expecting immediate responses 

 Submission of repeat complaints – after the complaints process has been 
completed – essentially about the same issue but with minor additions/ 
variations which the complainant insists make these ‘new’ complaints which 
they want to be put through the full complaints procedure 

 Submission of the same complaint previously investigated and completed, 
essentially about the same issue but with minor additions/variations by a third 
party on behalf of the original complainant 

 Refusal to accept the decision reached on the complaint – repeatedly 
arguing the point and complaining about the decision, with no new evidence 

 Making apparently groundless complaints about staff dealing with the 
complaint including seeking to have those staff removed/replaced 

 Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds and/or 
denying statements they made at an earlier stage 

 Inappropriate behaviour towards Council staff investigating or involved in 
the complaint such as inappropriate use of language, aggression or 
violence 

 Combinations of some or all of the above. 
 

This list is not exhaustive and unreasonably persistent complainant behaviour is not 
limited to one (or a combination of any) of the above. 

 

  

86



3  

Aim 

11 The aim of the policy for dealing with unreasonably persistent complainants and 
unreasonable complainant behaviour, is to deal fairly and honestly with the 
complainant whilst ensuring that other service users and Council staff do not suffer 
any detriment from people making repeated and persistent, unreasonable 
complaints – whilst recognising the rights of complainants under the Human Rights 
Act 1998. 

12 The objectives of the policy are to: 

 Ensure all staff understand the objectives and requirements of the Unreasonably 
Persistent Complainants and Complainant Behaviour Policy 

 Promote problem solving and to avoid apportioning blame. The emphasis should 
be on finding a solution 

 Satisfy those who complain or comment that they have been dealt with promptly, 
fairly, openly and honestly 

 Resolve complaints quickly and as close to the point of service delivery as 
acceptable and appropriate 

 Protect staff from abusive and unacceptable behaviour from customers. 

Dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complainants 
 

Prior to applying restrictions 
 

13 Before a decision is made on whether to apply this policy, the complainant should be 
given a warning in writing by the Service Manager (or member of Executive 
Leadership Team) to explain why they find their behaviour is unreasonable 
/unacceptable, ask them to change the behaviour and that if their actions continue, 
the Council may decide to treat them as an unreasonably persistent complainant.  

 

Assessing whether the action is proportionate and necessary 

14 Consideration of the following points, together with any other relevant information, 
will be necessary to assess whether the proposed action is proportionate and 
necessary: 

 

 Is the complaint being investigated properly and in accordance with the 
Council’s policy for investigating complaints? 

 Is there another, more specific, path for the complainant to follow (e.g., an 
appeal process if they are complaining about, say, a planning decision or a 
benefits decision)? 

 Are the correct timescales being adhered to? 

 Has the complainant been advised of any delays that may have occurred? 

 Are the considerations/decisions reached as part of the investigation 
being reached correctly? 

 Have communications with the complainant been adequate, clear and 
coordinated? 

 Has consideration been given to the possibility of issues such as poor 
mental health or mental illness, learning disabilities, or personality 
disorders?  

 Is the complainant now providing any significant new information that might 
affect the Council’s view on their complaint? 

87



4  

 

 

 

 

 

Assessing whether further action is necessary before designating the 
complainant ‘unreasonably persistent’ 

 

15 If satisfied on these points, consideration should be given as to whether further 
action is necessary prior to making the decision to designate the complainant as 
unreasonably persistent, for example: 

 

 Have any meetings taken place between the complainant and an investigating, 
or senior officer? If not (unless there is a known risk about such a meeting), 
would this be likely to help the situation? (The complainant may be 
accompanied by an advocate, if they wish, if it is considered that a meeting may 
help the situation). 

 Is more than one team being contacted by an unreasonably persistent 
complainant?  If so, consideration could be given to setting up a strategy 
meeting to agree a cross-team approach and the designation of a key officer 
to coordinate the Council’s response. 

 

Options for action 
 

16 The precise nature of the action the Council decides to take should be 
appropriate and proportionate to the nature and frequency of the complainant’s 
contacts with the Council at that time. 

 

17 The following is a list of some possible actions for managing a complainant’s 
involvement with the Council. (The list is not exhaustive and local case-by-
case factors may be relevant in deciding appropriate action): 

 

 Placing time limits on telephone conversations and personal contacts; 
 Restricting the number of telephone calls that will be taken (e.g., one call 

on one specified day of any week); 

 Limiting the complainant to one contact medium (e.g., telephone, letter, e-
mail) and/or requiring the complainant to communicate with one named 
member of staff; 

 Requiring personal contacts to take place in the presence of a witness; 

 Refusing to register/process further complaints about the same matter; 

 Other action may be taken, for example reporting the matter to the police 
or taking legal action. Where such action is necessary the Council may 
not give warning; 

 Only meet the complainant at Council Offices and by appointment only. 
 

18 Where, following restriction of access being implemented, a complainant continues 
to behave in a way that is unacceptable the Council may: 

 Terminate contact through the various mechanisms of contacting the Council; 
 Temporarily or permanently restrict/not allow access to Eastleigh Borough 

Council offices; 
 Report the matter to the police; 
 Take legal action. 

  

88



5  

 

 

Dealing with Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour 

19 The Council has a duty to ensure the health, safety and welfare of its staff and it 
does not expect staff to tolerate language or behaviour by complainants which is 
abusive, offensive, or threatening. Contact can include but is not limited to: 

 Face to face 

 Telephone 

 Email/correspondence 

 Online/social Media 
 

20 Examples of aggressive and unreasonable behaviour can include: 
 

 Shouting and making unreasonable demands. 

 Making threats to members of staff who are trying to help. 

 Using abusive and upsetting language to members of staff. 

 Refusing to leave Council premises until the problem is resolved. 
 Their continued presence causes disruption/distress to others. 

 

21 During an interaction, if staff consider that the customer is becoming aggressive 
and/or offensive, they will inform the customer that they will terminate the interaction 
unless such behaviour ceases. If the aggression continues, the member of staff will 
terminate the interaction and a note will be placed on file explaining why. 

 

22 Unreasonable or repeated behaviour of this nature could constitute harassment 
which should, after consultation with a senior officer and the Legal Services 
Manager, be reported to the Police. 

 
23 Difficult situations such as these can sometimes be resolved by being patient, 

remaining calm, listening and identifying the exact nature of the problem. The 
health and wellbeing of staff is paramount, and consideration should be given to 
the safe systems of work.  

 

24 Where the behaviour is so extreme that it threatens the immediate safety and 
welfare of the Council’s staff, other options will be considered – e.g., reporting the 
matter to the Police or taking legal action.  In such cases, the complainant may not 
be given warning of that action. 

 

Application of the Policy 

25 The decision to designate someone as unreasonably persistent can only be made 
by a member of the Executive Leadership Team accountable for the Service Area, 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder and any other Councillors considered 
appropriate (or, in relation to vexatious and repeated requests for information under 
the Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations 2004 
or the Data Protection Act 2018, by the Legal Services Manager in liaison with a 
member of the Executive Leadership Team accountable for the Service Area, who 
will be guided by the Information Commissioner’s Office). 

26 If the decision is made to apply the policy and designate the complainant as a 

89



6  

persistent complainant and/or complainant behaving unreasonably, the relevant 
Head of Service/Service Manager (or member of Executive Leadership Team) will 
write to the complainant to: 

 

 Inform them that the decision has been taken to invoke the policy and outline the 
reasons why. 

 Explain the restrictions which will be applied and what it means for their 
contact(s) with the Council. 

 Explain how long any restrictions will last. 

 Explain what the complainant can do to have the decision reviewed. 

 Enclose a copy of this policy with the letter. 
 

Records 

27 Adequate records must be kept when this policy is applied. The information should 
be treated as confidential and only shared with those who may be affected by the 
decision. The following records will be maintained by Customer Care in line with the 
Council’s Retention Schedule and General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR):  

 

 When a decision is taken to apply (or not to apply) the policy following a 
request to do so by a member of staff. 

 The decision taken and by whom; including details of the assessment made 
and why it is proportionate. 

 The restrictions applied, the timescale and review dates. 

 When a decision is taken to make an exception to the policy after it has been 
applied (if, say, extenuating circumstances subsequently come to light). 

 When a decision is taken (and the reason) not to put a further complaint from 
the same complainant through the complaints procedure. 

 When a decision is taken not to respond to further correspondence (having 
made sure that any further letters, e-mails, etc., from the complainant do not 
have any significant new information). 

 

Future Complaints by the Same Complainant 

28 When/if the complainant makes a complaint about a new issue, this should be 
treated on its merits and a decision will need to be taken by the Service Manager 
in consultation with their Executive Head on whether any restrictions which have 
been applied before, are still appropriate/necessary. It is recognised that any new 
complaint may represent a genuine service failure and therefore needs to be 
reviewed objectively regardless of who is bringing the complaint. 

29 Once the complaint has been considered, a risk assessment will also be carried 
out by the Service Manager in consultation with their Executive Head based on 
past and current knowledge of the complainant’s behaviour and the likelihood of 
re-occurrence of any unacceptable behaviour. 

30 Any decision not to pursue a new complaint must be clearly recorded within the 
complaint record and retained in line with the Council’s Retention Schedule and 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).  

 

Reviews of Decisions 

31 Reviews of decisions to restrict a complainant’s contacts, or the Council’s 
responses to those contacts, should be carried out annually by the Service 

90

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/retention-and-disposal-schedule


7  

Manager in liaison with a member of the Executive Leadership Team accountable 
for the service area and a record of this review will be retained. 

32 If no further contact has been received from the complainant over a period of 12 
months, consideration should be given to whether it would be reasonable to 
cancel the restrictions. (However, urgent assessment will be necessary to re-
introduce them if behaviour which led to the original decision recommences.). The 
outcome of this review should be recorded in the records held by Customer Care.  

33 After review, the Service Manager will notify the complainant, in writing, of the 
outcome. If restrictions are not cancelled, an explanation of the reason(s) why will 
be provided to the complainant. 

  

Referral to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

34 In some cases, relations between the Council and the complainant can break down 
and there is little prospect of achieving a satisfactory outcome.  In such 
circumstances there is often little point in working through all stages of the Council’s 
complaints procedure. Where this occurs, the Ombudsman may be prepared to 
consider a complaint before the Council’s complaints procedure has been 
exhausted. 

 

35 A complainant who has been designated ‘unreasonably persistent’ or using 
‘unreasonable complainant behaviour’, may make a complaint to the 
Ombudsman about the way in they have been treated. 

 

36 The Ombudsman is unlikely to be critical of the Council’s action if it can be 
shown that the Council’s policy has been operated properly and fairly. 

 
Responsibility for the Procedures 

 
37 Overall responsibility for the Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and 

Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour Policy will lie with the Monitoring Officer under 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
38 The Customer Care Team will take responsibility for the application of all aspects of 

the procedures at service and organisational level (other than complaints relating 
specifically to requests for information under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and the Data Protection Act 2018 which 
will be the responsibility of the Legal Services Manager). The Service’s Executive 
Head will act as overall coordinator for unreasonably persistent complaints and 
unreasonable complainant behaviour handling in their service areas. 

Dated: January 2017 

Reviewed:  June 2021 and June 2022 

91



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Thursday, 7 July 2022  

COUNCILLORS' ALLOWANCES - ACTUAL AMOUNTS PAID FOR 
THE YEAR 2021/22 

Report of the Democratic Services Manager 

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that the allowances paid in 2021/2022 contained in Appendix 1 to 
this report are noted. 

 

Summary 
 
The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 2003 require that every 
authority publicise, within its area, the sum paid by it in that year under the scheme to each 
Councillor and co-opted member in respect of basic allowance, special responsibility 
allowance, dependents' carers allowance, travelling and subsistence allowance.  This 
report provides the details of these allowances paid in the year 2021/2022. 
 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 2003 Statutory Instrument 
2003 No. 1021. 

Local Government Act 2000: New Constitutions – Allowances for Members of Local 
Authorities. 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The report relates to the statutory reporting of Councillors’ Allowances, which 
underpins the delivery against all of the Council’s Corporate Plan (2015-2025) 
objectives. 
 

93

Agenda Item 12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Introduction 

2. It is a requirement of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 
2003 that the actual allowances paid relating to basic allowance, special 
responsibility allowance, dependents' carers allowance, travelling and 
subsistence allowance are published in the local press.  The allowances paid 

to elected and independent persons in 2021/22 are shown in Appendix 1.  
 

3. In June 2018 the Council’s Administration Committee considered the findings 
of the Independent Remuneration Panel’s full review of Councillors’ 
Allowances and made recommendations to Council as to the level of the Basic 
Allowance and of Special Responsibility Allowances for the year 2018/2019 
and beyond (for a maximum four-year period).   

 
4. The four-year maximum period expired on 31 March 2022. An Independent 

Renumeration Panel will be recommended for appointment at the 
Administration Committee on 27 June 2022, to carry out a full review of 
Councillors Allowances.  The findings of the review will be reported to the 
Administration Committee on 10 October and Council on 28 November 2022 
for approval.  

Financial Implications 

5. The amount paid to Councillors in 2021/22 has been met within the Council’s 
budget for Councillors allowances and expenses.   
 

Risk Assessment 

6. This report is provided for information only and as such there is no risk arising 
from the decision. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

7. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report dealing with internal or procedural matters only. Therefore, it is 
considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

8. Councillors are encouraged to travel sustainably where possible on Council 
business to reduce the impact on the environment.  Following the Covid-19 
pandemic, many informal meetings have continued to be held remotely 
therefore reducing the need for Councillors to travel to these. 
 

Conclusion 

9. The information regarding allowances claimed by each Councillor in detail is 
given at Appendix 1 to this report.  The information will be reported in the local 

94



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

press in July 2022. 
 

LAURA JOHNSTON 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES MANAGER 

 
Date: 9 June 2022 
Contact Officer: Laura Johnston  
Tel No: 02380688041 
e-mail: laura.johnston@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* None. 
 

95



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Travel &

Area Committee Subsistence Length of Mobile Phone

Basic Group and Other Panels and other Total Time in Office

Allowance Leader/Cabinet Allowances expenses of All in months

£ £ £ £ £

Elected Members

Airey D 7,330.40 8,229.60 - 15,560.00 12

Allingham M 7,330.40 - 7,330.40 12

Asman J 7,330.40 - 855.96 - 8,186.36 12

Atkinson M 663.48 545.75 1,209.23 2

Bearder T 7,330.40 7,330.40 12

Bicknell P 7,330.40 9,602.00 740.95 - 17,673.35 12

Bourne A 7,330.40 3,770.03 11,100.43 12

Broadhurst A 7,330.40 1,208.85 - 8,539.25 12

Broomfield S 6,621.00 1,829.00 8,450.00 11

Buckley A 6,621.00 6,621.00 11

Campbell T 7,330.40 470.24 - 7,800.64 12

Clarke D 7,330.40 - 235.39 - 7,565.79 12

Corben I 7,330.40 8,229.60 1,485.67 17,045.67 12

Couldrey N 716.56 - 341.15 - 1,057.71 2

Craig T 7,330.40 8,229.60 3,430.20 18,990.20 12

Cross M 7,330.40 - 686.04 - 8,016.44 12

Dean R 7,330.40 740.91 8,071.31 12

Dougie J 5,480.71 5,480.71 10

Duguid J 7,330.40 2,968.94 10,299.34 12

Garton C 7,330.40 - 3,429.96 440.00 11,200.36 12

Gomer R 7,330.40 2,742.00 12.80 10,085.20 12

Grajewski J 7,330.40 2,920.50 - 22.50 10,273.40 12

Groves T 7,330.40 117.35 7,447.75 12

Holes S 7,330.40 3,597.96 10,928.36 12

House K 7,330.40 20,765.40 - 478.70 28,574.50 12 352.56

Irish W 7,330.40 - 35.10 7,365.50 12 174

Jurd L 7,330.40 7,330.40 12

Kinloch D 6,621.00 6,621.00 11

Kyrle RGM 7,330.40 8,229.60 - 15,560.00 12

Mann D 7,330.40 - 7,330.40 12

Manning A 7,330.40 220.00 7,550.40 12

Marsh M 7,330.40 7,330.40 12

Park T 6,621.00 6,621.00 11

Parker-Jones L 7,330.40 5,487.00 2,968.94 - 15,786.34 12

Pragnell D 7,330.40 - - - 7,330.40 12

Pretty DR 7,330.40 8,229.60 - 15,560.00 12

Rich J 7,330.40 - - - 7,330.40 12

Rushton R 7,330.40 - 117.35 - 7,447.75 12

Tennent B 7,330.40 - 7,330.40 12

Tidridge V 7,330.40 7,330.40 12

Trace A 716.56 716.56 2

Tyson-Payne S 7,330.40 8.50 7,338.90 12

Total For Elected Members 283,294.91 82,297.65 29,907.89 1,217.60 396,718.05 526.56

Mardell J 690.96 690.96 12

Burnell E 690.96 - - - 690.96 12

Total For Independent Persons 1,381.92 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,381.92

Total of All Members 284,676.83 82,297.65 29,907.89 1,217.60 398,099.97 398,626.53

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES) REGULATIONS 2003

Allowances paid to Members of Eastleigh Borough Council for the year 2021/22

97



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 23 June 2022  

CABINET 

Thursday, 7 July 2022 

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Report of the Corporate Leadership Board 

 

Recommendation(s) 

For Policy and Performance:  
 
(1) It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel note the 

performance and financial outturn position of the Council, making any 
recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate.  
 

For Cabinet:  
 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(2) note the performance of the Council for 2021/22 and the Council’s provisional 
financial position for the year and consider any recommendations from Policy 
and Performance Scrutiny Panel; 

(3) note the performance of the Community Investment Programme (Appendix 
C); 

(4) approve additional capital expenditure for the Lakeside Community Facilities 
of £313,000 to be funded from borrowing, with the borrowing costs of £13,000 
per annum to be financed from revenue growth. 

(5) approve additional capital expenditure for Bandstand Court of £617,000 to be 
funded from borrowing, with the revenue costs being met by additional 
income. 

(6) note the Treasury Management Outturn Position as at 31 March 2022 
(Appendix O); 

(7) approve transfers to and from reserves as per Appendix P. 

 

Summary 
 
This report presents the Council’s financial and operational performance outturn position 

99

Agenda Item 13



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

for 2021/22 against the rolling budget. The report also highlights significant and emerging 
financial and performance issues and progress against delivery of the Corporate Action 
Plan. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for service areas are outlined in Appendix A of 
the report. Service performance and financial variances are commented on in Appendices 
E-M.  

The provisional financial position for 2021/22 is a total net favourable variance against the 
Rolling Budget of £463,000.  

Capital expenditure for financial year 2021/22 was £48.2M compared to the Rolling Budget 
for the year of £48M. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Sections 41 and 42 Local Government Act 
1972, Section 151 Local Government Act 1972 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Regular monitoring and management of the Council’s performance, including 
financial performance, is essential to ensuring delivery against strategic 
objectives set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-2025 and actions in 
the Corporate Action Plan 21/22, and contributes to the management of 
corporate risk. The report details budget variances compared to the rolling 
budget. The report also details key performance indicators which allows 
monitoring of performance trends. Individual variances and performance 
measures are being actively managed by service managers with the support 
of the Finance team. 

 

Introduction 

2. This report brings together the Council’s strategic ambitions, its performance 
working towards them, and the financial implications and challenges of both. 
This enables transparency of the Council’s services and performance and 
presents a full picture of the overall position. 

3. The Council performed well in 2021/22 considering the challenging 
environment, changes in the labour market, and customer demand. The 
£463,000 net underspend across all areas of the Council enables a positive 
reserve transfer; however, forecasting needs to become more accurate 
throughout the year to ensure resources are appropriately directed to delivery 
of services.  Where areas of challenge have been identified action continues 
to be taken to mitigate impacts and improve performance in the short and 
longer term.  

4. Further detail on operational delivery is included within the Executive 
Summary Reports [Appendices E-M]. 

5. The report contains, in the Appendices, details of the following: 

100



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendix  Description 
A Council Strategy Scorecard 

[Detail for P&P, Summary for Cabinet] 

B Portfolio Variance Report 

C Community Investment Programme (CIP) Monitoring 

D Financial Risk Assessment  

E Finance and Housing Executive Summary Report 

F Assets and Project Delivery Executive Summary Report 

G Governance Executive Summary Report 

H Customer Care Executive Summary Report 

I Organisational Development Executive Summary Report 

J Planning and Economy Executive Summary Report 

K Environment Executive Summary Report 

L Health and Wellbeing Executive Summary Report 

M Neighbourhood Services Executive Summary Report 

N Corporate Action Plan 21/22 

O Treasury Management Outturn Report 

P Reserves Balances 
 

Strategic Overview 

6. Planning for 21/22 was conducted with the expectation that service levels 
would stabilise and return to pre-pandemic levels in most areas, with the 
safety of staff and residents the main priority. 

7. Performance overall is good considering the fluctuating patterns of customer 
behaviour and demand.  These levels of uncertainty are reducing, but some 
uncertainty will persist into 2022/23 and services are already working on 
ensuring best possible forecasts of demand and any potential financial impact. 
Performance has been hampered in some areas due to labour market 
challenges also being experienced by many other councils.  It will be 
important for the Council to improve and further develop its approach to 
prioritising and planning during 2022/23 and beyond, in order to move an 
optimum position that sees the Council continuing to deliver against priorities 
whilst being able to reasonably respond to unplanned events.  

8. The Corporate Action Plan (CAP) 2021/22 sets out the main outward-facing 
actions the Council planned for 21/22.  Progress at Quarter 4 and for the year 
(shown at Appendix N) is good overall, with over half of the actions 
considered ‘green’ (completed on time), with the remaining actions considered 
‘amber’ indicating significant progress towards completion or a slight delay to 
completion, often for reasons beyond the Council’s control. No actions are 
showing as ‘red’ (no action taken). The closing position for the year therefore 
is positive with a large amount of ambitious activity successfully completed or 
progressing well towards completion. (Actions in Local Area Action Plans for 
2021/22 are reported to Local Area Committees.) 

101

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/6510/corporate-action-plan.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Service Performance 

9. Performance monitoring covers the full financial year 2021/22, running from 
April 2021 to March 2022. Appendix A shows a scorecard summary for Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs are organised into five strategic 
themes: Environment; Economy; Health and Wellbeing; Housing and 
Development; and Organisation.  

10. Service managers have reviewed their financial and service performance for 
the full year. The aggregate position of the Council is a net underspend 
against the approved net Rolling Budget for 2021/22 of £463,000.  

11. The elements relating to the financial performance of services is detailed in 
the Executive Summary Reports in Appendices E-M. An outline of the key 
issues is detailed below [Paras 14 to 25], with the relevant Portfolio identified 
in bold. 

102



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

12. The table below shows the summarised General Fund statement by Portfolio; 
a full breakdown of these variances by service is shown in Appendix B:  

 
Revised Rolling Actual Outturn 

 
Budget Budget Outturn Variance 

Portfolio Name £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

     Area Committees (Net of 
Gross Cost Adjustment) 1,286 2,626 2,487 138 

Skills & Business (221) (130) (463) 333 

Environment 7,248 5,144 5,070 73 

Health 2,471 1,741 1,621 120 

Planning and Property (8,937) 12,042 10,301 1,741 

Social Policy 2,548 2,422 2,442 (20) 

Transport 113 (141) (511) 371 

          

Position on Services 4,508 23,704 20,948 2,756 

     Non-Service Related Items (1,704) (20,872) (18,579) (2,293) 

          

Net Position 2,805 2,832 2,369 463 
 

13. The Revised net budget position approved in February 2022 has moved by 
£27,000 as the approved revenue growth for the market street units has now 
been loaded, creating an increased budgeted transfer from reserve of 
£2,832,000. It should also be noted that budgets across services have also 
changed to reflect statutory accounting adjustments such as valuations, 
pension and capital accounting requirements. These adjustments get 
reversed out within the non-Service related items and have no net impact on 
the budget.  

14. The Council continued to divert resources toward the Afghan resettlement 
scheme in order to assist with the national emergency. Despite the pressures, 
core services have been maintained, and the Council continues to plan based 
on its best assessment of the position. During the final quarter, the Council 
began planning its response to the Ukrainian refugee crisis, and worked with 
its partners to establish service provision.  

15. Like many other employers, the Council’s ability to recruit has been 
significantly affected by the national situation and, as such, an internal review 
of recruitment is in progress to address this key priority for the Council. 
Recommendations are continuing to develop, and action has been taken 
during the quarter to help the position. The overall review is connected to the 
Council’s People Strategy and so focuses on both recruitment and retention. 
Where required, targeted recruitment campaigns have been initiated to 
support hard to recruit posts and the Council has adapted where it advertises 
vacancies to increase visibility. The Council continues to focus on improving 

103



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

its retention position to reduce the need for recruitment and to support the 
career development of existing staff.  

16. During the quarter, the government published the ‘Living with Covid’ plan and 
ended legal restrictions in England. This led to a return toward prior levels of 
consumer activity, alongside a renewed spike in cases with the Omicron 
variant. Demand for Parking (Transport) and associated income greatly 
exceeded expectations anticipated when constructing the Revised Budget by 
(£298,000).  The majority of this upturn was due to increased return to office 
working in the Borough resulting in increased day parking income, although 
this is still short of pre-pandemic levels. 

17. Frontline services such as Waste and Streetscene Services (Environment) 
were most impacted by sickness absences while Covid-19 cases were high, 
which increased the pressure on existing staff and the need for alternate 
resource solutions, costing £136,000, to maintain service provision.  

18. The emergence of the cost-of-living crisis stems from the recent spike in 
inflation for household expenditure such as fuel and energy costs, which is 
having a disproportionally detrimental effect on the most vulnerable within the 
Borough who spend a larger percentage of their income on these items. 
Service improvements, including the use of external funding and strategic 
solutions, are reinforcing the Council’s welfare services which are already 
experiencing increased engagement.  This includes Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Support (Social) where claim processing times have continued to 
improve despite an increasing level of cases. 

19. The Council has been protected throughout 2021/22 from energy price 
fluctuations through fixed-tariff contracts in place until March 2022. 
Furthermore, the volatility of the energy market has improved the Council’s 
financial position by £81,000 where we are on a variable tariff with the off-
taker, such as at Chalcroft Solar Park (Environment). The transition to 
Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil, while significantly reducing carbon emissions, 
has not avoided the sustained rise in the cost of fuel as prices have continued 
to increase. However, an increased provision has been made in the budget for 
continued high prices for both fuel and energy in 2022/23 which will be kept 
under regular review. 

20. Inflation across other categories such as construction materials and vehicle 
parts has created pressures delivering Council activities including the delivery 
of capital projects. Changes to policy and supply chain management are being 
investigated. Project business cases are regularly assessed to ensure they 
remain viable. 

21. Early development of process improvement and centralising the customer 
view by the IT service (Planning and Property), has brought forward 
expenditure, including system licences, of £183,000 earlier than planned. 
Whilst progress of development work remains healthy, vacancies in the 
infrastructure team may impact delivery timetables and create some future 
cost pressures due to unplanned licencing renewals. Further work is ongoing 
to minimise the risk. 

104



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

22. The Climate and Environmental Emergency continues to be a priority for the 
Council. The reserve funding drawn down has been used to better establish 
the foundations of the Council’s aspirations and to deliver the action plan. 
Progress has continued and the additional staff time and resources has 
started to move actions assessed as red, to amber. A tender process has 
been completed for three electric refuse vehicles and the installation of 
electric vehicle charging points in Eastleigh car parks will continue during 
2022/23.   

23. Corporate Financial Services (Planning and Property) is showing a 

favourable variance of £315,000. £215,000 of this relates to grant income 

which has been set aside in a new New Burdens Reserve. The remaining 

£100,000 additional income is from the sale of the service externally and 

additional duties provided to partner companies which was not envisaged in 

Quarter 3. 

24. Following the increased speed of recommencement of Council Tax and 
NNDR (Skills & Business) debt recovery the service saw an increase of 
£305,000 in income from Court Costs. This will be added to the new New 
Burdens Reserve. 

25. The recent Strategic Land purchases have proved to be very successful 
helping to not only deliver the Green Energy Network for One Horton Heath 
but also generate receipts from the sale of Nitrate Credits. These receipts total 
£1.5M which is showing as a surplus in Strategic Housing (Planning and 
Property). This surplus is being used to repay the debt incurred on the land 
earlier (para 26c). 

 
26. Non-Service related items have resulted in a variance of £2.3M: 

(a) Interest payable saved £224,000 against the Revised Budget. As 
reported throughout the year, interest rates have been on an upward 
trajectory as the Bank of England has tightened policy in response to 
increasing inflation.  However, due to active treasury management, the 
Council has managed to both use internal resources to reduce the 
need to borrow externally and has also attained favourable borrowing 
rates at levels below the budgeted interest rate for the year. 

(b) Interest and Investment income has also achieved a favourable 
position of £1.1m; the majority of this is due to a favourable variance of 
£800,000 on the Pembers housing development loan caused by 
increased sales values at Pembers, leading to increased profitability for 
the scheme.  £10.6m of the loan for the Pembers housing development 
was repaid during 2021/22, leaving a remaining balance of £13.9m, 
which is due to be repaid through 2022/23.  A loan provided to 
Chalcroft Solar Park Ltd to complete the purchase of the Solar Park led 
to £180,000 interest received for the year to 31st March 2022.  This 
income was not budgeted due to the uncertainty around the timing of 
the final transfer of assets from Chalcroft Solar Park Limited to the 
Council. This loan has now been repaid as part of the transfer of the 
Solar Park into the Council and therefore the income has been 

105



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

realised.  Other smaller variances are attributed to general interest 
rates increasing throughout the year. 

(c) As detailed in Para 25, the extra Nitrate Credit receipts has enabled the 
early repayment of the debt (minimum Revenue Provision) of £1.5M 
secured against the land for nitrates. This additional payment is shown 
as an unfavourable variance within the Non-Service expenditure figure. 

(d) As detailed in the paragraphs above a number of additional transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves have been made which were not included in the 
budget. Within the Non-Service expenditure the transfers below have 
created an unfavourable position to offset the favourable positions 
detailed above. 

 Local Area Committees £179,000 

 New Burdens Reserve £480,000 

 Interest Reserve £1,572,000 

General Fund and Reserves 

27. The General Fund balance is shown in the table below is in excess of the 
minimum balance of 10% of Net Cost of Services for the life of the plan (£1M). 
In addition, other earmarked reserve balances are at the appropriate levels. 
These are further detailed in Appendix P. 
 
General Fund Reserve Revised Budget  

£000 
Outturn Position  

£000 
Opening Balance 3,806 3,806 
2021/22 movement to/(from) 
reserve 

(2,806) (2,369) 

Closing Balance 1,000 1,437 

 
Community Investment Programme (CIP) 

28. Financing of capital expenditure during the year relied on the use of prudential 
borrowing.  Total expenditure of £48.2m was incurred in 2021/22.  Of the total 
capital expenditure approximately 83% has been financed from borrowing, 
with the majority of schemes being repaid through business cases.  The 
remainder of the expenditure was predominantly funded through Capital 
Grants including the Homes England LAAC Grant for One Horton Heath 
(OHH), of which the final £4.1M of the £20.8M awarded was claimed and 
spent in 2021/22. 

29. Appendix C provides a summary of the CIP budgets and actuals to the end of 
March 2022 across the programme boards. 

30. Capital expenditure throughout the year has been predominantly incurred on 
Housing and Infrastructure projects.  The Housing expenditure consisted of: 

106



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 £9.3M expenditure on the infrastructure works at OHH, which includes 
the completion of the £20.8M funding from Homes England for the 
LAAC grant.  The OHH project has continued to progress in line with 
the latest business plan as reported to Cabinet in December 2021. 

 £7M for the purchase of homes at Stoneham phase 5. 

 £5M for the ongoing construction works at Bandstand Court. 

 £1.3M on Disabled Facilities Grants to residents within the Borough. 

31. Capital expenditure on Infrastructure is predominantly made up of the £17M 
purchase of Chalcroft Solar Park Ltd within the OHH development, as well as 
the purchase of additional land at the Solar Park of £9.5M. 

32. There has been an overspend on the Lakeside community facilities due to 
protracted contractual issues of £77,000 in 2021/22, with a further £236,000 
anticipated in 2022/23.  The contractor on the site went into administration, 
prior to the contractor going into administration and subsequent liquidation, 
the budget position was within the approved contribution although it was noted 
that there were significant differences between the Council’s and contractor’s 
contract valuations.  These differences were in the process of being reviewed 
and investigated by the respective quantity surveyors at the time of 
administration (Oct 2016). The legal process has now concluded, and the final 
account has been settled. A confidentiality agreement contained within the 
settlement agreement prevents a detailed breakdown being publicly reported.  
A full breakdown of the costs will be reported internally through a confidential 
report to the Community Programme Board.  This has led to an overspend of 
£313,000.  This will be funded from borrowing, with the resulting borrowing 
costs of £12,000 to be funded from revenue growth. 

33. It is also projected that additional budget will be required for the Romsey Road 
Housing Project of £617,000, £43,000 of which relates to the 2021/22 financial 
year.  This overspend is due to changes to the original budget for the 
specification of improving fire safety and future proofing the building against 
impending changes to regulations.  Such improvements include the removal 
of combustible materials, the installation of a sprinkler system in every 
apartment, a state-of-the-art EACIE (Evacuation Alert Control & Indicating 
Equipment) to serve the building and the commissioning of an EWS1 
(External Wall System Fire Review certificate).  This has led to a longer build 
time than originally anticipated that has also led to an increase in associated 
capitalised interest for the project.  It is anticipated that final accounts for this 
project will be produced in the coming months, once these are finalized, an 
end report detailing variances to original budget will be reported to the 
Housing Board.  This overspend will be funded from borrowing, with the 
resulting borrowing costs being covered by increased income on the site since 
the previous business case was presented to Cabinet. 

 

107



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

34. Net income generation from the 2021/22 CIP investment portfolio was £9M, 
consisting of £14.8M of additional income against a cost of borrowing of 
£5.8M.  This does not include income from the Council’s housing programme 
which is detailed separately in this report. 

35. The progress of CIP schemes is reported to relevant boards monthly as part 
of the highlight reports completed by Project Managers for each scheme.  As 
with Service Managers, Project Managers are asked to identify forecast spend 
for the year in order that total CIP budgets can be monitored effectively and 
profiled into the most appropriate financial year.  This is an iterative process, 
with adjustments to budgets between financial years being made as and when 
reported to the relevant boards or through the financial monitoring process 
and as such reduces the in year variance against the budget. 

Treasury Management 

36. The Council has a very successful and active capital programme generating a 
large revenue surplus. Much of the programme is financed by prudential 
borrowing which means it brings an element of risk which the Council needs 
to manage. CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code sets out guidance which the 
Council needs to follow to ensure prudence. Appendix O gives a detailed 
review of the Annual Treasury Management outturn for 2021/22 showing the 
continuing success of the investment programme. 

37. The overall level of borrowing for the Council increased by £21.7M during 
2021/22 due to approved increases in capital spend, offset by the repayment 
of debt through a minimum revenue provision (MRP) and the use of internal 
borrowing. 

38. The Treasury Management Review Group meets at least twice each year 
alongside regular meetings of Finance staff to review current Treasury 
practices. The Council is also advised by the treasury advisers Arlingclose, 
who provide the Council with frequent Treasury Updates, as well as attending 
meetings of the Treasury Group and of Council staff and providing regular 
training days and workshops. 

Annual Planning Cycle and Forward Planning 

39. The Annual Planning Cycle during 22/23 will help create robust and resourced 
Corporate and service-based plans for delivery in 23/24 and beyond, that will 
sit alongside the 23/24 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan. The Council 
will plan during 22/23 to take account of key Councillor ambitions, new levels 
of demand, changes in the regulatory and legislative environment and 
changes in other parts of the public sector.  

40. Higher than forecast inflationary pressures may lead to both increased costs 
through general costs of service provision, and through an increased 
likelihood of higher interest rates than originally anticipated when setting the 
budget for 2022/23.  Both issues will be discussed in detail in the quarterly 
performance monitoring process throughout 2022/23. 

108



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

41. Whilst interest rates will cause the largest material variance to ongoing 
budgets, additional transfers of £1.6M to the interest reserve as part of the 
outturn 2021/22 process will continue to mitigate the risk from rising interest 
rates. An updated MTFP will be produced alongside Q1 performance 
monitoring for 2022/23 detailing the full impact and mitigation. 

42. The Council continues to strive to achieve financial resilience through 
innovation and the identification of efficiencies without cutting or reducing the 
quality of services. The Continuous Improvement Programme seeks to deliver 
both financial and non-financial efficiencies and progress will be reported 
quarterly to Cabinet from next financial year. 

43. During quarter 1 of 2022/23 a process of engagement will begin including 
workshops with Senior Managers and a discussion with Cabinet in June. The 
Council continues to foster a culture of continuous improvement and 
understands that all staff will play an important role in the success of the 
programme. The Council will be focused on increasing established forms of 
income, generating new income streams, reducing costs, and making more 
efficient use of resources. So far, a range of ideas have been collected and 
the expected benefits are being assessed. The expected benefit of the ideas 
identified to date value circa £275,000 and that number is expected to rise 
following further analysis. The Council’s review of recruitment and its 
assessment of its future ways of working are initiatives connected to the 
programme.   

Chief Financial Officer’s Statement 

44. As the Council’s Statutory Finance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer is 
required to advise the Council on all pertinent financial matters and to alert 
Councillors to any concerns they may have regarding the financial well-being 
of the Council. 

45. Financial monitoring is required to be timely and accurate so the identification 
of variances from forecast levels of expenditure to budgeted levels of 
expenditure are known.  This identification allows the Council to utilise 
underspent, or reallocate financial resources accordingly, in order to continue 
to meet service level standards. 

46. The performance monitoring process is a very important element of the 
Council’s financial arrangements as it assesses how effective the day-to-day 
management of budgets has been throughout the year. Any unforeseen 
overspends and underspends can distort the Council’s financial position and 
financial planning process.   

47. The financial performance for 2021/22 shows an underspend of £463,000, the 
reasons for which are explained in detail with the ESR appendix.  The ESR 
process enable senior managers to articulate where successes and 
challenges are arising in their areas, and this has improved accountability 
through the year.  There are however areas where more accurate forecasting 
throughout the year could have been carried out.  Inaccurate forecasting, both 
financially and of performance, can prevent the Council from applying 

109



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

resources appropriately.  Where significant underspends arise, this can lead 
to additional service pressures and a distorted overall financial position.  It is 
important that forecasting is improved in future monitoring exercises so that 
the Medium-Term Financial Plan can be as robust as possible to enable 
services to be appropriately resourced. 

48. Linking the financial monitoring with operational context highlights the outputs 
the Council achieves from its resources, allowing assessment of efficiency 
and effectiveness. Understanding this is key to ensuring greater value for 
money through informed service planning and prioritisation of resources.   

49. The COVID-19 pandemic has brought into sharp focus the need for accurate 
and detailed financial planning. The success of the Council’s approach to 
financial management has enabled the identification and reporting of financial 
pressures and the early identification of potential savings. Undoubtedly this is 
a testing time for the economy and that includes local government, although 
Eastleigh Borough Council is well placed to sustainably manage financially 
into the future.   

50. The Council continues to manage finances well and maintains a healthy level 
of reserves despite the impacts of the pandemic.  However, with the 
uncertainties in the future economic landscape, including cost of living 
pressures both on the Council and our residents and businesses and further 
likely increases in interest rates, it is important that the Council continues to 
closely monitor financial performance.  Expenditure must be contained within 
budgets and the Continuous Improvement Strategy needs to continue to 
develop achievable and realistic plans to ensure continued financial stability. 

Risk Assessment 

51. The purpose of the performance monitoring process is to give Councillors and 
the public the assurance that the Council’s finances and performance are 
performing broadly in line with the Budget and service targets. This report is 
integral to the risk management process in respect of the Council’s finances. 
A full risk assessment in respect of the Council’s current and future financial 
position is included within the Provisional Outturn, Medium Term Budget 
Strategy and Budget reports that are submitted to Cabinet and Council. 
Appendix D contains the Financial Risk Assessment. Risks pertaining to the 
delivery of Council services are monitored through the use of a risk register at 
a service and corporate level. All risks captured are mitigated against and the 
effectiveness of the mitigation is monitored regularly in conjunction with the 
Council’s Strategic Risk Management Group. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

52. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because the 
decision does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. Therefore, it 
is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

110



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

53. There is no direct impact, positive or negative, to climate change or the 
environment. However, effective financial monitoring enables the delivery of 
the Council’s Strategic Objectives which include supporting the Climate 
Change Programme.  
 

Conclusion 

54. This report, as well as providing a comprehensive snapshot of the Council’s 
finances, provides the opportunity to advise Councillors of significant 
performance issues that may impact on the Council’s finances. The overall 
revenue position at 31 March 2022 is a favourable position of £463,000 for the 
full year. 

55. The significant performance areas outlined within this report, together with the 
overview of service KPIs and financial information contained within the 
appendices, give Councillors an opportunity to understand performance over 
2021/22 and risks impacting the delivery of services to customers. Whilst the 
Council is continuing to deliver a comprehensive range of services there are 
some performance areas needing attention and rectification of these issues is 
important in ensuring the Council is continuing to meet customer needs. 

JAMES STRACHAN, SARAH KING, ANDY TRAYER, NATALIE WIGMAN 
CORPORATE LEADERSHIP BOARD 

 
Date: 09 June 2022 
Contact Officer: Joe Mills 
e-mail: joe.mills@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 16 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 

111



This page is intentionally left blank



Row KPI definition Better = Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 KPI thresholds

01 Collected domestic waste recycled (%) ↑
Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

 GREEN

45.4% (Q1)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

 47.0% (Q2)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

AMBER

42.6% (Q3)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

Data not yet 

available

Green = 45% or more

Amber = less than 45%

Red = less than 42.4%

02
Collected domestic residual waste (Kg 

per household per month)
↓

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

RED

38.0 (Q1)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

RED

37.7 (Q2)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

AMBER

36.4 (Q3)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

Data not yet 

available

Green = less than 35.5kg

Amber = less than 36.7kg

Red = 36.7kg or more

03a

Customer-reported missed bins - refuse 

& recycling only (number, and as 

percentage of all bins collected)

↓

RED

769

(0.29%)

RED

518

(0.21%)

RED

813

(0.33%)

RED

787

 (0.32%)

RED

575

(0.23%)

RED

529

(0.22%)

RED

509

(0.21%)

RED

386

(0.16%)

RED

431

(0.18%)

RED

421

(0.17%)

AMBER

326

(0.14%)

AMBER

340

(0.14%)

Green = less than 300

Amber = less than 350

Red = 350 or more

03b

Repeat missed bins within same month 

by household (number, and as 

percentage of all missed bins)

↓

AMBER

78

(10.1%)

AMBER

58

(11.2%)

GREEN

59

(7.3%)

GREEN

47

(6.0%) 

GREEN

25

(4.4%)

GREEN

40

(7.6%)

GREEN

31

(6.1%) 

GREEN

14

(3.6%)

GREEN

21

(4.9%)

GREEN

41

(9.7%)  

GREEN

16

(4.9%)

GREEN

1

(0.3%)

Green = less than 10%

Amber = less than 15%

Red = 15% or more

04

Land Audit Management System (LAMS) 

score (% of non-acceptable rated 

inspections, & actual number of 

inspections)

↓

RED*

0.0%

(0/41)

GREEN

0.0%

(0/95)

RED*

0.0%

(0/36)

RED*

0.0%

(0/26)

RED*

0.0%

 (0/24)

GREEN

0.0%

 (0/50)

RED*

0.0%

(0/2)

RED*

0.0%

(0/0)

GREEN

0.0%

(0/72)

RED*

0.0%

(0/15)

RED*

0.0%

(0/11)

GREEN

0.0%

(0/63)

Green = 5% or less

Red = more than 5%

*Below minimum acceptable number of 

inspections (50)

05
Clearing of fly-tipping completed on time 

(%, & actual number of incidents)
↑

GREEN

96%

(86/90)

GREEN

100%

(68/68)

GREEN

98%

82/84 

GREEN

96%

94/98 

RED

70%

 (64/91)

RED

61%

 (43/70)

RED

32%

(27/84)

GREEN

95%

(57/60)

RED

89%

(49/55)

GREEN

95%

(57/60) 

GREEN

96%

(63/66)

GREEN

98%

(83/85)

Green = 95% or more

Amber = 90% or more

Red = less than 90%

06

NO2 concentration at monitoring site 

with highest level (average for year to 

date in ugm-3)

↓
No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

No data 

available*

Green = 40µgm-3 or less

Amber = more than 40µgm-3

Red = more than 45µgm-3

*Data was unavailable due to various 

instrument problems and technical faults 

that were resolved in June 2022.

07
Noise nuisance requests responded to 

on time (% & actual number of requests)
↑

AMBER

84%

(27/32)

GREEN

94%

(29/31)

AMBER

88%

(37/42)

GREEN

99%

(67/68)

GREEN

100%

(46/46)

GREEN

94%

(45/48)

GREEN

100%

(22/22)

GREEN

96%

(24/25)

GREEN

100%

(11/11)

GREEN

96%

(26/27)

GREEN

100%

(18/18)

AMBER

89%

(16/18)

Green = 90% or more

Amber = less than 90%

Red = less than 75%

08a

Businesses supported (number per 

month and YTD) including Wessex House 

and Platform4 Business

↑

GREEN

1,169*

(YTD = 1,169

[1159 Covid]

GREEN

622*

(YTD = 1,791)

[1,761 = Covid]

GREEN

204*

(YTD = 1,995)

[1,954 = Covid]

GREEN

19*

(YTD = 2,014)

[1,965 = Covid]

GREEN

68*

(YTD = 2,082)

[2,004 = Covid]

GREEN

63*

(YTD = 2,145)

[2,050 = Covid]

GREEN

14*

(YTD = 2,159)

[2,056 = Covid] 

GREEN

12*

(YTD = 2,171)

[2,060 = Covid]

GREEN

4*

(YTD = 2175)

[2,063 = Covid]  

GREEN

46*

(YTD = 2,221

[2,103 = Covid]  

GREEN

77*

(YTD = 2,298)

[2,116 = Covid]

GREEN

172*

(YTD = 2470 

[2,283 = Covid]

Green = 1,000 or more for year;

Red = less than 1,000 for year]

*Includes Covid grants

08b
Businesses registered to pay rates 

(number)
↑ 3,228 3,226 3,227 3,226 3,227 3,225 3,216 3,215 3,213 3,208 3,209 3,203 No target

09a
Council Tax collected (cumulative 

percentage) 
↑

AMBER

8.4%

[2019/20 = 9.6%]

GREEN

18.1%

[2019/20 = 

19.1%]

GREEN

27.1%

[2019/20 = 

27.9%]

GREEN 

36.0%

[2019/20 = 

36.9%]

GREEN

44.9%

[2019/20 = 

45.9%]

 AMBER

54.0%

2019/20 = 

55.5%] 

AMBER

63.1%

[2019/20 = 

64.6%]

AMBER

72.2%

[2019/20 = 

74.0%]

AMBER 

81.2%

[2019/20 = 

83.2%]

AMBER 

90.3%

[2019/20 = 

92.3%]

AMBER

92.2%

[2019/20 = 

94.2%]

GREEN

96.9%

[2019/20 = 

96.0%]

Green = within 1% of 2019/20

Amber = within 2% of 2019/20

Red = more than 2% lower than 2019/20

09b
Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business 

rates) collected (cumulative percentage)
↑

GREEN

10.3%

[2019/20 = 9.4%]

GREEN

20.3%

[2019/20 = 

20.0%]

RED

24.4%

[2019/20 = 

28.7%]

RED 

32.6%

[2019/20 = 

37.8%]

RED

40.9%

[2019/20 = 

46.5%]

RED

48.1%

[2019/20 =  

55.2%]

RED

59.8%

[2019/20 = 

64.8%]

RED

67.2%

[2019/20 = 

72.5%]

RED

76.8% 

[2019/20 = 

81.4%]

AMBER

88.6%

[2019/20 = 

90.4%]

RED

92.3%

(2019/20 = 

94.5%)

GREEN 

98.6%

[2019/20 = 

98.8%]

Green = within 1% of 2019/20

Amber = within 2% of 2019/20

Red = more than 2% lower than 2019/20

10
Occupancy rate for tenantable space at 

Eastleigh Business Centre (%)
↑

AMBER

71%

 AMBER

73% 

 AMBER

72% 

 AMBER

72% 

 AMBER

72% 

 AMBER

71% 

 AMBER

71% 

 AMBER

68% 

 AMBER

67% 

 AMBER

65% 

RED

59%

RED

59%

Green = 75% or more

Amber = 65% or more

Red = less than 65%.

[Thresholds before 4/2020: Green = 84% 

or more; Amber = less than 84%; Red = 

less than 80%]

11

Council Tax - Customers with 

outstanding account queries older than 

15 days (number)

↓
GREEN

89

GREEN

115

RED

665

RED

759

RED

1,212

RED

1,706

RED

1,566

RED

1,654

RED

1,400

RED

554

GREEN

50

GREEN

77

April 2020 onwards:

Green = less than 200

Amber = less than 400

Red = 400 or more

12a
Attendance at The Point and Berry 

Theatres (% of capacity)
↑

RED

0%

[Venues shut 

due to 

pandemic]

RED

Capacity 

undetermined

[328]

RED

Capacity 

undetermined

[2,227]

RED

Capacity 

undetermined

[1,994]

GREEN

1,298?

(59%)

GREEN

1,474

(67%)

RED

1,069

(34%)

AMBER

3,900

(42%)

AMBER

4,757

(44%)

GREEN

2,928

(64%)

GREEN

3,455

(61%)

GREEN

5,313

(61%)

Green = 50% or more

Amber = 40% or more

Red = less than 40%

Full Performance Indicator Monitoring Report - March 2022

Appendix A

113



Row KPI definition Better = Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 KPI thresholds

Full Performance Indicator Monitoring Report - March 2022

12b
Participation in Arts and Culture 

activities (number, and % of target)
↑

RED

799

(32%)

RED

348

(13%)

RED

1,286

(52%)

RED

1,705

(68%)

RED

1,334

(53%)

GREEN

8,214

(329%)

RED

1,578

(63%)

RED

1,119

(45%)

RED

1,314

(53%)

RED

484

(19%)

RED

820

(33%)

RED

472

(19%)

Annual target 30,000 (2,500 per month)

Green = 2,500 (100%) or more 

Amber = 2,375 (95%) or more

Red = less than 2,250 (90%)

13

Visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park 

(number, and % of variable monthly 

target)

↑

GREEN

30,955

(117%)

[Target 26,400] 

GREEN

22,330

(93%)

[Target 24,000]

GREEN

21,843

(101%)

[Target 21,600]

AMBER      

23,340         

(88%)

[Target 26,400]

GREEN

37,003

(119%)

[Target 31,200]

GREEN

21,700

(101%)

[Target 21,600]

GREEN

23,750

(110%)

[Target 21,600]

GREEN

15,543

(108%)

[Target 14,400]

AMBER

14,125

(84%)

[Target 16,800]

GREEN

16,480

(137%)

[Target 12,000] 

GREEN

14,125

(118%)

[Target 12,000]

GREEN

15,913

(133%)

[Target 12,000]

Variable monthly target [based on annual 

target for 2022/23 = 240,000]

Green = 90% or more

Amber = 70% or more

Red = less than 70%

14a
Attendance at HealthWorks sessions 

(number)
↑

RED

134

RED

361

RED

591

RED

999

AMBER

1,226

RED

966

RED

818

RED

822

RED

637

RED

695

RED

754

RED

879

Green = more than 85% (1,488)

Amber = more than 65% (1,138)

Red = 65% (1,138) or less

14b
Attendance at SportWorks sessions 

(number)
↑

RED

210

GREEN

1,113

GREEN

996

GREEN

2,642

GREEN

6,056

GREEN

3,610

GREEN

3,464

GREEN

2,797

GREEN

1,941

GREEN

3,709

GREEN

2,583

GREEN

2,766

Green = more than 85% (508)

Amber = more than 65% (388)

Red = 65% (388) or less

15
Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh 

(number)
↑

RED

19,447

RED                

34,542
RED            36,978

RED

36,448           

RED

38,572

RED

36,505

RED

33,623

RED

48,350

RED

34,290

RED

54,053

RED

51,156

RED

60,791

Green = 91,166 or more

Amber = 80,000 or more

Red = less than 80,000

16
Households on housing register 

(number)
↓ 1,916 1,899 1,939 1,934 1,936 1,918 1,928 1,957 2,091 2,112 2,165 2,177

No target

[Av. 2018/19 = 1,845; 2019/20 = 1,774; 

2020/21 = 1,884; 2021/22 = 1,998]

17
Average waiting time for band 2 and 3 

properties (months)
↓

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

25.8

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

23.8

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

23.7

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

22.2

Green = 36.7 or less

Red = more than 36.7

18

Households staying in emergency 

accommodation arranged by the Council 

(number)

↓
RED*

14

AMBER

8

RED

9

RED

12

RED

9

RED

12

RED

14

RED

9

RED

12

RED

19

RED

14

RED

17

Green = less than 4 households

Amber = less than 9 households

Red = 9 or more households

19a
New benefit (Council Tax or Housing 

Benefit) claims received (number)
↔ 124 112 141 147 138 171 158 163 104 162 122 183 No target (workflow indicator)

19b
Time to process new benefit (Council Tax 

Support & Housing Benefit) claims (days)
↓

GREEN

21.7

GREEN

20.7

AMBER

24.0

GREEN

21.8

AMBER

22.1

GREEN

15.9

GREEN

9.9

GREEN

 6.9

GREEN

8.8

GREEN

6.5

GREEN

7.6

GREEN

8.0

Green = less than 22 days

Amber = less than 26 days

Red = 26 days or more

20

Time to process benefit (Council Tax 

Support & Housing Benefit) change 

events (days)

↓
GREEN

4.0

GREEN

4.9

GREEN

5.7

GREEN

4.5

GREEN

6.2

GREEN

5.9

GREEN

4.9

GREEN

4.2

GREEN

4.6

GREEN

4.5

GREEN

1.3

GREEN

4.7

Green = less than 9 days

Amber = less than 11 days

Red = 11 days or more

21

Proportion of DFGs decided within 6 

months of the application submission 

date

↑
GREEN

89%

GREEN

80%

GREEN

94%

GREEN

100%

RED

57%

AMBER

71%

GREEN

91%

GREEN

91%

GREEN

89%

GREEN

83%

GREEN

100%

GREEN

94%

Green = 75% or more 

Amber = 60% or more

Red = less than 60%

22
Net additional homes delivered 

(number)
↑

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

246

(Q1 total)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

AMBER

112

(Q2 total)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

AMBER

114

(Q3 total)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

235

(Q4 total)

Green = total 189 or more net dwellings 

per quarter 

Red = less than 100 net dwellings

23a

Major planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%, and 

actual numbers)

↔

RED

50%

(1/2)

GREEN

100%

(2/2)

GREEN

100%

(4/4)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

RED

50%

(1/2)

GREEN

67%

(2/3)

GREEN

100%

(0/0)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

GREEN

100%

(2/2)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

GREEN

100%

(3/3)

Green = 60% or more

Red = less than 60%

23b

Minor planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%, and 

actual numbers)

↑

RED

56%

(5/9)

GREEN

69%

(9/13)

GREEN

100%

(5/5)

GREEN

90%

(17/19)

GREEN

86%

(6/7)

GREEN

77%

(10/13)

GREEN

85%

(11/13)

GREEN

91%

(19/21)

GREEN

80%

(4/5)

GREEN

91%

(11/12)

GREEN

100%

(12/12)

GREEN

79%

15/19

Green = 65% or more

Red = less than 65%

23c

Other planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%, and 

actual numbers)

↔

RED

76%

(55/72)

GREEN

94%

(84/89)

GREEN

96%

(71/74)

GREEN

81%

(51/63)

GREEN

93%

(53/57)

GREEN

92%

(76/83)

GREEN

85%

(40/47)

GREEN

89%

(57/64)

GREEN

96% 

(43/45)

GREEN

100%

(55/55)

GREEN

100%

(30/30)

GREEN

100%

69/69

Green = 80% or more

Red = less than 80%

24

Planning appeals allowed as a proportion 

of all planning application decisions (%, 

and actual number of appeals and 

decisions)

↓

GREEN

0.0%

(0 of 5 

appeals/155 

decisions) 

GREEN

0.6%

(1 of 3 

appeals/179 

decisions)

GREEN

0%

(No appeals/118 

decisions)

GREEN

0.54%

(1 of 2 

appeals/184 

decisions)

GREEN

0%

(0 of 1 

appeals/117 

decisions) 

GREEN

0.48%

(1 of 2 

appeals/207 

decisions)

GREEN

0.27%

(1 of 2 

appeals/127 

decisions)

GREEN

0.00%

(0 of 3 

appeals/173 

decisions) 

GREEN

0.00%

(0 of 1 

appeals/114 

decisions)

GREEN

0.00%

(0 of 3 

appeals/159 

decisions)

GREEN

0.82%

(1 of 3 

appeals/122 

decisions)

GREEN

0.00%

(0 of 1 

appeals/188 

decisions)

Green = less than 10%

Red = 10% or more

25a Customer complaints (number) ↓ 66 77 104 46 42 43 34 29 31 39 26 18 No target

25b
Corporate complaints outside SLA (%, 

and actual number of complaints)
↓

GREEN

11%

(7/66)

GREEN

16%

(12/77)

GREEN

8%

(8/104)

RED

30%

(14/46)

GREEN

14%

(6/42)

GREEN

21%

(9/43)

GREEN

12%

(4/34) 

GREEN

7%

(2/29) 

GREEN

10%

(3/31) 

GREEN

0%

(0/39) 

GREEN

4%

(1/26) 

GREEN

11%

(2/18)

Green =  25% or less 

Red = more than 25%

26
CSC - Interactions handled (average 

number per working day)
↔

942

[563 calls

379 other]

842

[476 calls

366 other}

946

[521 calls

425 other]

881

[510 calls

371 other]

847

[489 calls

358 other]

812

[452 calls

360 other]

803

[436 calls

368 other]

770

[448 calls

322 other]

653

[364 calls

289 other]

756

[445 calls

311 other]

742

[442 calls

300 other]

859

[495 calls

364 other]

No target (workflow indicator)

114



Row KPI definition Better = Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 KPI thresholds

Full Performance Indicator Monitoring Report - March 2022

27 CSC - Calls answered vs. offered (%) ↑
AMBER

84%

AMBER

83%

AMBER 

82%

AMBER 

84%

AMBER 

82%

GREEN

85%

GREEN

85%

GREEN

86%

GREEN

88%

GREEN

88%

GREEN

88%

GREEN

86%

Green = 85% or more

Amber = 80% or more

Red = less than 80%

28
CSC - Customer interactions resolved at 

first point of contact (%)
↑

GREEN

70%

GREEN

65%

GREEN

60%

GREEN

60%

GREEN

60%

GREEN

60%

GREEN

68%

GREEN

70%

GREEN

68%

GREEN

71%

GREEN

70%

GREEN

68%

Green = 60% or more

Amber = 50% or more

Red = less than 50%

29

Corporate sickness (average number of 

working days lost due to sickness 

absence per employee per year)

↔
GREEN

6.1

GREEN

6.0

GREEN

6.0

GREEN

6.0

GREEN

5.7

GREEN

5.7

GREEN

5.7

GREEN

6.3

GREEN

6.9

AMBER

7.0

GREEN

6.7

RED

8.4

Green = less than 7 days

Amber = less than 7.5 days

Red = 7.5 days or more

30

Staff turnover (% of people voluntarily 

resigning cf. total headcount for rolling 

12 month period)

↑

GREEN

9.0%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

10.0%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

11.0%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

12.0%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

13.2%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

14.1% 

(Rolling 12 

months)

GREEN

13.3%

(Rolling 12 

months)

GREEN

14.6%

(Rolling 12 

months)

GREEN

14.6%

(Rolling 12 

months)

GREEN

15.0%

(Rolling 12 

months)

AMBER

16.5%

(Rolling 12 

months)

AMBER

16.7%

(Rolling 12 

months)

Green = 15% or less

Amber = 18% or less

Red = more than 18%

31
FOI / EIR requests responded to within 

SLA (%, and actual number of requests)
↑

GREEN

98%

(56/57)

GREEN

100%

(47/47)

GREEN

100%

(56/56)

GREEN

96%

(54/56) 

GREEN

94%

(49/52) 

GREEN

91%

(63/69) 

GREEN

96%

(64/67) 

GREEN

96%

(48/50)

GREEN

98%

(56/57)

GREEN

98%

(40/41)

GREEN

99%

(80/81)

GREEN

97%

(60/62)

Green = more than 90%

Amber = more than 85%

Red = 85% or less

32 Invoices paid within 10 days (%) ↓
RED

52%

RED

50%

RED

38%

RED

36%

RED

30%

RED

23%

RED

21%

RED

59%

RED

47%

RED

62%

RED

49%

RED

46%

Green = 75% or more

Amber = 70% or more

Red = less than 70%

33a
Cases raised across all service areas 

(number)
↑

GREEN

6,095

AMBER

4,726

GREEN

5,874

GREEN

7,224

GREEN 

5,928

GREEN* 

14,933

GREEN

7,959

GREEN

8,684

GREEN

7,798

GREEN

9,201

GREEN

8,992

GREEN

10,334

Green = 5,000 or more

Amber = less than 5,000

Red = less than 4,000

33b
Average case duration for cases raised 

across all service areas (working days)  
↓

GREEN

10

RED

24

GREEN

13

GREEN 

14

RED

18

GREEN 

7

GREEN 

13

RED

16

GREEN 

15

GREEN 

12

RED

18

GREEN 

14

Green = 15 days or less

Red = more than 15 days

34a
Cases raised via the Members' Hub 

(number)
↑

AMBER

33

AMBER

35

GREEN

40

AMBER

31

RED

17

AMBER

32

GREEN 

40

GREEN 

52

 AMBER

30 

 AMBER

28 

GREEN 

44

GREEN 

46

Green = 40 or more

Amber = less than 40

Red = less than 20

34b
Average case duration for cases raised 

via the Members' Hub (working days)  
↓

GREEN

13

RED

38

RED

19

RED

37

RED

29

RED

20

RED

29

RED

39

RED

24

RED

22

RED

54

RED

25

Green = 15 days or less

Red = more than 15 days

115



Appendix B

Portfolio Executive Area

Variance

£000's Appendix

Area Committees

Bishopstoke Fair Oak And Horton Heath N/A 26 N/A

Bursledon Hamble-Le-Rice And Hound N/A 36 N/A

Chandler's Ford And Hiltingbury N/A 7 N/A

Eastleigh N/A 15 N/A

Hedge End West End and Botley N/A 54 N/A

138

Skills & Business

Economic Development Planning and Economy 11 J

Eastleigh Business Centre Planning and Economy 17 J

Council Tax Finance and Housing 159 E

NNDR Collection Finance and Housing 146 E

333

Environment

Sustainability And Climate Change Environment 11 K

Cemeteries Neighbourhood Services 34 M

Open Spaces Parks And Recreation Grounds Environment (2) K

Tree Works Environment (35) K

Combined Heat And Power Environment 82 K

Renewable Energy Scheme Environment (15) K

Biodiversity Environment 7 K

Countryside - Land Management Environment 5 K

Public Toilets Neighbourhood Services 3 M

Streetscene Neighbourhood Services (9) M

Environmental Health Environment 40 K

Waste Management Neighbourhood Services (74) M

Direct Services Neighbourhood Services 0 M

Technical Services Neighbourhood Services 1 M

Pollution Control Environment 28 K

73

Health

CCTV Neighbourhood Services (3) M

Safety & Resilience Organisational Development 41 I

Health & Wellbeing Health and Wellbeing (1) L

Places Leisure Eastleigh Health and Wellbeing 6 L

Playing Fields Health and Wellbeing 3 L

Allotments Health and Wellbeing 1 L

Licensing Act 2003/Gambling Act 2005 Governance 1 G

Arts & Culture Health and Wellbeing 55 L

Countryside Management Health and Wellbeing 16 L

120

Planning & Property

Development Management Planning and Economy (22) J

Planning Policy CLB 91 I

Building Control Partnership Planning and Economy (0) J

Strategic Housing Finance and Housing 1,482 E

Democratic Process Governance (16) G

Communications Organisational Development 30 I

Civic Events And Mayoralty Organisational Development 1 I

Strategic Planning CLB 18 I

Performance & Projects Organisational Development (4) I

Corporation Estates Assets and Project Delivery 0 F

Projects Assets and Project Delivery 0 F

Surveying Assets and Project Delivery 0 F

Land Charges Planning and Economy (0) J

Registration Of Electors & Election Expenses Governance 15 G

Accommodation Assets and Project Delivery 45 F

Corporate Financial Services (inc Corporate Adjustments) Finance and Housing 315 E

IT Organisational Development (183) I

Human Resources Organisational Development (60) I

Internal Audit Governance 27 G

Legal Services Governance 1 G

1,741

Total For Health

Total For Planning & Property

General Fund Variance Summary

Total For Area Commitees

Total For Skills & Business

Total For Environment

116



Social

Customer Services Customer Care 11 H

Housing Benefit & Council Tax Support Finance and Housing (48) E

Home Improvements Health and Wellbeing (2) L

Housing Advice Health and Wellbeing (0) L

Case Management Customer Care 19 H

Local Response Customer Care (0) H

(20)

Transport

Highways Agency Services Neighbourhood Services (7) M

Highways Non-Agency Neighbourhood Services 5 M

Borough Council Services Transport Policy Neighbourhood Services 74 M

Hackney Carriages And Private Hire Vehicles Neighbourhood Services 0 M

Parking Services Neighbourhood Services 298 M

371

Non-Service-Related Items (2,293)

Net Position 463

Total For Social

Total For Transport

117



COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME Appendix C

Original Budget Rolling Budget Actual

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

PROGRAMME BOARD £'000 £'000 £'000

Climate and Environmental Emergency Board 17,885                 1,742                  1,742              

Housing 44,087                 22,280               22,323            

Infrastructure 1,757                    18,255               18,255            

Investment Property -                        -                      -                   

IT 300                       131                     131                  

LAC - Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath -                        820                     820                  

LAC - Bursledon, Hamble & Hound -                        381                     381                  

LAC - Chandler's Ford & Hiltingbury 120                       144                     144                  

LAC - Eastleigh 760                       495                     495                  

LAC - Hedge End, West End & Botley 7                           1,854                  1,854              

Leisure -                        223                     310                  

Regeneration 750                       1,767                  1,767              

TOTAL EBC CIP PROGRAMME 65,666                 48,092               48,222            

Actual

2021/22

FINANCED BY £'000

Developers' Contributions 1,723                    

Capital Financing Reserve (inc Direct Revenue Contributions) 44                         

Capital Receipts/Housing 262                       

Capital Financing Reserve - Chandlers Ford -                        

Capital Financing Reserve - BFOHH -                        

Capital Financing Reserve - BHH 14                         

Capital Financing Reserve - Eastleigh 83                         

Capital Financing Reserve - HEWEB 7                           

Borrowing 39,931                 

Capital Grants 6,134                    

New Homes Bonus 24                         

TOTAL EBC CIP PROGRAMME 48,222                 

118



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

1 Risk that financial sustainability will be 

impacted if the Council are not able to 

deliver/restore financial control. 

Impact of Covid-19 Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes.
Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

2 Failure to deliver strategic priorities due 

to inaccurate financial forecasting

Service and corporate 

expenditure varying from 

plans set by need to fulfil 

strategic priorities

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes linked to 

strategic objectives requirements
Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

3 Key financial strategies set on the basis 

of inaccurate assessment of the 

Councils overall position

Poor budget preparation 

and poor financial 

monitoring

Sound and effective financial 

systems, Budget holders sign off 

budgets and monitoring 

information.  Central support 

provided to managers from 

Support Services - Financial 

Services Unit

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2021/22- Risk Assessment Appendix D

119



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2021/22- Risk Assessment Appendix D

4 Interest Rate Pressure Potential for rising interest 

rates above that 

anticipated as part of the 

budget

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes. Interest rate 

reserve. Engagement of external 

advisor, Arlingclose, to provide 

advice on how the Council can 

manage its investment and 

borrowing portfolio.

Serious Possible 4 3 12

5 Additional Borrowing exceeding 

affordable levels

Additional borrowing will 

place pressure on the 

revenue budget.

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes and treasury 

management strategy. Use of 

robust business cases factoring in 

returns based on long term interest 

rate projections.

Significant Unlikely 3 2 6

6 Minimum General Fund balance falls 

below minimum level

Poor control of income and 

expenditure budgets

Budget monitoring systems and 

clear accountabilities for financial 

performance

Serious Very unlikely 4 1 4

Impact ratings: (I) Likelihood ratings: (L)

Minor 1 Very unlikely 1

Moderate 2 Unlikely 2

Significant 3 Possible 3

Serious 4 Likely 4

Major 5 Very likely 5

The risk total is achieved by multiplying the impact score by the likelihood score. 

120



Finance & Strategic Housing Programme 
Executive Summary Report 

 
Planning & Property, 

 Health & Social Policy and Skills & Business Portfolios 
 

Reporting Date: March 2022 

 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Executive has had a successful 2021-22 financial year with all services back operating at 
levels prior to the pandemic. 
 
Improvements have been made been made across KPIs with the service changes for Benefits 
proving successful. Recovery for NDR has restarted but collection rates remain lower than 
previous years. Revenue Services have seen customer service standards improve; however, 
this work has not progressed as quickly as hoped due to difficulties recruiting, the completion of 
the COVID business grants and setting up for the energy rebate payments which were 
successfully made in April.  
 
Key service development work continues to progress across Corporate Finance with the new 
Budget Packs continuing to be developed and all service managers trained. The 2021/22 
Statement of Accounts are also progressing as planned.  
 
The Strategic Housing Programme continues to develop with sites such as The Arch, Post 
Office and Bampton House moving forward. The new residential service Leaf Homes was 
launched and let its first properties at Fanfare Place in April and work around the HRA 
continues to be developed. 
 
The Executive is successfully meeting its objectives as set out in the Corporate Action Plan and 
a new Executive Development plan is in place for 2022-23 to ensure the success is continued. 
  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Corporate Financial Services GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

Strategic Housing GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

Council Tax AMBER AMBER AMBER AMBER 

NNDR Collection AMBER AMBER AMBER AMBER 

Housing Benefit & Council Tax 
Support 

AMBER AMBER GREEN GREEN 

  

121



2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 (1,739) 2,861 (4,756) 2,956 

Q2 (1,657) 920 (5,189)  3,532 

Q3  (1,908) (1,843) (5,379) 3,471 

Q4 (3,878) (5,932) N/A 2,054 

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All Corporate KPIs to be included 

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

New benefit claim processing 
time 

G G A G G A G G G G G G 

Change in Circumstances 
processing time 

G G G G G G G G G G G G 

Discretionary Housing Payment 
Spend 

A A A A G G A A G G G G 

Council Tax Collection Rate A G G G G G A A A A A G 

NDR Collection Rate G G R R R R R R R A R G 

Number of Additional Homes 
Completed (quarterly) 

  G   G   G   G 

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Target 

Short- 
Term 

Borrowing 
Rate 

Approx. 
0.05% 

Approx. 0.05% 

Approx. 0.05% 
and forecast to 
remain. Note -

base rate 
increased to 
0.25% in Dec 

2021. No 
effect in 

2021/22 but 
will in future. 

The year-end 
position was a 
rate of 0.07%, 

versus an 
average bank 

of England 
base rate of 

0.18% for the 
year.  

Below bank Base 
Rate  

Final 
Accounts 
Produced 
& Audited 

20/21 Draft 
accounts 

published. 
Audit 

Delayed by 
EY until Oct 

2021. 

Audit to be 
done in Qtr 3. 

EY have 
acknowledged 

delay & 
started key 
risk work. 

The Audit is 
complete, and 

accounts 
approved at 
A&R in Jan 

2022. 

21/22 
Statement of 

Accounts 
underway and 

ahead of 
schedule. 

Audit likely to 
be Nov 2022. 

September 2021 
& 2022 Audit 

(sign off now Jan 
& Nov 2022). 

  

122



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

 

 
Skills & Business 
Council Tax – £158,577 favourable 
NNDR Collection - £146,288 favourable 
Collection rates for both Council Tax & Business Rates are improving compared to last year 
however Business Rates are yet to return to historical levels. Recovery has now resumed for all 
services. The Revenue Services have a net total saving of £304,865, £39,865 of this is due to 
savings on salary costs due to vacancies. The remaining £265,000 relates to increased income 
on court costs and fees due to the increased recovery action taken in Quarter 4, this will be 
added to the New Burdens Reserve. 
 
Recruitment of the new Revenue Specialist role is proving difficult and is currently being reviewed 
by HR as a result the review of the service with Case Management will be delayed in 2022/23. 
 

Health & Social Policy 
Housing Benefit & Council Tax Support – (£47,991) - unfavourable 
Unfortunately, Net Housing & Council Support spend was not a low as forecast in quarter 3 and 
as such is now showing as £47,991 unfavourable. The level of benefit claimants is very difficult to 
estimate, and the impact of the cost-of-living crisis was higher than anticipated. It is worth noting 
that this figure represents a variance of less than 1% against the expenditure budget. 
 
The service improvements implemented have continued to improve claim processing times as 
hoped but will continue to be monitored. DHP spend did drop below target but there have been 
increased applications so this will continue to improve and is regularly reported to the portfolio 
leads. 
 

Planning & Property 
Corporate Financial Services – £315,099 favourable 
There have been large scale changes within finance in the 2021/22 financial year, to determine 
new ways of working, and to act as a beacon for best practice across the Council.  This has led 
to vast improvements and visibility of the quarterly monitoring process and will lead to additional 
visibility of the financial implications of strategic and service objectives across the Council. 
 
This work has led to an increase in performance, both in terms of the finance function, and 
increasing knowledge, skills, and experience across the Council.  This additional work has been 
captured within existing budgets. 
 
Going forward, there will be a need to assist in new projects as they come emerge, such as the 
creation of the HRA.  The current skillset within finance will ensure this can happen within current 
resources, although there may be a need to appoint new members of the team at less senior 
levels to ensure business continuity.   A review of the unfilled vacancies and underspends in 
staffing has been carried out, and an updated structure has been put forward to HR, contained 
within existing budgets, to ensure Finance are flexible enough to recruit at the right levels and at 
the right time as these planned works begin. 
 
Effective resource allocation in the CMO area is also beginning to cause additional work for the 
Finance Specialist Function.  Whilst this can be absorbed within current Finance Specialist 
resource, this is not practical in the long term, and work is ongoing with the Head of Case 
Management to identify the issues and resources will need to be reallocated accordingly to 
ensure this does not become a pervasive issue. 

123



 
 
All statutory returns are up to date and the Final Accounts process for the 2021/22 year is 
progressing well and will be produced within statutory timeframes.  The final accounts for the 
2020/21 financial year were approved in December 2021.  The WGA accounts have been 
consistently delayed by Central Government, but this is now due to take place in the summer of 
2022, to finalise all outstanding actions from the 2020/21 accounts process. 
 
There is a favourable variance on Corporate Finance, of £315,099 of this £215,000 will go into a 
new revenue reserve for ongoing New Burdens from Government initiatives. The remaining 
£100,099 saving primarily related to additional time charged to new subsidiaries, capital projects 
and work charged externally.    
 
Strategic Housing - £1.5M favourable 
The Strategic Housing Programme continues to progress at speed and work is now well 
underway for the creation and the delivery of the Housing Revenue Account and Business Plan. 
LEAF Homes has been launched with lettings at Bandstand Court progressing very well Further 
work is now underway to develop strategies and start to determine specific aims of the 
programme for areas such as housing need and climate change. The Affordable Housing Policy 
& Compliance Senior Specialist is working with the Residential Manager to develop a Business 
Plan for the service. Housing Rental income remains healthy exceeding the business plan by 
£500,000 which will going into the Housing Reserve as approved as part of the revised budget. In 
addition, a further surplus income of £1.5M has been generated from the sale of nitrates credits, 
this will be used to make an addition debt repayment for the land. 
  

Service Plan 

 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan  (3,878) (3,346) (3,346) (3,346) (3,346) 

Forecast  (5,932) (3,210) (3,210) (3,210) (3,210) 

The forecast above reflects the likely ongoing impact of the cost-of-living crisis and the ongoing 
additional income from new subsidiaries. The current year surplus is significantly one-off surplus 
income and not forecast to continue. 

Resource requests (Requiring Approval) 

 

Request One-off Ongoing Status Comments 

New Burdens 
Reserve transfer 

£215,000 - requested 
Surplus revenue funding to 
support ongoing resource 

issues with New Burden work. 

     

     

 

 

124



Assets and Project Delivery Executive Area  
Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

March 2022 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Executive Area has performed well across the 2021-2022 financial year despite the 
challenges within the property and construction sector. At the end of this financial year, we are 
reporting a £45,000 budget underspend. 
 
The construction industry continues to see pressures despite materials price increases slowing 
towards the end of last year.  Energy price increases are affecting the production of energy-
intensive materials which may result in price increases and possible energy surcharges being 
applied.  We are still seeing long lead-in times as a result of continued strong demand in this 
sector.  Energy price rises will affect our operational building budgets, the extent to which is still 
to be determined. 
 
We have settled the historic contractual dispute associated with our Lakeside building in the 
last reporting period. 
 
As previously we continue to see challenges within the property portfolio particularly around the 
uncertainty for future demand for town centre office space. We have two significant void office 
properties, Hampshire House and Link 1.   

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Asset Management Amber Amber Amber Amber 

Facilities Management Amber Amber Amber Amber 

Project Management Green Green Green Green 

Building Surveying Green Green Green Green 

One Horton Heath Green Green Green Green 

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 (11,679) (4,367) (11,679) 0  

Q2 (11,723) (7,964) (11,723) 0 

Q3 (11,703) (10,159) (11,703) 0 

Q4 (6,524) (6,569) N/A 45 

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 
125



  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1             

KPI 2             

KPI 3             

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

Voids 6% (10/163 
lettable 
properties) 

7% (11/163 
lettable 
properties) 

 7% (11/163 
lettable 
properties)  

7% (12/164 
lettable 
properties) 

  

Rent 
Collection 
 

76% to the 
end of June 
2021 
 

As of 13 Sept 
2021: 
 
2020/21-was 
78.38%. 
 
2021/22 -is 
82.90%. 

As of 14 Dec 
2021: 
 
2020/21 was 
79.27%. 
 
2021/22 is 
91.01%. 

 As of 07 
March 2022 
 
2020/21 was 
81.47% 
 
2021/22 is 
91.09% 

  

         

  

126



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

 

Asset Management – (£0)  

As noted above this service remains as ‘amber’ as a result of outstanding recruitment needs In 

the last period our new Lead Asset Manager was recruited, via internal advertisement, taking 

up their post in March. Vacancies remain in the team with the recruitment process underway. 

Two Surveying technicians commenced RICS accredited courses (one degree, one 

postgraduate) which will build resilience into the Asset Management team. 

 

We have completed one strategic property acquisition in the last period.  Work continues on 

asset transfers with a high demand anticipated in the next 12-months to support the 

establishment of the Eastleigh Parish. Additional budget is available for this support (1FTE), the 

cost as identified in the service plan section below. 

The year-end asset valuations were completed to a high standard, using all members of the 

team. 

Prioritisation continues of void buildings and works to ensure properties are safe and secure to 

enable re-occupation. A void on Link1 has been funded by a break payment from the previous 

tenant to cover the loss of income 

As previously we have seen another increase in the levels of rental payments received, despite 

the difficulties businesses has suffered in recent times.  This demonstrates the on-going 

success of building relationships with our tenants. 

Facilities Management - £45,000 favourable 

As noted above this service remains as ‘amber’ as a result of outstanding recruitment needs. 

We recruited a new Green Energy Manager within the FM team taking up their post in 

February. 

We continue to have cleaning vacancies however duties have been covered with no serious 

issues arising. 

We are in the process of recruiting a Health and Safety Technician to support our Corporate 

Health and Safety Manager. 

The new Sorting Office, relocated from the previous premises within the Post Office building on 

High Street opened in the last period.  The tenants are receiving support from the FM team. 

The team continues to support the Future Ways of Working project as this moves into its next 

phase in June. 

We have commissioned and received the specialist advice to prepare and submit a bid for grant 

money from the anticipated central government decarbonisation fund.  The date of this is yet to 

be confirmed and the expected date of March 2022 did not materialise.  It remains our intention 

to bid the fund is opened for submissions. 

We have now replaced our Green Energy Manager who has prepared the energy audit tender 

to be issued during June. 

127



Two years’ worth of bad debt £75,000 associated with a service charge dispute are included in 

the figures. The favourable outcome is due to internal re-charges being greater than budgeted 

for and a saving on staff costs due to vacancies. 

Project Management - £(0) 

The PM Team continues to support a range of projects summarised below: 

Environment 

• Provision made within IVCP project to factor in tree planting to assist with 160,000 target 

and working to develop the tree strategy as part of the strategic land acquisitions. 

Economy 

• The Green project (approved 18/1/22) will generate 50 x new jobs and regenerate a 

vacant site at the entrance to Eastleigh Borough at the location of the former Civic 

offices. Expected start on site Summer 2022 46 week build programme. 

Health & Social Policy  

• Equalities training planned using online training module on EBC Learn. 

Housing  

• HRA project underway interface with Residential Lettings arm in development. 

• Stoneham Park 42 homes – completed April 

• Pembers Hill – on track. 

• Fanfare Place – handover due for June. 

Regeneration  

• Eastleigh Town Centre toilets – work has now commenced. 

• Kestrel Park (Bursledon) – ground works underway. Anticipated completion May 22 with 

12 months maintenance prior to handover in Spring 23. Play provision prioritised with 

installation completed in March. 

• Woodhouse Lane sports facilities – on track. 

• Post office – PCSA due to conclude imminently. 

• The Arch – works continue to develop a viable scheme. 

• St Johns – awaiting resolution of legal discussions 

• IVCP – planning submission made April 22 with determination anticipated June 22. 

Building Surveying – Included as part of Asset Management 

Planned work continues to be carried out through the R&R budget as well as reactive works 

being addressed through case work.  To maintain appropriate service levels, we outsource 

some work.  However, this still requires briefs, schedules of service and appropriate 

procurement of services.  We are commissioning external CAD plans of key buildings, funded 

through the sites R & R budgets. 

Since the restrictions due to COVID 19 have eased contractors are ever more reluctant to 

commit to schemes due to uncertainties around construction inflation and a lack of skilled 

labour resources.  This has resulted in the need for longer lead times for our schemes.  We 

have responded to this and are extending lead times to 4 – 6 months. This will enable 

packaging parcels of work together which will result in a more efficient approach to 

procurement of works. 

128



One Horton Heath team - Financial position as per the wider report 

Work to finalise the scopes for the Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) are well advanced with 

the target for this being live during Q1. 

The team continue to focus on the delivery of the Council’s One Horton Heath housing scheme 

and are fully resourced to enable this landmark project to be delivered. Recent changes in staff 

are being covered with existing resource to ensure that the correct level of support is provided. 
 

Service Plan 

 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan £0 £50 £50 £0 £0 

Forecast £0 £50 £50 £0 £0 

The forecast above reflects the need for additional asset management support for the Eastleigh 
parishing work. 

Resource requests (Requiring Approval) 

Include anything required to aid remedial action or new business cases 

Request One-off Ongoing Status Comments 

     
     

       

 

129



Governance Executive Area 
Planning and Property Portfolio 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

March 2022 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Governance Executive continued to perform well during quarter 4. A number of staff 
vacancies has led to an underspend of £29,000. Currently the vacancies are being managed 
through temporary staffing arrangements whilst a full review of the structure of the governance 
area is being conducted.  
 
The Legal Team is continuing to operate well despite resourcing pressures due to vacancies 
within the team. The High Court gave campaign group GOESA permission to bring a judicial 
review (JR) challenge over the decision to grant planning permission for an extension to the 
runway at Southampton Airport. During quarter 4 work continued to support the application. The 
JR hearing took place in April 2022, in May 2022 the Council was advised that the claim was 
refused. The Legal Team has also continued to support key programmes and projects including 
One Horton Heath and the Freeport.  
 
During the final quarter of 2021/22, the Elections Team began preparation for the May 2022 
Borough and Parish elections as well as delivering a snap by-election in February 2022 for the 
election of a Borough Councillor for Eastleigh Central.  
 
The Democratic Services Team continued to support the delivery of a number of face to face 
democratic meetings and completed the scheduling of meetings for 2022/23. Along with 
reviewing the induction arrangements for new Councillors following the May 2022 election and 
developing a training and development programme for 2022/23 for all Councillors.  
 
The Internal Audit Team continued to complete audit reviews as identified in the Internal Audit 
Plan 2021/22 and monitor the implementation of audit recommendations.  

 

  

130



 

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Corporate Governance (Legal 
and Internal Audit)  Amber Amber Amber Amber 

Licensing  Green Green Green Green 

Democratic Services  Amber Amber Amber Amber 

Electoral Services Green Green Green  Green  

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 1,602 563 1,600 2 

Q2 1,580 1,110 1,565 15 

Q3 1,582 1,507 1,576 6 

Q4 1,590 1,561 Not applicable 29 

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1 FOI/EIR requests 
responded to within SLA 
(%, and actual number of 
requests) 
Green = more than 90% 

Amber = more than 85% 

Red = 85% or less 

 

98% 
 

56/ 
57 

100% 
 

47/ 
47 

100% 
 

56/ 
56 

96% 
 

54/ 
56 

94% 
 

49/ 
52 

91% 
 

63/ 
69 

96% 
 

64/ 
67 

96% 
 

48/ 
50 

98% 
 

56/ 
57 

99% 
 

80/ 
81 

97% 
 

60/ 
62 

97% 
 

59/ 
61 

  

131



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

Democratic Services (£15,536): 
There is an overspend of £15,536 in Democratic Services due to the increased costs of hiring 
Covid secure, larger venues and also due to staffing costs arising from the transfer of 
democratic support from the Case Management Team to the Democratic Services Team. The 
budget for the Democratic Services Officer has not yet transferred permanently to the 
Governance Executive as the outcome of the corporate review of Case Management 
arrangements is to be determined. It is anticipated that this overspend is unlikely to recur. 
 
The team are also supporting the review of Councillor Allowances that is being conducted by 
the Independent Remuneration Panel who were appointed during the quarter. Their 
appointment and Terms of Reference for the review will be presented to Administration 
Committee in June 2022.  
 
Elections £14,778: 
At the close of quarter 4 there was an underspend in elections of £14,778 due to the receipt of 
a one-off grant to cover additional expenses incurred because of health and safety measures to 
mitigate the risk of transmission of Covid-19.  
 
The election costs for the Police and Crime Commissioner and Hampshire County Council in 
May 2021 have been submitted to the respective authorities for reimbursement so the variance 
to the budget should be negligible.  
 

Electoral Services is required to create the new Eastleigh Parish Council areas on the revised 
published register to enable the administration of the election in May 2022. 
 

During the final quarter of 2021/22, the team started planning for the impact that the new 
Elections Act 2022 will have on the administration of elections from May 2023. 
 
Corporate Governance (Legal & Internal Audit) £28,291: 
There is an underspend of £28,291 arising from staff vacancies for Legal and Internal Audit.  
 
Difficulties recruiting to fill the vacant legal posts means a locum has been appointed for 6 
months until the end of July 2022. The vacant trainee post in Legal Services has been filled 
internally creating a temporary Legal Assistant vacancy and recruitment has commenced. 
However despite pressures with resources the team has continued to provide professional 
support and advice to teams across the Council to ensure it remains legally compliant.  
 
The Internal Audit Team continues to deliver the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 and reports 
progress to the Audit and Resources Committee regularly. The team has spent considerable 
time supporting the post payment assurance reviews for the payment of covid-19 business 
support grants as required by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy. 
This has impacted on the delivery of the audit plan. Reporting of progress with delivery of the 
audit plan is regularly presented to the Audit and Resources Committee. 
 
The Corporate Governance budget will be separated from 2022/23 between Legal Services and 
Audit Services as for 2021/22 was combined.  
 
Licensing £1,218: 
The Licensing Act 2003 budget and Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles transferred to 
the Governance Executive Area during quarter 3. 

132



 
A review of the contract with Southampton City Council is currently being undertaken with the 
aim for completion and signing shortly. The Safeguarding Training for drivers is now in place 
and being rolled out to existing and new drivers.  
 
Monitoring Officer summary: 
New Parish & Town Councils – the New Parish Council Working Group continued to meet 
during quarter 4 to discuss the formation of the new Parish Councils for Eastleigh and Boyatt 
Wood. The Election for the new parish councils took place May 2022.  
 
During the quarter, the work continued on the new design Constitution following the review and 
approval at Full Council in November 2021. It is planned that the new design Constitution will 
be published early in the new Municipal year.  
 
Work commenced on the review of the Annual Governance Statement 2021/22 which will be 
presented to Audit & Resources Committee for approval by the end of July 2022.  
  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 

Forecast 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 
 

 

133



Customer Care 

Executive Summary Report 

Social Policy Portfolio 
 

Reporting Date: 

March 2022 

 

1. Overall Summary 
Resources continue to be challenging primarily due to staff turnover with a significant number of 
staff developing their career and moving to other areas of the Council.  Issues filling vacancies 
continue due to lack of available skilled candidates in the marketplace. There is a particular risk 
around recruiting CMO’s to support Housing and Homelessness which is an area under 
pressure, so work has commenced with Housing Specialists on a plan to address this. 
 
Performance overall for Case Management remains Amber, however most KPI’s for this quarter 
are showing as Green and in particular, a significant improvement in performance with Council 
Tax work and planning enforcement cases can be seen. 
 
Most notably, the health check indicator for Local Area Services has changed from Amber to 
Green as a result of significant improvement in performance which can be attributed to 
improvements in the management of the team and excellent efforts from staff. 

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Customer Services  GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

Case Management Support  AMBER AMBER AMBER AMBER 

Case Management Service 
Delivery  AMBER AMBER AMBER AMBER 

Local Area Services  AMBER AMBER AMBER GREEN 

2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 

2,919 

 

903,267 2,940 

 

(21) 

 

Q2 2,998 

 

1,744 

 

2,960 

 

38 

 

Q3 2,980 2,574 2,895 84 

Q4 2,993 2,981 N/A 10 

 

134



2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 
Council Tax - Customers with outstanding 
account queries older than 15 days (number) 
Green < 200 
Amber < 400 
Red >400 

G 
89 

G 
115 

R 
665 

R 
759 

R 
1212 

R 
1706 

R 
1,566 

R 
1,654 

R 
1400 

554 50 77 

New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit) 
claims received (number) 
Workflow indicator only 

124 112 141 147 138 171 158 163 104 162 122 183 

Time to process new benefit (Council Tax 
Support & Housing Benefit) claims (days) 
Green < 22 days 
Amber < 11 days 
Red > 11 days 

R 
21 

R 
20 

R 
24 

G 
21 

G 
22 

G 
16.8 

G 
9.9 

G 
6.9 

G 
8.8 

G 
6.5 

G 
7.6 

G 
8.0 

Time to process benefit (Council Tax Support 
& Housing Benefit) change events (days) 
Green < 22 days 
Amber < 11 days 
Red > 11 days 

G 
4.0 

G 
4.9 

G 
5.7 

G 
4.5 

G 
6.15 

G 
5.9 

G 
4.9 

G 
4.2 

G 
4.6 

G 
4.5 

G 
1.3 

F 
4.7 

Customer complaints (number) 
No target 
 

66 77 104 46 42 43 34 29 31 39 26 18 

Corporate complaints outside SLA (%, and 
actual number of complaints) 
Green < 25% 
Red > 25% 

G 
11% 
7/66 

G 
16% 
12/7

7 

G 
8% 
(8/1
04) 

R 
31% 
(14/
46) 

G 
14%
6/42 

G 
20% 
9/43 

G 
12%
4/34 

G 
7% 
2/29 

G 
10%
3/31 

G 
0% 
0/39 

G 
4% 
1/26 

G 
11% 
2/18 

Invoices paid within 10 days (%)  
Green > 75% 
Amber > 70% 
Red <70% 

R 
52% 

R 
50% 

R 
38% 

R 
36% 

R 
30% 

R 
24% 

R 
21% 

R 
59% 

R 
47% 

R 
62%  

R 
49% 

R 
46% 

Cases raised across all service areas 
(number) 
Green > 5,000 
Amber < 5,000 
Red < 4,000 

G 
6095 

A 
4726 

G 
5874 

G 
7224 

G 
5928 

G 
6433 

 
G 

7,959 

G 
8,684 

G 
7,798 

G 
9,201 

G 
8,992 

G 
10,334 

Average case duration for cases raised 
across all service areas (working days)   

 

G 
13 

G 
38 

G 
19 

G 
37 

R 
18 

G 
7 

G 
13 

R 
16 

G 
15 

G 
12 

R 
18 

G 
14 

Cases raised via the Members' Hub (number) 
Green > 40 
Amber < 40 
Red < 20 

A 

33 
A 

35 
G 
40 

A 

31 
R 
17 

A 

32 
G 
40 

G 
52 

A 
30 

A 
28 

G 
44 

G 
46 

Average case duration for cases raised via 
the Members' Hub (working days)   

 

R 
13 

R 
38 

R 
19 

R 
37 

R 
29 

R 
20 

R 
29 

R 
39 

R 
24 

R 
22 

R 
54 

R 
25 

Noise nuisance requests responded to on 
time (% & actual number of requests) 
Green > 90% 
Amber < 90% 
Red <75% 

A 
84% 
(27/3

2) 

G 
94%
29/3

1 

A 
88% 
(37/4

2) 

G 
99% 

G 
100
% 

G 
94% 
45/4

8 

G 
100
% 

22/2
2 

G 
96% 
24/2

5 

G 
100%
(11/1

1) 

G 
96% 
26/27 

G 
100% 
18/18 

A 
89% 
16/18 

CSC - Interactions handled  
(average number per working day, no 
target, workflow indicator) 

942 842 945 882 847 812 803 770 653 756 742 859 

CSC - Calls answered vs. offered (%) 
Green = 85% 
Amber = 80% 
Red = < 80% 

A 

84% 
A 

83% 
A 

82% 
A 

84% 
A 

82 
G 

85% 
G 

85% 
G 

86% 
G 

88% 
G 

88% 
G 

88% 
G 

86% 

CSC - Customer interactions resolved at first 
point of contact (%) 
G = 60%+, A = 55%+, R = <55% 

G 
70% 

G 
65% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

G 
68% 

G 
70% 

G 
68% 

G 
71% 

G 
70% 

G 
68% 

  

135



  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

DM Enforcement Priority 3 
Closed within target (80%) 
Red = <70% 
Amber = 70-79% 
Green = >80% 

R 
48% 

R 
50% 

R 
48% 

R 
45% 

R 
50% 

R 
33% 

R 
33% 

R 
40% 

A 
63% 

R 
52% 

R 
61% 

G 
86% 

DM Enforcement Priority 3 
Initial visit within target (80%) 
Red = <70% 
Amber = 70-79% 
Green = >80% 

G 
93% 

G 
85% 

G 
85% 

A 

79% 
G 

94% 
G 

87% 
A 

70% 
A 

78% 
A 

78% 

 
G 

100
% 

G 
91% 

G 
97% 

DM Enforcement Priority 4 
Closed within target (80%) 
Red = <70% 
Amber = 70-79% 
Green = >80% 

A 

73% 
A 

63% 
R 

29% 
R 

0% 
R 

50% 
R 

0% 
R 

46% 
R 

46% 
R 

60% 
R 

45% 

 
G 

100
% 

G 
89% 

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
Social Policy Portfolio £10,000 (favourable) 

Underspend was forecast in Q3 predominately due to vacancies within Local Area Services, 
some of which were managed with others having proved to be more difficult to fill with planned 
spend on temporary staffing delayed due to the lack of available resources/contracting staff.  A 
savings target of £74k was applied in Quarter 4 as part of the revised budget due to vacancies.   
 
Case Management (Support) 
Payment of Invoices -There has been a slight overall upward trend in performance over the 
year against the 10-day target, however this has been minimal and remains off target.  
Improvements to process have commenced this quarter, however progress with implementing 
improvements has been slower than planned.  Management oversight of this area has been 
allocated to the Head of Customer Services who will be working with Finance Specialists 
investigating where the bottlenecks are and making recommendations into how these can be 
resolved. 
 
 
Case Management (Service Delivery) 
Council Tax – a significant improvement in the number of Council Tax queries dealt with within 
15 days can be seen with the KPI having moved from red in January to Green in February and 
March. Resources this quarter were focussed on improving performance against this KPI and 
was facilitated by a planned pause in the recovery schedule which freed up staff time to focus 
on Council Tax work. 
 
Case Management (System – Members Hub) – An increase in the number of requests from 
councillors being channelled via the Members Hub can be seen with the KPI Green for 
February and March.  Quicker monitoring is now possible due to improved reporting in 
Salesforce.  A feedback survey was opened to Councillors with the results currently being 
analysed. This feedback will assist in making further improvements and changes. 
 
Customer Services  
Customer Services continues to perform well overall. 
 
 
 
 

136



Local Area Services 
 
Resourcing challenges have improved with some vacancies having been filled.   
There has been a significant improvement in performance with regards to planning enforcement 
cases which has resulted in KPI’s being achieved with all three KPI’s showing as green. This 
has been as a result of improvements in the management and prioritisation of workloads and 
the efforts of the whole team. 
  

 

 

3. Commentary 

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 2,998 

 

2,998 2,998 2,998 2,998 

Forecast  2,998 2,998 2,998 2,998 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

137



Organisational Development (with Strategic Planning) –  
Planning and Property/Health Portfolios 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: March 2022 

 

1. Overall Summary 
In this quarter, significant progress was made establishing the priorities for the Organisational 
Development Executive Area in 2022/23 as the Executive Plan was approved. This sets out the 
Area’s priorities and for the first time, it starts to assess the interdependencies with the other 
Executive Areas.  
Progress continues to be made on some significant corporate projects such as Future Ways of 
Working, the People Strategy and the IT Programme. Corporately recruitment and retention 
remain high risks for the Council. In Organisational Development, on-going vacancies in HR and 
IT have meant that these services continue to be impacted. There is a significant overspend in IT 
and this is explained in more detail in the body of the report.  
 
The significant underspend in Planning Policy is detailed below and relates to overbudgeting for 
work in 21/22 including final Local Plan costs. 

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Organisational Development 

Communications and Marketing Amber Amber Green Green 

Human Resources  Red Amber Amber Amber  

Information Technology  Red Red Red Red  

Performance  Amber Green Green Green  

Safety & Resilience Amber Amber Green Green 

Strategic Planning and Development 

Strategic Planning Green Green Green Green 

Planning Policy Green Green Green Green 

2.2 Finance 
 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Und
erspent 

Organisational Development 

Q1  2,398 1,347  2,354 43 

Q2  2,459 1,802 2,398 61 

Q3 2,729 2,343   2,952        (223)  

Q4 2,995 3,169 3,169 (174) 138



Strategic Planning and Development  

Q1 1,986 183 1,695 291 

Q2 2,018 478 1,910 108 

Q3 1,997 938 1,601 395 

Q4          1,565           1,455                      1,602           110  
2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1  

Corporate sickness 

(average number of 

working days lost due 

to sickness absence 

per employee per 

year) Green = less than 

7 days 

 

6.1 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

5.7 
(G) 

5.7 
(G) 

5.7 
(G) 

6.3 
(G) 

6.9 
(G) 

7.0 
(A) 

6.7 
(G) 

8.4 
(R) 

KPI 2  

Staff turnover (% of 

people voluntarily 

resigning cf. total 

headcount for rolling 12 

month period) Green = 

15% or less  

Amber = 18% or less  

Red = more than 18%  

 

9.0 
(G) 

10.0(
G) 

11.0 
(G) 

12.0(
G) 

13.2(
G) 

14.1 
(G) 

13.3(
G) 

14.6 
(G) 

14.6 
(G) 

15.0 
(G) 

16.5 
(A) 

16.7 
(A) 

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

None in 21/22              
 

 

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

Planning and Property Portfolio 
 
Heath Check 
 
HR and IT are rated amber and red respectively largely due to the on-going vacancies in these 
areas and the overspend in IT. Communications and Marketing and Performance are rated as 
green. The updates below provide further information. 
 
Key Performance Indicators 
 

139



The corporate sickness figure was green (6.7%) in February but in March this increased to 
8.4% which is red. The increase in the number of working days lost has been analysed with 
illness due to Covid accounting for the highest number of days lost followed by colds and flu. 
These cases relate mainly to Neighbourhood Services which given the size of the workforce is 
understandable.  
 
The corporate turnover figure has continued its upward trend. The headcount in March reduced 
from 569 to 564 which meant that the turnover figure increased even though there were the 
same number of leavers in the rolling 12-month period for February and March. Career 
advancement or retirement remain the top reasons for resigning. This is a national issue and 
one which the People Strategy, a key corporate project, is seeking to address.   
 
Communications and Marketing (Variance – £30k) 
 
The variance is an underspend on staffing, additional income from roundabout sponsorship and 
funding for Covid related communications which was successfully acquired. The budget for 
22/23 has been amended to reflect the ongoing staffing underspend. 
The Communications Team has supported 29 campaigns during this quarter. These include 
environmental campaigns such as approval for new green spaces and investment in Flexford 
Nature Reserve and Hiltingbury Lakes; planting of a Tiny Forest at Fleming Park and adoption 
of a tree protection policy. In terms of the Economy, the focus was on One Horton Heath 
employment and skills, Youth Hub careers advice, support for the bid to be the home of the 
national rail authority and the Window Wanderland competition in the south of the Borough. 
Wellbeing campaigns for This Girl Can Eastleigh – Active Mums; No Smoking Day; Cervical 
Cancer Screening Awareness and Sports Awards nominations were also promoted. 
There was extensive coverage of the Council’s response to the Russian invasion of Ukraine; 
Help Homelessness in Eastleigh along with marketing and promotion of the annual community 
grants. 
A Freedom of the Borough presentation was held for mountaineer, Nims Purja in addition to a 
Citizens of Honour ceremony. Communications also supported the Mayor’s charity activities 
such as the charity dog walk for Mountbatten Hampshire at Itchen Valley Country Park. Support 
for the Mayor’s Assistant has been achieved using the current resources in the team. 
 
Human Resources (Variance + £60k) 
 
The overspend is largely attributable to a significant increase in the Employee Related 
Insurance Premium which totalled £86,000. This has been addressed in the budgets for 
2022/23.  
There was also an overspend on the Apprentice Levy of £5,000 as this is linked to headcount 
which rose for most of the year. However, these overspends were partially offset by further 
savings due to staff vacancies and an underspend on training beyond what was reported last 
quarter. 
A recruitment and retention specialist has been appointed to assist with plans to tackle the 
rising turnover rate. A salary benchmarking project has also been commissioned and the 
results of this will be considered at the end of June. The team continue to be heavily involved in 
the Future Ways of Working project and issuing monthly wellbeing bulletins. 
The annual staffing review was also completed and a report was presented to the Audit and 
Resources Committee in March. 
Statutory requirements such as the Gender Pay Gap report were met and a supplementary 
payroll for the national pay award was successfully achieved with the assistance of HR 
Managers and case management officers who covered for payroll colleagues on sick leave. 
This was achieved prior to the increase in National Insurance contributions in April. 
  
Information Technology (Variance + £183k) 
 

140



Recruitment continues to be a top priority with 3 vacancies existing for most of this quarter 
although the Junior Business Analyst post has now been offered to an internal candidate. The 
other 2 vacancies are in the infrastructure area which has significantly reduced resilience and 
has impacted on operations and monitoring. It should be noted that Case Management Officers 
(CMOs) have been exceptionally helpful in triaging and taking on greater workload to assist. 
Both roles are being readvertised.  
Business as usual has dominated this quarter as well as the move to a Garden Waste 
subscription service. 
There have been no connectivity outages for staff at Eastleigh House. However, tenants at 
Lakeside Country Park, experienced interruption to managed internet access from the supplier 
for over a week. 
Business decisions about communications need to be made in the next quarter to facilitate the 
structure of file migrations, telephone call routing etc.  
Early development of process improvement and centralising the customer view by the IT 
service including enablement of webchat, improved pest control and clinical waste transactions, 
has resulted in expenditure of £183,000 in 2021/22 which was earlier than planned but this 
spend is in line with the 2022/23 budget for the service. Whilst progress of development work 
remains healthy, vacancies in the infrastructure team may impact delivery timetables and 
create some future cost pressures due to unnecessary licencing renewals. Further work is 
ongoing to minimise the risk. 
  
Performance (Variance + £4k) 
 
The variance relates to a late payment. This has been budgeted for in 2022/23 so does not 
represent an on-going pressure. 
The Resource Manager has assumed the Project Manager role for phase 2 of the Future Ways 
of Working project. Recommendations will be made during the first quarter in 2022/23. 
The Resource Manager is also line managing the Recruitment and Retention Specialist and 
provides the People Strategy Project team with fortnightly updates including leading on the 
salary benchmarking project. Operational support and advice on recruitment challenges 
continues to be provided to service managers along with staffing structure reviews in 
conjunction with HR. 
Work on the Key Performance Indicator review has been concluded; further discussions with 
the Executive Team and councillors who are members of the Policy and Performance Scrutiny 
Panel are scheduled for April and May. 
The Resource Manager has also supported the annual strategic cycle and annual Budget 
processes which result in key priorities for the Council.  
The Council’s Continuous Improvement Strategy will be launched in the first quarter of 2022/23.  
  
Health Portfolio 
 
Health check 
The Safety and Resilience service is rated as green. 
 
Safety and Resilience (Variance - £41k)  
 
The underspend is related to funding from Hampshire County Council for the Covid testing 
centre. This funding was received late in the financial year and largely relates to staffing. Safety 
and Resilience hold this budget however related staffing costs have been allocated to other 
Executive Areas. . This funding will not be repeated in 2022/23 as the testing centre is closed.  
The Local Response Centre has also closed after helping over 850 individual residences during 
the last 2 years Covid. 
Volunteering is an on-going part of community resilience and emergency planning. Examples of 
this are the restarting of HYPER (Hampshire Young Persons Emergency Response Network) 

141



and the training of 10 new staff volunteers for the Borough’s Emergency Control Centre 
(BECC).  
Planning for resilience amongst community groups, the Council’s Business Continuity Plans 
and cyber security arrangements are also being reviewed. The Council effectively managed 2 
significant incidents, namely Storm Eunice and the loss of drinking water in parts of the 
Borough. 
There has been a successful end to the year with The Supporting Families (SF) programme 
reaching out to 250 families against an original target of 216 and 30 young people (72%) taking 
part in the Changing Direction for Success project are no longer classified as NEET (not in 
education, employment or training). 
 
Strategic Planning and Development Performance and Variances - £108k 
 
The team completed a range of Planning Policy and Strategy work during Q4, including the final 
stage of preparation of the Local Plan for adoption. 
 
The Planning Policy budget shows a £91k variance due to lower than expected Planning 
Inspectorate costs, some legal work falling into 22/23, delays to commissioning work (e.g. 
Conservation Area Appraisals and Playing Pitch Strategy) and overestimating some costs (e.g. 
Hamble Airfield Gravel application studies). The Strategic Planning budget contains a number 
of corporate items and variances, in addition to direct Strategic Planning Team staff costs. A 
variance of £18k in this area includes underspends due to delay in recruiting to new Planning 
Policy posts.  
  
Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Organisational Development 

Per service plan 2,995 3,360 3,360 3,360 3,360 

Forecast 3,169 3,360 3,360 3,360 3,360 

Strategic Planning and Development 

Per Service Plan 1,564 1,709 1,709 1,709 1,709 

Forecast 1,455 1,709 1,709 1,709 1,709 

Resource requests (Requiring Approval) 

Include anything required to aid remedial action or new business cases 

Request One-off Ongoing Status Comments 

       

       

       

 

142



Portfolios of Housing & Development and Economy  

Executive Summary Report 
Q4 – 2021/22  

 
Reporting Date: March 2022 
 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Executive area closes Q4 with continued excellent performance against key performance 
indicators for Development Management, Planning Enforcement improving and Economy & 
Business continuing to support the local businesses and economy. The performance in the 
delivery of the Land Charges service improved dramatically in Q4. The impact of increased 
resources and successful recruitment in Planning Enforcement have demonstrated positive 
results in proactive enforcement allowing more proactive work including a landscape audit of 
phase 1 of the Boorley Green development. 
 
Q3 forecast an unfavourable budget with DM and Eastleigh Business Centre expecting a 
reduction in income / increased staff costs (£200k and £90k respectively). The uncertainty 
surrounding the refit for the Business Centre continues to see income reductions and 
occupancy rates drop to less than 60% (Pre-covid target was 85%). As a result the budgets for 
these services were adjusted with a reduction in income being offset by reserves. Q4 for these 
service areas and the Executive as a whole, have met the revised budget target. The airport 
Judicial Review (JR) was held in late April with the total costs associated in defending the JR 
(£170k plus the £50k for legal support during the planning application) being funded 
corporately. In May, the High Court dismissed the JR against the Council’s decision to permit 
the planning application for the runway extension.  This will be reported in detail in Q1 of 
2022/23 but it is confirmed this does not impact on the 2021/22 year end position.  
 
In Q4, whilst performance for delivering the Land Charges service improved the total cost of 
delivering the service showed an unfavourable variance, with £10k being drawn from the 
reserves ensuring the service is provided at no cost. Building Control closed the year with a 
successful quarter, meeting performance targets and generating a £22k increase in forecast 
income, which has been placed in the ring-fenced reserve for this service. Overall, the net cost 
of delivering the Planning & Economy Executive Area was £750,000, which is just £200 over 
the reset forecast budget. 
  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Development Management G A A G 

Planning Enforcement R R A  A 

Urban & Landscape Design G A A  A 

Economy and Business G G G G 

Eastleigh Business Centre A A A A 

143



Building Control  G G G G 

Land Charges R A R A 

Heritage and Conservation G G G G  

2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 186 664 376 (190) 

Q2 186 773 692 (506) 

Q3 186 772 504 (318) 

Q4 746 746 746 - 

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1 – DM Major App (60% - 13 weeks) 50 100 100 100 50 66 100 100 100 100 100 100 

KPI 2 – DM Minor App (65% - 8 weeks) 56 69 100 89.5 87 77 85 91 80 80  91 
100 

 

KPI 3 – DM Other Apps (80% - 8 weeks) 76 694 96 81 93 92 85 91 96 96 100 100 

KPI 4 – DM Quality of service (Planning 
appeals allowed as a proportion of all 
planning application decisions (<10%) 

0 0.6 0 0.54 0 0.48 0.27 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.82 

KPI 5 – EB Businesses supported 
(number per month and YTD) including 
Wessex House and Platform4 Business 
(1,000+) 

1169 
YTD 

622 
1791 

204 
1995 

19 
2014 

68 
2082 

57 
2139 

14 
2159 

12 
2171 

4 
2175 

46 77 172 

KPI 6 – EB Occupancy rate for 
tenantable space at Eastleigh Business 
Centre* (75%) 

71 73 72 72 72 72 71 68 67 65 58 58 

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 
Enforcement site visit 
(Specialist)  

85% 85% 77% 84% 80% 

Enforcement site visit 
(Specialist & Localities 
combined)  

86% 85% 
76.3% 90% 80% 

Enforcement closed 
cases (Specialist) 

71% 55% 68% 76.8 80% 

Enforcement closed 
cases (Specialist & 
Localities combined) 

57% 45.4% 
52% 72% 80% 

Land Charges 
completed in 10 
working days 

68.5 

 94.4 75 96 100% 

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

144



 
Housing & Development: Planning & Property Portfolio 
 
Development Management (£22,000) unfavourable variance 
 
In Q4, performance continues to remain strong against all KPIs that measure quality and 
delivery of service within Development Management. For the financial year, the statutory 
targets are majors 60% (achieved 85.71%) and non-majors 70% (achieved 90%). Historically, 
DM divide the non-major applications in to “minors” and “others” setting targets for minors 65% 
(achieved 83.44%) and others 80% (achieved 91.89%). Planning application volumes remain 
around average for Q4 (587) but 102 lower that Q4 last year which was unusually high (689). 
Overall, 2,457 applications were received in the financial year 2021/22, a slight reduction of 
2.5% compared to the previous financial year. In Q4 493 decisions were recorded (7% increase 
on the same period in 2020/21) whilst the year as a whole had a 25% increase in the number of 
decisions compared to the preceding financial year. This suggests that whilst overall less 
applications were received, the speed of decisions has increased during the year. No agency 
staff were employed in this last quarter whilst career development opportunities have been 
afforded to two members of the Case Management team who have been recruited to vacant 
planning officer posts, alongside an internal promotion for one planning officer to a senior 
officer on a career grade path. Investing in existing council staff and a successful external 
recruitment in Q2 to a number of vacant posts has seen overall performance, customer service 
and quality of service improve.  
 
The reset income target at Q3 has resulted in actual planning fees (£526k) exceeding the 
revised forecast. Staffing costs for the year were 10% higher (£106,975) than budgeted 
primarily due to legacy agency costs.  
 
Planning Enforcement  
 
During the fourth quarter of 2021/22, a total of 188 new cases were registered (up 9% on 
2020/21 Q4). Significant improvements in closing cases within target have been demonstrated 
with 163 cases closed in Q4, an increase of 38% compared the same period last year. The 
improved performance primarily is as a result of improved case management on lower priority 
cases (P3/P4s) by the Localities team, meeting their target for the first time. It is also 
noteworthy the improved performance for the more complex, higher priority cases in this 
quarter as forecast in Q3 with the addition of two enforcement officers to the team late in 2021. 
After a slight dip in performance last quarter in site visits undertaken within agreed timescales, 
all areas of enforcement have exceeded the target for Q4. During the fourth quarter of 2021/22, 
7 formal Notices were served compared to 3 for the same quarter in 2020/21 and there has 
been one successful prosecution for the current period; that being the owner of the land east of 
Brigadier Gerard PH (known as Scorey’s Copse) who pleaded guilty to breaching the Woodland 
Tree Preservation Order. Sentencings due 10 September 2022. Proactive enforcement has 
resulted in 17 retrospective planning applications being registered generating income of £4,046. 
The final figure for 2021/22 is £9,716, up £1,158 from 2020/21. Furthermore, following a 
proactive landscape audit of the first phase of development at the Boorley Park development, 
the development consortium has been requested to replace circa 1/3rd of the approved trees. 
 
The Section 106 monitoring and management process was scoped during this quarter. In 
March, the Planning Obligation officer resigned and in recognition of the increased monitoring 
and reporting work, a growth bid is proposed to increase this from a part time to full time post. 
This growth can in part be offset against the Planning Obligation monitoring charge that was 
introduced in 2021.  
 
Urban and Landscape Design 
 

145



The revamped play area at Lawn Road in Eastleigh opened in February following major 
refurbishment as part of a wider programme to deliver new and improved play areas around the 
Borough. The project suffered delays as a result of contractor availability and vandalism, as 
well as an increase in costs in part as a result of the increase security needed at night and 
weekends. The team continues to perform well on planning consultation responses for the 
Development Management service. In Q4 the team continued work on a range of projects and 
strategies including North Stoneham public art project and the BIFOHH public art vision.  
 
The team have been operating with a 25% reduction in resources (1 vacant post) offsetting this 
through reduce project work and employing a landscape consultant (1 day / week). In March, 
the senior Urban Designer resigned and left the team in May and in mid-July a principal 
landscape architect will also be leaving. Both have identified career development as a key 
reason for leaving. A recruitment drive is underway to fill the vacant posts.  
 
Heritage 
 
The statutory service of providing advice on heritage matters continues to be successfully 
delivered through an outsourcing arrangement and is commensurate to the quantum of relevant 
planning applications. As forecast, in this last quarter work has commenced on updating 
several conservation area character appraisals and formalising the process for considering the 
Local Listing of Buildings within the Borough.  
 
Building Control £22,000 favourable variance 
 
The service continues to be delivered entirely and successfully by Southampton CC through the 
Partnership Agreement. Performance remains high with improvements achieved in several 
measured areas included the percentage of full applications determined / checked in 15 days; 
percentage of customers surveyed satisfied and annual completion certificates issued. An 
updated draft of the EBC / SCC Partnership agreement has been passed to Southampton CC 
for comment. Final agreement is expected during Q1 of 2022/23.  
 
During 2021/22, 1,689 applications were process achieving an overall operating income 
(£579K) generated a small financial surplus for Eastleigh (£22k) for reinvestment; ISO 9001 
Quality Assurance accreditation was maintained; digital support was enhanced with the 
publication of a new technical guide on the web site to help homeowners / customers and 
access to a new online technical library. Briefings provided on new Regulations (June 2022) will 
enhance the reputation of Eastleigh and Southampton. Enhanced commercialisation of the 
service by working with more partner companies was undertaken. Finally, the service achieved 
Building Excellence awards for projects including Stoneham Park Academy school.  
 
Land Charges (£0)  
 
The volume of searches received has been consistent during the quarter, being between 260 – 
280 each month. On average, the total numbers remain similar to Q3 however significant 
improvement in performance has been achieved with on average 95% of searches being within 
target (100% responded to in 10 working days). Whilst a long-standing target, this is non-
statutory and has proven challenging to consistently meet. It is therefore intended for 2022/23 
that this performance indicator is amended to a more appropriate 90% of all searches being 
answered within 10 days. Of note, there has been a 25% reduction in searches in 2021/22 
(761) compared to 2020/21 (1,025). This is reflected in the £10k drop in income compared to 
that forecast at the start of the financial year, with this budget variance being reset in Q3 and a 
reserve being utilised.  
 
Conveyancing searches can be Council Local Authority Search (official searches) or and a 
Regulated Local Authority Search (personal searches), with the latter being conducted by a 

146



specialist search agent. Both provide the same information, but the cost of a personal search is 
set by the search provider as one standard price, which is cheaper than the Local Authority 
official search. Personal searches account for 75% of all searches received by the Council, a 
small increase compared to the preceding year (3%).   
 
Economy Portfolio 
 
Economy and Business £5,000 - favourable variance  
Eastleigh Business Centre £17,000 - favourable variance 

 
Cabinet approval was given in March to the Solent Freeport Full Business Case which was 
submitted to Government late March. At the same time, a proposed investment policy for the 
Navigator Quarter area of the Freeport was draft and discussed with the landowners (SIAL and 
Diageo). The carbon footprint survey for businesses generated 25 business responses which 
closed on 31.1.22, with 18 of these being given an Additional Restrictions Grant to assist with 
the purchase and installation of insulation, LED lighting and/or solar panelling. This coincided 
with a successful business breakfast at Hamble Aerostructures in February which was carefully 
curated to focus on manufacturers and energy.  There were 64 attendees and four 
presentations from local businesses outlining their energy-saving initiatives. 
 
Covid Recovery Grants closed in March and the total awarded to the Borough’s businesses 
was £33.3m distributed in over 7000 separate awards.  Approximately £5m and 2000 of these 
were discretionary grants, designed and awarded by Economic Development to over 1000 local 
businesses. The Welcome Back Fund also closed in March with visible successes including 
painted railings, flowers and hoardings around the borough’s villages as well as a popular 
outdoor market in Hedge End which is now being run by the Town Council.  Borough Gems 
highlighted 40 impressive independent businesses and received extensive engagement from 
residents. The Youth Employment Hub suffered staffing difficulties, but the team was settled by 
the end of March, with 183 young people benefiting from the advice provided at the various 
venues by the end of the quarter and around 20% of these had been helped into paid 
employment. The Sorting Office move was completed and all but one studio is now occupied.   
 
The refurbishment of Eastleigh Business Centre (Wessex House) remains on hold resulting in a 
continued decline in occupancy (now less than 60%) and a reduction in income (£90k). The 
budget was reset in Q3 to reflect this position, resulting in a modest positive variance of £17k 
on the revised forecast. With no new businesses still being permitted to take office space in the 
centre and no meeting rooms being let to external businesses, the revenue will continue to 
reduce each time a business moves out of the building.  Attempts to mitigate this loss are 
continuing (enhanced car parking space lettings; encouraging licensees to move within the 
building rather than vacating). Promotion of our Virtual offices continues to businesses.  New 
potential options for the future of the building are now being considered as the business case 
for the full refurbishment cost of £6million is a risk in the current uncertain market post-covid. 
  

 

147



Environment Executive Summary Report 
 

Environment and Transport 
 

Reporting Date: March 2022 
 

 

1. Overall Summary 
 
The Environment Executive has seen a gradual return to ‘business as usual’ following the 
lessening impacts of Covid. Work remains ongoing to consolidate the team by bringing 
Countryside Land Management and the Tree Team into the Environment Executive (currently 
overseen by the Executive Head of Neighbourhood Services). Whilst some difficult to recruit to 
posts have been filled during this period, others have become vacant, necessitating another 
round of recruitment.   
 
Progress has been made on the Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan with the 
number of projects assessed as being red reducing from 17 to 11. This has been supported by 
filling critical posts that support the programme such as the green energy manager and strategy 
development senior specialist. Other areas of progress against the Corporate Action Plan 
include the planting of 1,029 trees across the Borough, completion of the Biodiversity Strategy 
ready for public consultation, implementation of new interdepartmental fly-tipping enforcement 
procedures, development of a Walking and Cycling Strategy ready for public consultation, and 
progress on the design work for the BHH Public Art Vision & Heritage Wayfinding Trail project. 
However, there remain some areas where delivery has fallen behind schedule, and more detail 
on the reasons for these delays and the action being taken to mitigate these can be found in 
the commentary of this report.   
  

 

 

 

 

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4  

Sustainability & Climate Change R R R A 

CHP & Renewable Energy G G G G 

Ecology G G G G 

Environmental Health G G A A 

Pollution  A A A A 

Sustainable Transport R R R R 

 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

148



(Overspent)/Undersp
ent 

Q1 2,029 499 2,055 (26) 

Q2 2,015 865 2,109 (95) 

Q3 2,085 1,298 2,114 (29) 

Q4 1,248 1,057 N/A 191 

 

KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  
A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1.6 Air Quality Monitoring             

 

 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

Percentage of 
planning 
applications 
responded to 
within 14 
days by the 
Ecology 
Team        100% 

Green = ≥ 

96% 
Amber = ≤ 

95% 
Red = < 90% 

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
Transport 
 
Sustainable Transport - £74,000 
 

This team is resourced with 1 FTE delivering a wide variety of responsibilities impacting some 
of the Council’s key corporate priorities. This resilience risk is reflected in the red RAG rating. 
 
The underspend in the Public Transport budget relates to services which are no longer 
commissioned. The long-term impact of the pandemic on public transport is not yet fully 
understood, therefore the budget has not been reduced in line with this underspend pending 
the outcome of the public transport review 2022/23. The County Council (HCC) have passed on 
a rebate for community transport that will be moved into capital reserves to provide match 
funding for an Access for All bid, in partnership with HCC and South Western Rail (SWR) for 
improvements to Hedge End station.  
 
Public transport operators were invited to attend Policy, Performance and Scrutiny Committee 
in March and present information on the impact of Covid, overall performance and any future 
opportunities. The public transport review being carried out in 2022/23 will be supported by a 
cross-party working group which is currently being established. The Walking and Cycling 
Strategy has been prepared for Cabinet in May to seek agreement to go out for public 
consultation. A funding application for new cycle parking at The Hub has been successful and 
will be delivered in 2022/23. 149



 
The County Council has now adopted the Bus Service Improvement Plan and the framework 
for the new Enhanced Partnership. There is a risk that HCC will be required to make further 
public and community transport savings in 2022/23 which may impact on services in the 
Borough. 
 
The BHH Public Art Vision & Heritage Wayfinding Trail project is underway. Engagement work 
with key stakeholders such as Parish Councils and public engagement events have been held 
across the peninsular. The design work is now well progressed and will be signed off by the 
steering group before fabrication begins.  
 
 
Environment 
 
Ecology - £7,000 
 

The Biodiversity Strategy is due out for public consultation in Q1 and sets out the Council’s ten-
year approach to maintaining and increasing the diverse habitats in the borough. The strategy 
will now be accompanied by an updated Biodiversity Action Plan for simultaneous consultation. 
 
A new service level agreement has been put in place with Hampshire Biodiversity Information 
Centre (HBIC) who have been engaged to provide baseline surveys for biodiversity net gain at 
several sites the Council has strategically acquired. In addition to the opportunity to increase 
biodiversity in the borough, the land can be used to fulfil multiple strategic ambitions. 
 
The team have provided support to the Strategic Planning Team to develop the Council’s 
approach to Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANGs) to offset the impact of additional 
visitors to the New Forest National Park from development in the borough.  
 
Ecology staff continue to represent the Council on a variety of regional forums including the 
Solent Forum, Solent Natural Environment Research Group, East Hants River Catchment 
Partnership, Test and Itchen Catchment Partnership, Hamble Estuary Partnership, Test and 
Itchen Invasive Non-Native Species Project Board and the HBIC user group.  
 
The positive variance in Q4 is a result of a professional subscriptions underspend and a small 
underspend on the salaries budget. 
 
 
Combined Heat & Power / Renewable Energy – £66,000 
 

Global energy costs have risen substantially but the Council has been shielded from these by 
energy contracts in place until March 2022 (the anticipated future cost has been factored into 
next year’s budget). The volatility of the energy market has improved our financial position 
where we are on a variable tariff with the off-taker, such as at Chalcroft Solar Park. Whilst the 
wholesale electricity price is directly linked to the wholesale gas price, because a lot of 
electricity is generated from gas, the Council remains in a favourable position as a renewable 
energy producer whose costs remain fixed in buoyant energy market.  
 
Maintenance work was required on the photovoltaic panels at Places Leisure Eastleigh in early 
2021 which required the panels to be turned off. These circumstances reduced the anticipated 
income from this installation. Work has begun to replace the fence at Chalcroft Solar Park and 
to relocate 1,824 photovoltaic panels to make way for the new access road to One Horton 
Heath.  
 
A 7kW and 150kW charger have been installed at Places Leisure Eastleigh. Romsey, Channon 
and Chestnut car parks have a 7kW charger and are waiting for the 50kW charger to be 

150



installed. A further 14 locations have been proposed for feasibility testing and will be brought 
forward by the Sustainability Specialist when in post. 
 
 
Sustainability and Climate Change – £11,000 
 

The Climate and Environmental Emergency (CEE) programme has an overall RAG status of 
amber, which has changed from the previous quarter’s red. There has been improvement over 
the last two quarters in the status of projects with 21 of 32 actions showing as green or amber. 
The underspend in Q4 is due to reduced salary costs for the Sustainability Specialist post which 
is currently vacant, and a grant received for marketing the Green Homes Grant Local Authority 
Delivery Fund.  
 
The CEE action plan contains 41 actions, of which four are not being taken forward or have 
been merged with other actions, and five have been completed. Of the remaining 32 actions, 
eight are assessed as being green, 13 as amber and 11 as red.  
 
Table 1: comparative RAG status Q2/Q3/Q4 

RAG Status Q2 Q3 Q4 

Red 25 17 11 

Amber 7 12 13 

Green 9 10 8 

 
Over the last three quarters the programme has seen the number of red status actions reduce 
from 25 to 11 (54% reduction). This has moved the overall RAG status for the programme from 
red to amber. This has been supported by the lessening impacts of Covid on resources and 
filling critical posts that support the programme such as the green energy manager and strategy 
development senior specialist.  
 
Areas of progress in Q4 include approval of the tree strategy by Cabinet, 1,029 trees were 
planted across the Borough over 2021/22 and the first public planting days were held at Itchen 
Valley Country Park (IVCP) with 282 members of the public attending, three electric refuse 
collection vehicles have been ordered with a delivery date of September 2022, and work has 
commenced to review procurement procedures to develop a sustainable procurement strategy.  
 
 
Environmental Health – £40,000 
 

The team’s favourable financial position is due to a combination of a vacant post and better 
than anticipated Primary Authority (PA) income as businesses emerge from the pandemic and 
primary authority inspections were restarted. This inspection activity has increased significantly 
in Q4, and PA income has been supported by a government grant of approximately £10,000 in 
recognition of the loss of income during the pandemic. With the increasing demand for Primary 
Authority work the option of funding a part-time fixed term contract to support and develop this 
income stream is being explored.  
 
Focus has been on returning to business as usual following the Food Standards Agency’s 
(FSA) recovery plan which provides a risk-based approach to addressing the backlog in food 
hygiene inspections. However, the loss of a band six specialist has necessitated the temporary 
appointment of a contractor to assist with the delivery of the food hygiene inspection 
programme. This is further exacerbated by the Principal Environmental Health Practitioner 
covering the management of the pollution team since Feb 2021. This is recognised in the RAG 
status as amber until a permanent structure is finalised.  
 
 

151



Pollution – £28,000 
 

During Q1 the Pollution Team were heavily impacted by reduced staffing numbers. In April/May 
2021 this was down to 2.8 FTE against a budgeted 5 FTE. This was followed by a period of 
particularly high demand in Q2 which was supported by two part-time contractors. An 
appointment was subsequently made to the band five post in January and recruitment is 
underway for an air quality specialist. External support was also bought in using the salary 
savings to improve processes and systems. The Q4 favourable position is a result of salary 
savings from the vacant post and the use of the Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) 
grant which enabled backfilling of work carried out earlier in the pandemic.  
 
New procedures have been adopted for the investigation and enforcement of fly-tipping cases 
with a joined-up approach being adopted across Case Management, Local Response, Pollution 
Control and Street Scene Teams. These are still embedding however cases are starting to 
come through the initial screening process and are progressing to investigation.  
 
A historic key performance indicator for the Pollution team has been the air quality data from 
the instantaneous monitor on Southampton Road. This data is supplementary to the air quality 
monitoring that is collected as part of the team’s statutory functions. Eastleigh has four Air 
Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) and it is recognised that monitoring data from a single 
point is not representative of the air quality across the borough. A new key performance 
indicator has been proposed to the Resources Manager as part of the review of corporate 
performance monitoring indicators which provides a representative indicator of air quality 
across the four AQMAs. 
 
 
Tree Works – (£35,000) 
 
The Tree Team is overseen by the Executive Head of Neighbourhoods pending the restructure 
where they will move to the Environment executive. Due to staff vacancies the service is relying 
on external providers (HCC and Consultants) to undertake tree inspection, assessment of Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) applications, and respond to planning applications and provide 
expert advice.  
 
The use of consultants to fill vacant posts, combined with the additional work associated with 
storm Eunice has resulted in an overspend of £35,000. A variety of options are being evaluated 
to resolve this issue, including the future structure, and entering into a partnership arrangement. 
These discussions are at a preliminary stage. In addition, HCC have increased their fees from 
April 2022 by 15% and we are discussing alternative arrangements with a neighbouring 
authority. 
 
  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 1,248 530 530 530 530 

Forecast 1,057 530 530 530 530 

Resource requests (Requiring Approval) 

Include anything required to aid remedial action or new business cases 

Request One-off Ongoing Status Comments 

       

       

152



       

 

 

153



Health and Wellbeing 
Health and Wellbeing and Social Policy Portfolio’s 

Executive Summary Report Q4 
 
Reporting Date: March 2022   
 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Executive Area comprises of six key services Arts and Culture, Country Parks, Healthy 
Communities, and Leisure Services all contributing to the Health and Wellbeing Portfolio, and 
Housing and Homelessness, and Housing Standards contributing directly to the Social Policy 
Portfolio.  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Executive Area is starting to recover from the Covid-19 pandemic 
period with services continuing to modify their offer and customer confidence returning in 
Leisure, Arts and Culture and continued growth at our Country Parks.  
 
Covid-19 has exacerbated the inequalities gap, coupled with the cost-of-living crisis, having a 
detrimental effect on our most vulnerable. The pressure and responsibility on welfare services 
for the most vulnerable is greater than ever. All homelessness prevention, housing and 
community development services are seeing higher engagement and a greater complexity of 
cases. Service improvements within Case Management are helping to manage increased 
demand and the team are proactively seeking further funding to increase resource and working 
with the Finance and Housing Executive to plan strategic longer-term solutions around 
temporary accommodation. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Executive still aim to meet the majority of objectives as set out in the 
Corporate Action Plan, however, are prepared to be flexible with ever changing demands. The 
humanitarian responses to the Afghanistan Evacuation and Ukrainian crisis are adding further 
pressure on the Health and Wellbeing Executive, however Home Office funding will allow the 
team to recruit and outsource some of these duties supporting the Bridging Hotel and Ukrainian 
placements in the Borough. 
  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Arts and Culture R R A A 

Country Parks G G G G 

Healthy Communities R A A A 

Housing and Homelessness A A A A 

Housing Standards G A G G 

Leisure Services R A A A 

 
 

154



 
 
 
2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 2,577 1,546 1,857 720 

Q2 2,765 1,959 2,210 556 

Q3 2,759 2,169 2,205 554 

Q4 1,292 1,217 - 75 

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

HealthWorks session 
participation 

R R R R A R R R R R R R 

SportWorks session 
participation 

R A A G G G G G G G G G 

Visits to Places Leisure 
Eastleigh 

R R R R R R R R R R R R 

Arts and Culture Attendance R R R R R R R A A A A A 

Arts and Culture Participation  R R R R R A R R A A A R 

IVCP Visitor Footfall G G G A G G G G A G G G 

HHC average waiting times G G G G G G G G G G G G 

Total in B&B R A R R R R R R R R R R 

DFG % decided within 6 months 
from application 

G G G G R A G G G G G G 

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

  N/A         

           

  

155



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Healthy Communities budget book page zero variance 
Participation in Healthworks activities is starting to recover and there has been a month on 
month increase in attendance at sessions over the last quarter. The service is still being 
cautious in terms of class sizes given the vulnerability of customers ensuring clients feel 
comfortable returning to face-to-face sessions. Both the Activity Buddy Scheme Coordinator 
and Healthworks Officer posts have been filled this will ease some of the staffing pressures and 
increase delivery capacity. The community development team continue to provide support to 
community groups across the Borough, support the Equalities Strategy Action Plan 
implementation and, delivery of community events. A temporary Community Development 
Officer has been recruited to support Afghan Relocation Project until November 2022.   
 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Leisure Services budget book page £6K favourable variance  
Quarter 4 has seen some improvements in throughput figures at PLE as the recovery from 
Covid in the sector continues. Compared to Q3 throughput has increased by 43%. SportWorks 
programmes continue to do well, specifically the This Girl Can Eastleigh campaign, which has 
received recognition through the Local Government Association with a featured case study. 
The development of the Sport & Active Lifestyles strategy has progressed well and is due to be 
adopted in Q1 of 2022/23. The end of year Leisure Services budget is forecasting a £6K 
underspend.  
 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Country Parks budget book page £16K favourable variance 
Overall, performance for the 21/22 financial year demonstrates a 6.74% rise in visitor numbers 
to a new high of 257,105 visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park, the positive impact of this 
growth is further reflected in a continued increase in dwell time and a return to pre-covid levels 
of café customers and the café’s first ever profitable year. Strong performance across parking, 
space hire, programming and café income demonstrated a continuation of higher than planned 
engagement in Country Parks providing sufficient surplus to carry out the essential 
reinstatement of around 20% of the existing IVCP path network. 
 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Arts and Culture budget book page £55,000 favourable variance 
The Q4 position ended underspent however it is important to note this was underwritten by one-
off growth of £194,000 being added to the budget for 21-22 due to the uncertainty around 
recovery. The pandemic has impacted on both the financial position and the KPI’s during the 
year with both venues closed at certain times due to lockdown. Both venues are now open, 
customer confidence will take some time to build back up to pre-covid levels. Arts Council 
England Covid emergency grant contributed to overheads as well as underwriting the Creative 
Learning and Participation programmes and live theatre programming.  
 
 
SOCIAL POLICY PORTFOLIO 
Housing and Homelessness budget book page zero variance 
It is challenging for the sector with increasing demand and complexity of cases impacted by the 
cost-of-living crisis. We continue to see high numbers of households placed in B&B 

156



accommodation and have higher numbers of rough sleepers being reported, particularly in 
Eastleigh Town Centre. The Case Management Team continue to be under immense pressure, 
and we have invested further grant funding to support additional resource however recruitment 
is challenging due to a competitive environment. The remaining ringfenced homelessness grant 
of £191,000 will be moved into reserves for spend already planned for 22/23 to help build 
resilience. In Quarter 4 the team continue to tackle the increase in rough sleeping through a 
planned multi-agency approach. Government funding streams including Household Support 
Fund, Vulnerable Renters Fund and Protect and Vaccinate have given the team new 
opportunities to help the community, particularly those who are vulnerable and/or have a history 
of rough sleeping. 
 

 
SOCIAL POLICY PORTFOLIO 
Housing Standards budget book page £2,000 unfavourable variance 
The budget forecast for housing enforcement is £2,000 overspent due to variability of 
enforcement work & case requirements and essential equipment purchased. Housing 
Enforcement is considered to be back to almost typical levels but is variable due to the reactive 
nature of the service.  
 
Disabled Facility Grant (DFG) spend is currently managed through a Capital grant scheme 
which is currently on target as in person visits return. 
 
  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 1,292 2,393 2,393  2,393  2,393  

Forecast 1,217 2,393  2,393 2,393  2,393  
 

 

157



   
 

   
 

Neighbourhood Services 
Environment and Transport Portfolio 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

31/03/22 

 

1. Overall Summary 
All services have continued to be provided as scheduled throughout the year despite the 
challenging recruitment market, high sickness levels and covid related absences. The net 
favourable outturn for the Neighbourhoods Executive is a £249,335 primarily due to additional 
income from parking.  
 
Waste and Recycling Service 
There is an overspend of £136,000 on staffing as a result of higher levels of sickness including 
covid related absence than anticipated in Quarter 3. The numbers of missed bins and service 
complaints have reduced to acceptable levels as new rounds have settled down. The recycling 
rate is continuing to increase, and we are forecasting our highest recycling rate ever of 46%. 
The garden waste service achieved its highest number of subscribers since its launch with 
income exceeding £1million. 
 
Streetscene  
Service standards continued to be met throughout 2021/22 but replacing staff who have 
recently retired or left the service is proving to be difficult. The tree nursery is now well 
established with just under 20,000 trees growing on site, one of our existing apprentices will be 
taking up a role within the Nursery once they have completed their final exams. 
 
Fleet and Transport 
The whole fleet is now operating on HVO (Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil) fuel which is 90% 
cleaner than diesel. We are experiencing inflationary increases of up to 70% in the cost of 
spare parts, work is underway to identify alternative suppliers and procurement options. 
 
Traffic Management 
The traffic management team have progressed and implemented a number of schemes which 
had previously stalled, these schemes will have a positive impact within their local areas.  
 
Parking 
Due to increased Income levels, the overall financial outturn is better than previously forecast, 
mainly due to an increase in off street parking and driver behaviour with on-street parking, 
which resulted in a 37% increase in the number of PCN’s issued for on street parking.  

 

 

158



   
 

   
 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Waste Management Red Red Red Red  

Parking Services Red Red Red Red  

CCTV Amber Amber Amber Red  

Streetscene Amber Amber Green Amber 

Pest Control Amber Amber Amber Amber 

Open Spaces Green Green Green Green 

Allotments Green Green Green Green 

Playing Fields Green Green Green Green 

Public Toilets Green Green Green Green 

Cemeteries Green Green Green Green 

Highways Non-Agency Green Green Green Green 

HCC Agency Green Green Amber Red 

Construction Red Amber Amber Amber 

Countryside Land Management Green Green Green Green 

Transport Amber Amber Red Amber 

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Neighbourhood Services 
Summary 

Budget 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Under
spent 

Q2 4,579 5,135 (556) 

Q3 4,307 4,984 (676) 

Q4 5,465 5,187 278 

Neighbourhood Services Detailed 
Quarter 4 

Budget 
£’000 

Actuals 
£’000 

Forecast Outturn 
£’000 

(Unfavourable)/Fav
ourable 

Waste Management 3,345,860 3,419,724 (73,864)  

Parking Services (534,030) (832,235) 298,205 

CCTV 21,810 19,221 2,589 

Streetscene 1,103,950 1,112,618 (8,668) 

Pest Control 34,710 36,244 (1,534) 

Open Spaces 938,170 940,607 (2,437) 

Allotments 44,820 43,485 1,335 

Playing Fields 107,210 104,339 2,872 

Public Toilets 21,810 19,221 2,589 

Cemeteries 29,390 (4,409) 33,799 

159



   
 

   
 

  

Highways Non-Agency 122,410 117,368 5,042 

Highways Agency Services 27,250 34,502 (7,252) 

Construction 30,580 41,238 (10,658) 

Transport (Fleet and Workshop)  (19,920) (6,168) (13,752) 

TOTAL 5,465,160 5,215,286 249,335 

Countryside Land Management 245,020 240,431 4,589 

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

Reported non collected bins 769 518 813 787 575 529 509 386 431 421 326 340 

Reported non collected bins % 0.29 0.21 0.33 0.32 0.23 0.22 0.21 0.16 0.18 0.17 0.14 0.14 

Repeat non collected bins 78 58 59 47 25 40 31 14 21 41 1 15 

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 Target 

      

160



   
 

   
 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
Transport Portfolio  
Parking Services £298,205 favourable 

• Variance for off-street income has been particularly difficult to forecast during 2021/22 due to the 
unpredictable nature of users returning to car parks and the uncertainty relating to potential 
lockdowns.   

• The Q3 forecast outturn was pessimistic due to lack of users and covid rates being high at the 
time, however there was an increase in usage and therefore income was higher than originally 
projected, with the take up of day parking tariffs at Mitchell Road (MSCP) increasing over Q4 
(and into Q1 of 2022/23) 

• The income from Resident Parking was higher than anticipated £28,650 
• On street PCN’s increased from 7,579 issued in 19/20 to 10,434 issued in 21/22 of which 83% 

paid the higher rate of charge, income was also received from a backlog of cases during Q4 from 
our ‘bailiff’s’. 

 
Highways Agency (£7,252) 
 

• Overspend due to additional resource to clear backlog of TRO’s from previous years, this has 
now been resolved. 

• Notice has now been served by HCC; the agency agreement will end March 2023. Monthly 
meetings with HCC have been arranged to ensure a smooth transition of the service. We have 
anticipated increase in net spend due to the loss of income from the agency agreements from 
April 2023, however options are being explored in how we will mitigate these increases.   

 
Environment Portfolio 
Waste Management (£73,864) unfavourable 
 

• The staffing budget was overspent by £136,000 due to a higher level of sickness in the final qtr. 
of the year compared to previous years, in addition to high levels of covid absence and a 
decision to ensure that all operational staff took their annual leave allowance within the financial 
year rather than carry it forward into 22/23.  

• Overall overspend has been reduced by favourable position on trade waste disposal costs, the 
estimated balancing costs was lower than expected. 

 
Cemeteries £33,800 favourable 

• Cemeteries is a devolved service and £12,560 of the favourable variance will be transferred to 
the LAC Reserves. The remaining £21,240 is due to additional income in the last quarter as we 
saw a higher-than-average increase in internments.  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 5,465 5,323 5.323 5.323 5.323 

Forecast 5,207 5,323 5,523 5,833 5,833 

 

Resource requests (Requiring Approval) 

Include anything required to aid remedial action or new business cases 

161



   
 

   
 

 

Request One-off Ongoing Status Comments 

    
 

162



Corporate Action Plan 2021/2022 – Quarter 4 update 

 

Environment – Cllr Rupert Kyrle 

 

Action Measure Timeline Q4 update RAG 
Climate and Environmental 
Emergency programme 

Implement range of 
activities in the Action 
Plan  

End of 21/22 Of actions with 21/22 target date:  6 ‘green’, 4 ‘amber’ and 2 ‘red’. 
Q3 and Q4 has seen significant reduction in ‘red’ status actions. 

A 

Growing and Planting 3000 
trees from Eastleigh’s Tree 
nursery 

3000 saplings and trees During 21/22 19,000 trees growing at tree nursery. 805 nursery trees planted in 
Q4. 1,629 trees planted during 21/22. 
 
 

A 

Implement new waste 
collection plan 

Successful bin 
collections, recycling 
rate 

Q2 Missed bins ‘amber’, Repeat missed bins now ‘green’. Recycling 
rate is estimated at 45%.  
 

G 

Biodiversity Strategy and 
Action Plan  

Consultation on draft 
Strategy and draft Plan  

By end of 
21/22 

Strategy and revised Action Plan to be consulted on in Q2 
2022/23 
 

A 

Develop approach to 
Biodiversity Net Gain through 
development management and 
Biodiversity Strategy 

Aim for at least 10% Net 
Gain for all development  

During 21/22 Biodiversity SPD drafting will begin once secondary guidance on 
BNG is published by the Government (?end of June ‘22). 
 

A 

 Fly-Tipping  Implementation of 
investigation and 
enforcement 
procedures, and 
preventative measures 
to deter Fly-Tipping  

Q3 Implementation of new approach has now been completed.  
 

G 

 

163



Transport – Cllr David Airey 

 

Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Assess options and support delivery of 
Mobility Transport Hub in Eastleigh 
Town Centre 

Delivery of Hub (dependent on 
SCC/HCC) 

During 21/22 Awaiting further information from HCC   G 

Manage and review road closure in 
Eastleigh town centre. Develop long 
term plans 

Decision in November/Dec on 
longer term proposals 

Closure may run 
until December 
2021.  

Awaiting further information from HCC   G 

Develop a Cycling and walking strategy 
 

Adopted document Adoption of new 
strategy by Q2 

The draft strategy approved for consultation May 
2022. 

A 

Initiate development of a Public 
Transport strategy  

Strategy development 
commenced 

Start in 21/22 The work to gather a baseline has begun and the 
new strategy will be developed over 2022. 

G 

Commission study into Hedge End to 
Eastleigh cycle link 

Study commissioned By end of 21/22 Initial route scoping study complete. G 

Design and consult on BHH wayfinding 
project. Identify routes.  

Consultation, Designs and route 
identification completed 

During 21/22 The routes are identified, consultation completed. 
Design work is progressing. 

G 

Support and promote public transport 
and community transport 

Increased bus and community 
transport patronage 

Throughout 21/22 Patronage levels currently recovering well post 
Covid-19. 

G 

Update and install new air monitoring 
equipment  

Updates/Installations completed 21/22 Upgrade complete at the Point, almost complete at 
Southampton Road. Delays due to difficulty in 
recruitment. 

A 

Roll out of rapid charge (30mins) Electric 
Vehicle charging points in public car 
parks 

Romsey Rd, Channon and 
Chestnut retail parks, PLE   

By Q3 PLE ultra rapid charger (150kW) and 7kW charger 
complete and live. Other sites ready to accept 
equipment delayed due to disrupted supply chain. 

A 

Migrate EBC fleet to more sustainable 
power source 

Trial of Hydrotreated Vegetable 
Oil. Procurement of three new 
electric waste-collection 
vehicles. 
 

June 2021 
21/22 

Trial completed Q2. Electric vehicles procured and 
delivery expected Sept 2022.    
 
 

G 

 

164



 

Health and Social Policy - Cllr Tonia Craig & Cllr Paul Bicknell 

 

Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Implement priority actions of the 
three Eastleigh Health & Wellbeing 
Board subgroups. 

KPIs from subgroup action 
plans and group output. 

- Starting well 
- Living well 
- Aging well 

 

Throughout 21/22 Outputs from groups include audit and mapping of 
existing services, information exchange and actions on 
mental health, physical activity and health inequalities. 

G 

Implement a new Arts and Culture 
Strategy. 

Strategy implemented. By March 2023 (review 
in 6 months) 

Strategic assessment and consultation completed in Q4. 
Strategy planned for Cabinet in July 2022. 
  

G 

Deliver SportWorks & HealthWorks 
programmes of physical activity 
and wellbeing projects with a 
particular focus on addressing 
inactivity, health inequality and 
mental health. 

Number of attendances / 
visits. Number of sessions 
delivered. Long-term impacts 
of Healthworks programmes. 

Throughout 21/22 2328 attendances at 252 sessions delivered by the Team.  
 

G 

Deliver the We Are Undefeatable 
Eastleigh: Clinically Extremely 
Vulnerable (CEV) campaign  

Number of CEV participating 
in the campaign. 

Throughout 21/22  Number of CEV participating in the campaign in Q4 - 425 G 

Implement a range of campaigns to 
tackle unhealthy weights and 
physical inactivity promote social 
inclusion and mental wellness. 

Engagement in the 
campaigns. 
 

Throughout 21/22 Parent and baby programme at PLE throughput of 1,048 
over Q4. Passport to Leisure programme throughput of 
6,388 for Q4.  Forever Active programme, throughput of 
596 over the Q4 period.   
 

A 

Review Sports and Active Lifestyles 
Strategy. 

Strategy Implemented. By March 2022 Strategy adopted in Q1 22/23 A 

165



Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Manage and support key leisure 
facilities to improve mental and 
physical wellbeing. 

Attendances at leisure 
centres, parks and theatres. 

Throughout 21/22 Attendance at leisure centres for Q4 – 166,000 (Red) 
Attendance at parks for Q4 - 53,281 (Green) 
Attendance at theatres for Q4 – 11,696 (Green) 

A 

Work with partners to raise 
awareness of vulnerable groups 
including hate crime and domestic 
abuse. 

Number of comms Throughout 21/22 This action was replaced at Q2 with agreed Community 
Safety Priorities:  Reducing Drug related harm, working 
with Young People at risk, Reducing Anti-social behaviour. 

A 

Bring organisations together in the 
Eastleigh Welfare Agencies 
Partnership (EWAP) to tackle 
health inequality and to support 
vulnerable residents across the 
Borough. 

Breadth and quality of 
partnership. 

Throughout 21/22 Broad partnership with good information exchange on 
funding risks and opportunities. Action plan agreed and 
being implemented. 

G 

Deliver Arts and Culture Health and 
Wellbeing programmes using new 
Studio space. 

Number of participants, 
especially women, people 
with long term health 
conditions, disadvantaged 
families, children and young 
people. 

Throughout 21/22 2129 attendances during 21/22, reflecting good recovery 
from Covid.  

G 

Implement a Making Every Contact 
Count (MECC) Pilot Project across 
key frontline services – taking 
opportunities to give people more 
control of their lives. 

Project delivered and 
evaluated. 

Throughout 21/22 Awaiting HCC input for pilot scheme. 45 staff trained in 
MECC principles. 

A 

Implement the Armed Forces 
Action Plan. 

Action plan delivered. Throughout 21/22 Some actions completed. Armed Forces Working Group 
established. 

A 

Implement Equalities Strategy and 
Action Plan. 

Strategy and action 
implemented. 

By March 2022 Strategy adopted Q4, with actions from previous action 
plan implemented. 

G 

Implement the Employee 
Volunteering Scheme. (EVS) 

Successful delivery of the 
pilot scheme 

By March 2022 Pilot scheme to be delivered Q2 22/23.  A 

166



Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Continue to operate Local 
Response Centre. 

Help provided to enable all 
those who need to ‘shield’ or 
self-isolate. 

By September 2021 
 

As from 4 April 2022 all the LRCs across the County will be 
closing. However, the Hampshire County support line will 
continue to operate. 
 

G 

 

 

Planning & Property Portfolio – Cllr Keith House  

 

Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Adopt the Local Plan 2016-2036  Adoption Q3 

 
Local Plan adopted April ’22 following Planning 
Inspectorate delays 

G 

Work with partners and landowners to 
promote Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy  

Strategic housing objectives 
and targets.  Aim for the 
Housing Programme to be 
managing 5-10 projects at 
any time. 

Monitored 
monthly  

Qualified as Homes England investment partner via 
Wayfarer consortium (Feb 2022) and can access grant 
funding. 
4 sites now built out. 4 sites under construction. 
Pipeline of 7 projects at planning/design stage (inc 
OHH). 

G 

Implementation work for delivery of One 
Horton Heath project 

Upfront infrastructure 
delivery and 
comprehensively planned 
new sustainable community 

Road segment 1 
(Bubb Lane / 
Burnetts Lane) 
completion 
Summer 2021  
 
Road segment 2 
(Allington Rd 
roundabout) 
completion 
Spring 2021  

Road segment 2 completed March ‘21 
Road segment 1 completed Sept ’21 (Chalcroft Way) 
Permission in principle granted for 381 homes – Nov ‘21 
Proposal for low carbon energy infrastructure and 
heating strategy developed.  

G 

167



Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
 
Outline 
planning 
application and 
first detailed 
residential 
application 
October 2021 

Seek Council approval for Housing Revenue 
Account Business Plan and compulsory 
registration of Eastleigh Borough Council 
with the Regulator of Social Housing 

To enable the Council to hold 
affordable housing stock in 
preparation for retaining 
affordable homes at One 
Horton Heath from 2023/24 

Target business 
plan approval 
March 2022 

HRA business plan under development.  Requirements 
under the Regulator of Social Housing identified 
(policies to be adopted being drafted). 

A 

Work with EBC assets team to acquire 
properties for refurbishment for self-
contained temporary/ ‘move-on’ 
accommodation to support the Council’s 
Homelessness Strategy  

Increased supply of self-
contained temporary 
accommodation and access 
Government funding where 
possible 

Development 
scheme for self-
contained 
accommodation 
secured by end 
of 2021/22 

Housing Board approval to acquire scheme with prior 
approval for conversion to 15 flats (subject to legal due 
diligence) 

A 

Establish Lettings & Management 
capabilities (residential) 

Number of homes held and 
managed on behalf of the 
Council and response to the 
services offered. 

Established in-
house service 
by end of 21/22 

Leaf Homes service in place Q4.  G 

Ongoing review of brownfield land assets 
and seeking capital funding (e.g One Public 
Estate land release fund) to unlock projects 
in support of the Asset Management 
Strategy 2020-2025 

External funding sought and 
awarded.  Number of 
feasibility studies and RIBA 
stage 0 and 1 undertaken for 
prospective housing sites. 
 
Expenditure of New Homes 
Bonus to subsidise unviable 

(Ongoing)- 
monitored 
monthly 

 £460,000 awarded (by Sept) to EBC to develop 
brownfield sites.  
 
 

G 

168



Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
schemes for affordable 
housing. 

Delivery of new homes at Stoneham Park, 
Eastleigh (42 homes for private rent 
provided via Aspect Eastleigh Ltd). 

Widening the housing choice 
and landlord services in 
Eastleigh town. 

Completion of 
first new homes 
for rent from 
August 2021.   

Continuing on track, estimated housing completion Apr 
22. 

A 

Delivery of Fanfare Place, Eastleigh (49 new 
homes for private rent provided via Aspect 
Eastleigh Ltd).  . 

High quality lettings and 
management (EBC as 
responsible landlord). New 
homes in accessible town 
centre location and return of 
One Community and Age 
Concern to new premises.  

Completion of 
new homes for 
rent February 
2022.   

Site completion June 22 delayed by water damage on 
site. Occupation deferred to later in 2022. 

A 

Oversee delivery of Pembers Hill Park, Fair 
Oak (242 dwellings) 

Pembers Hill LLP (joint 
venture company)- surplus 
income to be recycled in 
housing programme (on sale 
of properties).  
 
Options for first time buyers 
(i.e. Help to Buy); 42 shared 
ownership; and 43 affordable 
rent dwellings. 

Phase 1 
completion (53 
homes) Q1 
2021 
 
Phase 2 
completion (73 
homes) April 
2022 

60 Completions at Q2. Continuing on track, phase 2,3,4 
currently in build. 

A 

Community engagement work to help shape 
new homes in central Eastleigh on 
previously-developed land (scheme known 
as the Parlour) 

Level of community interest 
and participation at events 
and feedback received. 
 
Redevelopment of former 
Samsons Gym and the 
Crockery, Eastleigh (near 
Grantham Green) (approx. 19 
dwellings), meeting housing 

Engagement 
throughout 
May-Aug 2021 
 
Target planning 
decision early 
2022. 

Demolition complete, resident engagement ongoing. A 

169



Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
needs, energy efficiency and 
other strategic objectives 
where possible. 

 

Economy – Cllr Derek Pretty 

 

Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Work alongside stakeholders and attend LEP led 
meetings to develop plans for a tax site on the 
Freeport. Work with landowners to unlock 
employment land stated in the Local Plan to enable 
inward investment and job creation at Riverside. 
Work with partners to unlock the southern section 
of Chickenhall Lane Link Road. 

Progress and maintaining the strong 
partnerships with landowners on the 
Riverside/Railway works Tax site established 
Increase in external business enquiries and 
interest for employment space on released land 
Planning applications from landowners relating 
to the future development of the link road 

During 
21/22 

Full business case submitted to 
Govt – all three tax sites approved 
by Government. Navigator Quarter 
is the separate tax site within the 
Freeport, located in the borough. 
Inward Investment Planning 
process commenced with partners 
 

G 

Work with partners inc HCC to identify future 
needs for serviced office accommodation in the 
Borough, post Covid. 

Sites identified in each area of the borough and 
planned in as suitable for providing flexible 
office space Develop an opportunity for EBC to 
purchase a footprint parcel of land for 
enterprise use on the Riverside/railway works 

21/22 Demand for serviced office 
accommodation continues to rise 
with Wessex House redirecting 
interest to the Point and other EBC 
premises. 

A 

Create business opportunities that contribute to 
EBC climate change targets 2025. Hold climate 
change business conference 

Conference held and number of attendees – 
minimum of 100 participants. 

21/22 Conference held at Hamble 
Aerostructures – well received by a 
full business audience of 55 
manufacturers and Green Tech 
companies. 

A 

Develop and deliver a business support 
programme targeted to businesses particularly 
affected by the pandemic, including a business 
healthcheck, 121 mentoring and business planning.  

Healthchecks for 90 businesses, intensive 
business support for ten businesses that seek 
further support 

21/22 Healthcheck programme replaced 
with Grant programme: 2,283 
payments totalling £5,021,518. 
 

G 

170



Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Increase the employment and skills opportunities 
of young residents through development of Youth 
hub 

Number of beneficiaries accessing the service 
and number of borough businesses recruited as 
placements 

21/22 EBC led a cross authority 
programme to deliver the Youth 
Hub service, now in its 6th month of 
operating and meeting client 
targets 238 beneficiaries with a 
positive outcome from a standing 
start against a DWP target of 450 
for the year ending Nov 2022 

G 

Promote Eastleigh borough gift card to encourage 
local spend and footfall  

50 businesses registered 21/22 73 businesses have signed up to 
date 

G 

Support the recovery of town and local centres 
post Covid via package of measures for towns and 
local centres across the Borough 

Increase Footfall, and dwell time to pre-covid 
levels. Reduce void levels 

During 
21/22 

Welcome Back Fund activities 
contributed to a 2.3% increase in 
Swan Centre footfall.  

A 

  

Regeneration – Cllr Paul Bicknell (North) and Cllr Ian Corben (South) 

 

Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Regenerate Hedge End Town Centre Rationalise the strategic Hedge End 

town centre site around the former 
Budgens site.  

By end of 21/22  EBC continues to work to secure the long term 
future development of the former Budgens site. 

G 

Improve Hiltingbury Lakes Watercourse repairs, re-surfacing of 
footpaths and new bridges, costed 
Maintenance Plan including setting 
up a Volunteer Group 
  

By end of Q3 (End 
of 2021). 
  
  

End date now Jun 22 – adapted due to nesting 
season. 

G 

Complete Lawn Road Open Space 
Improvements 

Landscaping and new equipment 
completed  

End of 2021 Open Q4, minor snagging outstanding A 

Instal West End heritage markers Three Heritage Markers October 2021 Likely install date Apr 22 A 

171



Action Measure Timeline Q4 update  
Hedge End green routes wayfinding Install three wayfinding markers July 2021  Delays due to land ownership issue on marker 

2.  Alternative siting being found. 
G 

Complete Pirelli Open Space 
improvements 

Install benches May 2021 Completed Q2 G 

Improve Eastleigh Town Centre Toilets Completion of works (subject to legal 
agreements) 

By end of 21/22 Work has now commenced 21 Mar – c. 10 
week programme. 

A 

Bursledon Country Park Ground works, landscaping, play 
area 
Remaining works  
Open to public  
 

Q2 
Q3 
2023 

Play area started Q4 - likely completion Apr 
22 

A 

Woodhouse Lane sports facilities Commencement of Construction on 
site.  
Completion of works 
 (12 month maintenance period 
before open to public 2023) 
 

Q2  
Q4 

Woodhouse Lane sports facilities – on track 
 

G 

Agree Regeneration Principles for 
Eastleigh Town Centre and develop action 
plan 

Action Plan for Eastleigh Town 
Centre 

Q3 Action Plan for 22/23, agreed with ELAC in 
October ’21  

G 

North Stoneham Community Building and 
Day Nursery 

Completion of facility and open to 
public for use.   

May 2021  Completed May 21 G 

Former Post Office, Eastleigh town centre Construction works August 2021 – 
November 2022 

High tender returns caused delay. Moving 
forward with design – final projected costs 
will be known c. Apr 22 

A 

The Arch Chandlers Ford  Construction works February 2022 – 
April 2023 

Design consultants engaged to focus on 
energy performance of the future building. 

A 

St Johns Phase 2 and Road Construction works Q1 2022 – Q1 2025 
(subject to 
resolution of 
restrictive 
covenants) 

St Johns – Land ownership negotiations 
continue. 
 

A 

172



 

173



 

 

Appendix O 

 

Treasury Management Outturn Report 2021/22 

 
Introduction   

 
In February 2019 the Authority adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 

Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the CIPFA Code) which requires the 

Authority to approve treasury management semi-annual and annual reports.  

The Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2021/22 was approved by Full Council in February 

2021. The Authority has borrowed substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial 

risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The 

successful identification, monitoring and control of risk remains central to the Authority’s treasury 

management strategy. 

Treasury risk management at the Authority is conducted within the framework of the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 

Practice (the CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve a treasury management strategy 

before the start of each financial year and, as a minimum, a semi-annual and annual treasury outturn 

report. 

The 2017 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to provide a Capital Strategy, 

a summary document approved by full Council covering capital expenditure and financing, treasury 

management and non-treasury investments.  The Authority’s Capital Strategy, complying with 

CIPFA’s requirement, was approved by full Council in February 2022. 

External Context 

 

Economic commentary  

 
The continuing economic recovery from coronavirus pandemic, together with the war in Ukraine, 

higher inflation, and higher interest rates were major issues over the period.   

Bank Rate was 0.1% at the beginning of the reporting period.  April and May saw the economy 

gathering momentum as pandemic restrictions were eased.  Despite the improving outlook, market 

expectations were that the Bank of England would delay rate rises until 2022.  Rising, persistent 

inflation changed that. 

 

UK CPI was 0.7% in March 2021 but thereafter began to steadily increase.  Initially driven by energy 

price effects and by inflation in sectors such as retail and hospitality which were re-opening after 

the pandemic lockdowns, inflation then was believed to be temporary.  Thereafter price rises slowly 

became more widespread, as a combination of rising global costs and strong demand was 

exacerbated by supply shortages and transport dislocations. The surge in wholesale gas and 

electricity prices led to elevated inflation expectations. CPI for February 2022 registered 6.2% year 

on year, up from 5.5% in the previous month and the highest reading in the National Statistic series. 

Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, rose to 5.2% y/y from 4.4%. 

 

The government’s jobs furlough scheme insulated the labour market from the worst effects of the 

pandemic. The labour market began to tighten and demand for workers grew strongly as employers 

found it increasingly difficult to find workers to fill vacant jobs.  Having peaked at 5.2% in December 

174



 

  2 

2020, unemployment continued to fall and the most recent labour market data for the three months 

to January 2022 showed the unemployment rate at 3.9% while the employment rate rose to 75.6%. 

Headline 3-month average annual growth rate for wages were 4.8% for total pay and 3.8% for regular 

pay. In real terms, after adjusting for inflation, total pay growth was up 0.1% while regular pay fell 

by 1.0%. 

 

With the easing of lockdown restrictions, activity in consumer-facing sectors improved substantially 

as did sectors such as oil and mining with the reopening of oil rigs but materials shortages and the 

reduction in the real spending power of households and businesses dampened some of the growth 

momentum.  Gross domestic product (GDP) grew by an upwardly revised 1.3% in the fourth calendar 

quarter of 2021 according to the final estimate (initial estimate 1.0%) and took UK GDP to just 0.1% 

below where it was before the pandemic.  

 

Having increased Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in December, the Bank of England raised it further 

to 0.50% in February and 0.75% in March. At the meeting in February, the Monetary Policy 

Committee (MPC) voted unanimously to start reducing the stock of its asset purchase scheme by 

ceasing to reinvest the proceeds from maturing bonds as well as starting a programme of selling its 

corporate bonds. 

 

In its March interest rate announcement, the MPC noted that the invasion of Ukraine had caused 

further large increases in energy and other commodity prices, with the expectation that the conflict 

will worsen supply chain disruptions around the world and push CPI inflation to around 8% later in 

2022, even higher than forecast only a month before in the February Monetary Policy Report. The 

Committee also noted that although GDP in January was stronger than expected with business 

confidence holding up and the labour market remaining robust, consumer confidence had fallen 

due to the squeeze in real household incomes. 

 

 

Financial markets 

The conflict in Ukraine added further volatility to the already uncertain inflation and interest rate 

outlook over the period. The Dow Jones started to decline in January but remained above its pre-

pandemic level by the end of the period while the FTSE 250 and FTSE 100 also fell and ended the 

quarter below their pre-March 2020 levels. 

Bond yields were similarly volatile as the tension between higher inflation and flight to quality from 

the war pushed and pulled yields, but with a general upward trend from higher interest rates 

dominating as yields generally climbed. 

The 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield began the quarter at 0.82% before rising to 1.41%. Over the 

same period the 10-year gilt yield rose from 0.97% to 1.61% and the 20-year yield from 1.20% to 

1.82%. 

Credit background 

 

The successful vaccine rollout programme was credit positive for the financial services sector in 

general and the improved economic outlook meant some institutions were able to reduce provisions 

for bad loans. However, in 2022, the uncertainty engendered by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine pushed 

CDS prices modestly higher over the first calendar quarter, but only to levels slightly above their 

2021 averages, illustrating the general resilience of the banking sector. 

175



 

  3 

Having completed its full review of its credit advice on unsecured deposits, in September 

Arlingclose extended the maximum duration limit for UK bank entities on its recommended lending 

list from 35 days to 100 days; a similar extension was advised in December for the non-UK banks on 

this list.  As ever, the institutions and durations on the Authority’s counterparty list recommended 

by Arlingclose remains under constant review. 

Revised CIPFA Codes, Updated PWLB Lending Facility Guidance 

In August 2021 HM Treasury revised guidance for the PWLB lending facility with more detail and 12 

examples of permitted and prohibited use of PWLB loans. Authorities that are purchasing or 

intending to purchase investment assets primarily for yield will not be able to access the PWLB 

except to refinance existing loans or externalise internal borrowing. Acceptable use of PWLB 

borrowing includes service delivery, housing, regeneration, preventative action, refinancing and 

treasury management. 

 

CIPFA published its revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance and Treasury Management Code on 

20th December 2021. The key changes in the two codes are around permitted reasons to borrow, 

knowledge and skills, and the management of non-treasury investments.  

 

The principles of the Prudential Code took immediate effect although local authorities could defer 

introducing the revised reporting requirements until the 2023/24 financial year if they wish. Due 

to the late introduction of these changes, the Council will begin formally reporting on these from 

February 2023, when the 2023/24 Capital, Treasury and Investment Strategies will be brought to 

Council for approval. 

To comply with the Prudential Code, authorities must not borrow to invest primarily for financial 

return. The Code also states that it is not prudent for local authorities to make investment or 

spending decisions that will increase the CFR unless directly and primarily related to the functions 

of the authority. Existing commercial investments are not required to be sold; however, authorities 

with existing commercial investments who expect to need to borrow should review the options for 

exiting these investments.  

 

Borrowing is permitted for cashflow management, interest rate risk management, to refinance 

current borrowing and to adjust levels of internal borrowing. Borrowing to refinance capital 

expenditure primarily related to the delivery of a local authority’s function but where a financial 

return is also expected is allowed, provided that financial return is not the primary reason for the 

expenditure.  The changes align the CIPFA Prudential Code with the PWLB lending rules. 

 

Unlike the Prudential Code, there is no mention of the date of initial application in the Treasury 

Management Code. The TM Code now includes additional requirements for service and commercial 

investments, far beyond those in the 2017 version.  The Council will follow the same process as the 

Prudential Code in reporting changes taking effect from February 2023.    

Local Context 

 
On 31st March 2022, the Authority had total borrowing of £503.2m arising from its revenue and capital 

income and expenditure. The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). These factors are summarised in Table 1 below. 

176



 

  4 

 

 

 

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary 

 

 
31.3.21 
Actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
Movement 

£’000 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£’000 

General Fund CFR 523,343 45,330 568,673 

Total Borrowing 503,233 21,740 524,973 

Internal Borrowing 20,110 23,590 43,700 

 
Total borrowing has increased due to a rise in the CFR as new capital expenditure was higher than 

the financing applied including minimum revenue provision. 

 

Lower official interest rates have lowered the cost of short-term, temporary loans and investment 

returns from cash assets that can be used in lieu of borrowing. The Authority pursued its strategy of 

keeping borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal 

borrowing, to reduce risk and keep interest costs low. 

 

The treasury management position as at 31st March 2022 and the year-on-year change is shown in 
table 2 below. 
 

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary 

 
31.3.21 
Balance 

£’000 

2021/22 
Movement 

£’000 

31.3.22 
Balance 

£’000 

31.3.22 
Rate 

% 

Long-term borrowing 

Short-term borrowing  

350,000 

153,233 

0 

21,740 

350,000 

174,973 

1.83% 

0.34% 

Total borrowing 503,233 21,740 524,973 1.34% 

Long-term investments 

Short-term investments 

Cash and cash equivalents 

(9,153) 

(24,000) 

(5,847) 

(1,607) 

(13,500) 

627 

(10,760) 

(37,500) 

(5,220) 

3.60% 

0.53% 

0.01% 

Total investments (39,000) (14,480) (53,480) 1.10% 

Net borrowing 464,233 7,260 471,493 1.11% 

 
 
Borrowing Update 
 
The Authority is not planning to borrow to invest primarily for commercial return and so is 

unaffected by the changes to the Prudential Code.  

 

 
Borrowing Strategy during the year 
 
 
At 31st March 2022 the Authority held £524.9m of loans, an increase of £21.7m on the previous year, 

as part of its strategy for funding previous and current years’ capital programmes.  Outstanding loans 

on 31st March are summarised in Table 3 below. 

 

177



 

  5 

 

Table 3: Borrowing Position 

 
31.3.21 
Balance 
£’000 

Net 
Movement 

£’000 

31.3.22 
Balance 
£’000 

31.3.22 
Weighted 
Average 

Rate 
% 

Public Works Loan Board 

 

Local authorities (short term) 

350,000 

 

153,233 

0 

 

21,740 

350,000 

 

174,973 

1.83% 

 

0.34% 

Total borrowing 503,233 21,740 524,973 1.34% 

 

The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately low risk balance 

between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are 

required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term plans change being a 

secondary objective.  

 

 

 

Treasury Investment Activity  
 
The Authority generally holds minimal invested funds, representing income received in advance of 

expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During the year, the Authority’s investment balances 

ranged between £12.6 and £73.4 million due to timing differences between income and expenditure. 

The investment position is shown in table 4 below. 

 

Table 4: Treasury Investment Position 

 

31.3.22 

Balance 

£’000 

2021/22 

Movement 

£’000 

31.3.22 

Balance 

£’000 

31.3.22 

Rate 

% 

Banks & building societies (unsecured) 

Money Market Funds 

Pooled Funds 

7,630 

24,000 

9,153 

2,000 

13,500 

1,607 

5,630 

37,500 

10,760 

0.01% 

0.53% 

3.6% 

Total investments 40,783 13,107 53,890 1.10% 

 

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its funds prudently, 

and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury investments before seeking the optimum 

rate of return, or yield.  The Authority’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate 

balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of 

receiving unsuitably low investment income. 

 

£10.7m of the Authority’s investments is invested in externally managed strategic pooled property 

funds where short-term security and liquidity are lesser considerations, and the objectives instead 

are regular revenue income and long-term price stability. These funds generated an average return 

of 3.6%, alongside capital growth of £1.6m in 2021/22. 

 

In light of Russia’s invasion, Arlingclose contacted the fund managers of the authorities MMF 

strategic funds and confirmed no direct exposure to Russian or Belarusian assets had been 

identified. Indirect exposures were immaterial. It should be noted that that any assets held by 

banks and financial institutions (e.g. from loans to companies with links to those countries) within 

178



 

  6 

MMFs and other pooled funds cannot be identified easily or with any certainty as that level of 

granular detail is unlikely to be available to the fund managers or Arlingclose in the short-term, if 

at all. 

 

Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice 

period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Authority’s medium- to long-term 

investment objectives are regularly reviewed. Strategic fund investments are made in the knowledge 

that capital values will move both up and down on months, quarters and even years; but with the 

confidence that over a three- to five-year period total returns will exceed cash interest rates. 

 

Compliance  

 

The Chief Financial Officer must report that treasury management activities undertaken during 

2021/22 did not fully comply with the Authority’s approved Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

The limit on investments being a maximum of £10m with any single organisation was breached four 

times during the year.  One of these instances was due to the delay in a purchase leading to a higher 

than anticipated cash balance being kept in the Council’s bank account for two days, the other three 

instances were due to unexpected cash inflows meaning the Council’s bank balance temporarily 

exceeded £10m overnight. 

 

Please see table 5 below for more information. 

 
Table 5: Investment Limits 

 

 
2021/22  

Maximum 

31.3.22 

Actual 

2021/22 

Limit 
Complied 

Any single organisation, except UK Government £18m £10m £10m x 

Money Market Funds £10m £10m £10m ✓ 

Non Specified Investments (CCLA) £10.7m £10.7m £10.7m ✓ 

 
 
 
Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is demonstrated in 

table 6 below.   Neither the Operational Boundary, nor Authorised limit were breached during 2021/22. 

 
Table 6: Debt Limits 
 

 
2021/22  

Maximum 

31.3.22 

Actual 

2021/22 
Operational 
Boundary 

2021/22 
Authorised 

Limit 
Complied 

Borrowing £524.9m £524.9m £558.2m £569.2m ✓ 

 
Treasury Management Indicators 

 

The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using the following 

indicators. 

 

Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by monitoring 

the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.   

 

179



 

  7 

 
31.3.22 
Actual 

2021/22 
Target 

Complied 

Portfolio average credit score A A ✓ 

 

Liquidity: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by 

monitoring the amount it can borrow each quarter without giving prior notice. 

 

 
31.3.22 
Actual 

2021/22 
Target 

Complied 

Total sum borrowed in past 3 months without prior notice £0m £0m ✓ 

 
 
Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk.  

The upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the proportion of net 

principal borrowed was: 

 

 
31.3.22 
Actual 

2021/22 
Limit 

Complied 

Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure 67% 100% ✓ 

Upper limit on variable interest rate exposure 33% 100% ✓ 

 
Fixed rate investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is fixed for at least 12 

months, measured from the start of the financial year or the transaction date if later.  All other 

instruments are classed as variable rate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to 

refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of all borrowing were: 

 

 
31.3.22 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

Complied 

Under 12 months 33% 100% 0% ✓ 

12 months and within 24 months 0% 100% 0% ✓ 

24 months and within 5 years 12% 100% 0% ✓ 

5 years and within 10 years 29% 100% 0% ✓ 

10 years and above 27% 100% 0% ✓ 

 

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 365 days: The purpose of this indicator is to 

control the Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its 

investments.  The limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period 

end were: 

 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Actual principal invested beyond year end 0 0 0 

180



 

  8 

Limit on principal invested beyond year end £14.5m £14.5m £14.5m 

Complied ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

181



Appendix P

Capital Financing (156,809) 141,186 (169,635) (185,258)

Commuted Sums (4,092,065) 0 (1,707,268) (5,799,333)

Covid NNDR Section 31 Balance (10,263,142) 10,263,142 (886,095) (886,095)

Interest equalisation reserve (9,271,185) 0 (2,798,725) (12,069,910)

Local Area Committee Reserve (699,310) 108,218 (224,299) (815,391)

New Homes Bonus Reserve (6,646,020) 142,126 (2,636,750) (9,140,644)

Revenue Grants and Contributions (1,746,070) 342,430 (808,900) (2,212,540)

Self Insurance Reserve (36,270) 0 0 (36,270)

Service Related Reserve (7,112,188) 944,590 (4,953,220) (11,120,818)

Uninsured losses Reserve (74,946) 0 0 (74,946)

Grand Total (40,098,005) 11,941,692 (14,184,892) (42,341,205)

Balance as at  

31 March 2021
Transfer out Transfer in

Balance as at 

31 March 2022

TRANSFERS TO/FROM EARMARKED RESERVES

182



Document is Restricted

183

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

191

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

193

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

197

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	7 DEFRA 21-22 Air Quality Grant Scheme Award
	Appendix 1 - DEFRA Report
	Appendix 2 - EIA DEFRA Report

	8 Phosphate Mitigation Strategy
	Appendix 1 for Phosphate Mitigation Strategy

	9 Response to Hampshire County Council consultation on Passenger Transport and Concessionary Travel
	Appendix 1 - EBC Consultation Response PT and CT
	Appendix 2 - Supported Services List
	Appendix 3 - Eastleigh Bus Map 2021

	10 Response to Hampshire County Council's Local Transport Plan 4 Consultation
	Response to HCC LTP4 - Appendix 1

	11 Corporate Complaints Policy
	Appendix 1 - CorporateComplaintsPolicy
	Appendix 2 - UnreasonablyPersistentComplainantsPolicy

	12 Councillors Allowances 2021/22 - Actual Amounts Paid
	Appendix. 1 for COUNCILLORS ALLOWANCES - ACTUAL AMOUNTS PAID FOR THE YEAR 202122 FINAL

	13 Corporate Performance and Financial Monitoring
	CorporatePerformanceAppendicesAPCabinet
	Appendix A - Corporate KPI Listing Cabinet
	Appendix B - Portfolio Variances
	Appendix C - CIP Outturn 2122
	Appendix D - Risk Assesement
	Appendix E - Finance and Housing ESR Q4
	Appendix F - Assets and Project Delivery ESR Q4
	Appendix G - Governance ESR Q4
	Appendix H - Customer Care ESR Q4
	Appendix I - Organisational Development ESR Q4
	Appendix J - Planning & Economy ESR Q4
	Appendix K - Environment ESR Q4
	Appendix L - Health & Wellbeing ESR Q4
	Appendix M - Neighbourhood Services ESR Q4
	Appendix N - CAP 21-22 Q4
	Appendix O - TM Outturn 202122
	Appendix P - Reserves Balances


	15 Post Office Redevelopment
	Post Office Redevelopment - Appendix 1

	16 Property Transactions
	Property Transaction - Appendix 1




